 TORTS I CASES

George Brown vs. George K. Kendall

Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts, 1850

60 Mass (6 Cush) 292

“The Dog Fight Case”

The Facts

Defendant was beating dogs belonging to both the plaintiff and the defendant in order to break up a dog fight (to separate the dogs).  The defendant retreated backwards  from before the dogs, striking the dogs as he retreated; and as approached the plaintiff with his back towards him, in raising his stick over his shoulder, in order to strike the dogs, he accidentally hit the plaintiff in the eye, inflicting upon him a severe injury.

The Procedural Context

The trial court under instructions that the defendant took exception to, returned a verdict for the plaintiff, whereupon the defendant alleged exceptions.  Instructions were that if the defendant was doing a “necessary act” he had to act with “ordinary care.”  If not a necessary act, then the defendant had to exercise “extraordinary care.”  Also, charged the jury that the defendant bore the burden of proof that he exercised extraordinary care, or lack of ordinary care on the part of the plaintiff as a way to exculpate himself.  Case is now before the Supreme Court.

The Issue

Do actions derived from trespass and case require proof of fault?

The Holding

The rule is that the plaintiff must come prepared with evidence to show either that the intention was unlawful or that the defendant was in fault; for if the injury was unavoidable and the conduct of the defendant was free from blame, he will not be liable. 

Reasoning for the Decision

In applying these rules to the present case, we can perceive no reason why the instructions asked for by the defendant ought not to have been given; to this effect, that if both the plaintiff and the defendant at the time of the blow were using ordinary care, or if at the time the defendant was using ordinary care and the plaintiff was not, or if at the time, both the plaintiff and the defendant were not using ordinary care, then the plaintiff could not recover.

If the act of hitting the plaintiff was unintentional on the part of the defendant and done in the course of doing a lawful act, then the defendant was not liable, unless it was done in the want of exercise of due care (unless defendant did not exercise due care) adapted to the immediate action required in the case.  Therefore, such want of due care became part of the plaintiff’s case and the burden of proof was on the plaintiff to establish it.

The case required the plaintiff to prove fault in order to maintain an action.

The Procedural Result

A new trail was ordered.

Garratt vs. Dailey

Supreme Court of Washington, 1955

46 Wash 2d 197,279, P.2d

“The Lawn Chair Case with the Five Year Old Boy”

The Facts

Dailey (age 5 years, 9 months) moved a lawn chair sideways a few feet and when Ruth Garratt came to the yard, he realized she was going to sit down where the chair had been located.  Dailey hurriedly got up from the chair and attempted to move it toward Ruth Garratt to aid her in sitting down in the chair.  Due to defendant’s small size and lack of dexterity, he was unable to get the lawn chair under the plaintiff in time to prevent her from falling to the ground (the harmful/offensive act) and sustaining a fracture of her hip, and other injuries and damages hereinafter set forth ($11,000.00)

The Procedural Context

Trail court dismissed the action (wasn’t tried by a jury).  Trial court held that plaintiff failed in her proof.  The case is now before the Supreme Court.

The Issue

Does the knowledge of harm (absent willful or unlawful purpose, intent to injure, or intent to bring about any unauthorized or offensive (contact) constitute battery?

The Holding

The mere absence of any intent to injure the plaintiff or to play a prank on her or to embarrass her, or to commit an assault and battery on her would not absolve the defendant if in fact he had such knowledge.

Applying the Rule

Without knowledge of possible harm, there would be nothing wrongful about defendant’s act in moving the chair, and, there being no wrongful act, there would be liability.

The Reasoning for the Decision

A battery would be established if, in addition to plaintiff’s fall, it was proved that when Brain moved the chair, he knew with substantial certainty that the plaintiff would attempt to sit down where the chair had been. 

The Procedural Result
The cause is remanded for clarification, with instructions to make definite findings on the issue of whether Brian Dailey knew with substantial certainty that the plaintiff would attempt to sit down here the chair had been, and to change the judgement if the findings warrant it.

Fisher v. Carrousel Motor Hotel, Inc.

Supreme Court of Texas 1967

424 S.W. 2d 627

“The Embarrassed, Black Restaurant Patron”

The Facts

The plaintiff, Fisher, was invited by Ampex Corporation and Defense Electronics to a one day meeting regarding telemetry equipment at the Carrousel.  The invitation included lunch.  Fisher accepted the invitation by phone as requested.  After the morning session, the group of 25 to 30 guests went to the Brass Ring Club for lunch.  The lunch was buffet style and Fisher stood in line with the others.  As Fisher was about to be served, he was approached by Flynn (an employees of Carrousel and the manager of the Brass Ring Club) who snatched the plate from Fisher’s hand and shouted that he, a Negro, could not be served in the club.  Fisher testified that he was not actually touched, and did not testify that he had suffered fear or apprehension of physical injury; but he did testify that he was highly embarrassed and hurt by Flynn’s conduct in the presence of  his associates.  $400 for humiliation and $500 for punitive damages for Flynn’s malicious conduct.

The Procedural Context

Trial was to a jury which found for the plaintiff, Fisher.  The trial court rendered judgement for the defendants notwithstanding the verdict.  The court of civil appeals affirmed.

The Issue

Does a person commit battery when he pulls an object form another person’s hand in an insulting way, but does not touch the body of the other person?

The Holding

Under the facts of this case, we have no difficulty in holding that the intentional grabbing of the plaintiff’s plate constituted battery.  We hold, therefore, that the forceful dispossession of the plaintiff, Fisher’s, plate in an offensive manner was sufficient to constitute battery and the trial court erred in granting judgement NOV on the issue of actual damages. 

Applying the Rule

The intentional snatching of an object from one’s hand is as clearly an offensive invasion of his person as would be an actual contact with the body.  To constitute a battery, it is not necessary to touch the plaintiff’s body or even his clothing; knocking or snatching anything from the plaintiff’s hand or touching anything connected with his person, when done in an offensive manner is sufficient.

The Reasoning for the Decision

Since the essence of the plaintiff’s grievance consists in the offense of the dignity involved in the unpermitted, intentional invasion of the inviolability (secureness) of his person and not in any physical harm done to his body, it is not necessary hat the plaintiff’s actual body be disturbed.  Unpermitted and intentional contacts with anything so connected with the body as to be customarily regarded as part of the other’s person and therefore as partaking of the inviolability is actionable as an offensive contact with his person.  There are some things such as clothing or a cane or, indeed, as anything directly grasped by the hand which are so intimately connected with one’s body as to be universally regarded as part of the person.

The Procedural Result

The judgements of the courts below are reversed and judgement is here rendered for the plaintiff for $900 with interest from the date of the trial court’s judgement and for costs of this suit.

The Holding on Punitive Damages
We hold, therefore, that the plaintiff was entitled to actual damages for mental suffering due to the willful battery, even in the absence of any physical injury.

This court has recognized the well-established rule that mental suffering is compensable (Hamed v. EZ Finance Co.) in suits for willful torts which are recognized as torts and actionable independently and separate from mental suffering or other injury.  Damages for mental suffering are recoverable without the necessity for showing actual physical injury in a case of willful battery because the basis of the action in the unpermitted and intentional invasion of the plaintiff’s person and not the actual harm done to the plaintiff’s body.  Personal indignity is th eessence of any action for battery and consequently the defendant is liable not only for contacts which do physical harm, but also for those which are offensive and insulting. 

Shaw v. Brown & Wlliamson, Tobacco Corp.

United States District  Courts, D. Maryland 1997

973 F. Supp 539

“Second Hand Smoke Case”

 The Facts

Robert T. Shaw was employed as a long distance truck driver with the Kelly-Springfield Company from 1968 tp 1991.  From May 1, 1973 to November 14, 1984 (approximately 11 years), Shaw routinely traveled in an enclosed truck with a co-worker who smoked Raleigh cigarettes which are manufactured, produced, and distributed by Brown & Williamson.  Shaw did not smoke cigarettes at any time during his employment with Kelly-Springfield.  Nevertheless, Shaw was diagnosed with lung cancer in 1992.  Shaw and his wife allege that he developed lung cancer as a result of his exposure to second hand or environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) emitted from the Raleigh cigarettes.

The Procedural Context

The was the first time a case of this type had been tried (Court of original/first impression)

The Issue

Is the intent requirement for battery met when there is no affirmative action on the part of the actor?

The Holding

The court disagrees that the intent requirement is satisfied by Brown and Williamson’s intentional manufacture, marketing, and distribution of Raleigh cigarettes, on the basis that such acts set in motion the inevitable series of events leading to plaintiff Shaw’s injuries.

The Reasoning for the Decision

The court cited Pechan v. DynaPro, Inc. where a plaintiff alleged that her former employer was liable for her exposure to second hand smoke in the workplace.  The appellate court affirmed the dismissal of plaintiff’s battery count finding that the employee could not, as a matter of law, have had the intent necessary to commit a battery.  The Pechan court reasoned that smoking is a legal activity and not an act of battery because generally smokers do not smoke cigarettes with the intent to touch nonsmokers with second hand smoke.  Similarly, Brown & Williamson does not manufacture, market, and distribute cigarettes for the purpose of touching nonsmokers with second hand smoke.  Furthermore, Brown & Williamson did not know with a substantial certainty the second hand smoke would touch any particular nonsmoker.  While it may have had knowledge that second hand smoke would reach some nonsmokers, the court finds that such generalized knowledge is insufficient to satisfy the intent for battery.  This would be similar to holding manufacturers of handguns liable in battery for exposing third parties to gunfire.  It would also expose the courts to a flood of farfetched and nebulous litigation.

The Procedural Result

Dismissal is appropriate with respect to Shaw’s battery claim.

Holloway v. Wachovia Bank & Trust Co.

Court of Appeals of North Carolina, 1993

109 NC App. 402, 428 S.e. 2d 452

“The Re-possessor Who Committed Assault and Battery”

 The Facts

In April 1985, plaintiff Hallie Holloway, purchased a car financed by defendant, Wachovia Bank and Trust Company, N.A.  She defaulted on the loan.  On May 26, 1986, defendant, Jean Dawson, an employee of defendant, Wachovia, attempted to repossess the car in the parking lot outside of a Durham laundromat.  At the laundromat with Hallie Holloway were 1) Sue Holloway, Hallie’s mother, 2) Swanzett Holloway, Hallie’s 10 year old niece, and 3) Damien Holloway, who is Hallie’s 4 month old son.  Plaintiffs left the scene driving the car that defendant, Dawson, sought to repossess.

In their April 28, 1988, complaint, plaintiffs alleged that defendant, Dawson, aimed a gun at them in her attempt to repossess the car.  Each plaintiff sought recovery for assault.  Additionally, plaintiffs Hallie and Damien Holloway sought recovery fo battery arising from defendant Dawson’s touching them while reaching through the window of the car to take the keys from the ignition.  While trying to get the keys defendant, Dawson, “had her elbow on Damien’s back.”   

The Procedural Context

On August 22, 1989, Judge Samuel T. Currin issues an order dismissing with prejudice the assalut claims of Hallie Holloway and Sue Holloway and dismissing with prejudice Hallie Holloway’s battery claim.  At trial, directed verdicts were entered on Damien Holloway’s battery claim and both Swanzett and Damien Holloway’s assault claims.  Plaintiffs appeal  and argue that the trial court erred by granting defendant’s motions for directed verdicts.

The Issue

Can an infant be subjected to assault?  Can transferred intent be used to recover on an assault claim?

The Holding

We find no merit in plaintiff’s argument the Damien Holloway was assaulted.  Based upon the record before us, the issue of whether the infant Damien was entitled to recover upon a claim of battery should have been submitted to the jury.

Since the concept of transferred intents was recognized at common law, we hold on the facts presented in this case, the issue of whether Swanzett Holloway was entitled to recover for a claim of assault should have been submitted to the jury. 

The Reasoning for the Decision

At trial, plaintiff, Hallie Holloway, answered “yes” to the question “throughout this he (Damien) was either asleep or too young to understand what was going on throughout the confrontation, isn’t that correct?  Plaintiffs have failed to show that infant, Damien, experienced apprehension of harmful or offensive conduct.

Hallie Holloway testified that while she was sitting in the driver’s seat of the car, she had the infant, Damien, “up on my chest.”  She further testified that as defendant, Dawson, reached to take the keys from the ignition on the right hand side of the steering wheel, defendant, Dawson, “had her elbow in my baby’s back, she was trying to pull my hands off the key.”  Defendants claim there was no intent to touch Damien.  Rather his touching was inadvertent, incidental, and unintentional.  However, the gist of the action for battery is not the hostile intent of the defendant but rather the absence of consent on the part of the plaintiff.  The intent with which tort liability is concerned is not necessarily a hostile intent, or a desire to do any harm.  Rather it is an intent to bring abut a result which will invade the interests of another in a way that the law forbids. 

Next, we address Swanzett’s assault claim.  An assault is an offer to show violence to another without striking him.  The elements of assault are intent, offer of injury, reasonable apprehension, apparent ability, and imminent threat of injury.  Plaintiff establishes a cause of action fir assault upon proof of these technical elements, without proof of actual damage.  Since Swanzett testified that the gum was not pointed directly at her, she relies on the concept of transferred intent to recover on this assault claim.  If an act is done with the intention of affecting a 3rd person…but puts another in apprehension of a harmful or offensive contact the actor is subject to liability to such other as fully as though he intended to affect him (Restatement).  Our research indicates that the concept of transferred intent has not been applied in a civil case in North Carolina.  However, at least four criminal cases have tacitly recognized transferred intent principles.  As has been shown, courts have applied criminal concepts of intent to analyze civil liability.

The Procedural Result

Affirmed in part (for defendant for Damien’s assault action)

Reversed in part (for plaintiffs for Damien’s battery action and Swanzett’s assault action) and remanded.

Notes

Dismissal without prejudice is a dismissal that does not bar the plaintiff from refiling the lawsuit within the applicable limitations period.

Teichmiller v. Rogers Memorial Hospital, Inc.

Court of Appeals of Wisconsin, 597 N.W. 2d 773 (Table)

“The Falsely Imprisoned Employee”

The Facts

Plaintiff was an employee of Rogers Memorial Hospital, Inc.’s Racine clinic.  Her responsibilities included patient intake and multidisciplinary assessments.  Additional responsibilities included completing records or charts.  Plaintiff alleges she was directed to falsify medical records and that her refusal resulted in her forced resignation.  She brought action for wrongful discharge.

The false imprisonment claim arises from a confrontation between Teichmiller and her superiors on September 12, 1995, during a meeting to discuss her impending departure.  She was asked to meet at the clinic with Hanburg-Hotson, Bergerson-Hawkins, and Otto.  The purpose of the meeting was to discuss Teichmiller’s exit requirements, specifically the need to complete medical records before she departed.  Teichmiller sat in the chair nearest the door, which remained open during the meeting.  She was handed the exit requirements and was told she would be assisted in completing her charts.  Plaintiff refused to sign the form and stated she had consulted with an attorney.  Bergerson-Hawkins and Otto became very excited and started shouting about Teichmiller’s contact with an attorney.

When Teichmiller stated that she wanted to make a copy of the exit papers, Bergerson-Hawkins stood on her right side and blocked the door and Otto stood at the plaintiff’s left side.  Both women screamed at the plaintiff that she was stealing hospital property by leaving to go to the copier in the conference room.  They attempted to grab the form from the plaintiff’s hands.  The plaintiff felt caged and could not move left or right because the women were on either side of her, her chair was behind her, and the office desk in front of here.  Their hands were approximately one inch above the plaintiff’s arms while they were trying to grab the form.  Plaintiff felt they were aggressive and were dangerous.  The stand-off took 3-4 minutes.  Bergerson-Hawkins and Otto “chased” plaintiff to the copy room, stood on either side of her in the copy room where she unsuccessfully tried to use the copier, followed her to her office, and “guarded” her from outside the women’s restroom where she fled after her first photocopy attempt.  Plaintiff testified that she did not feel free to move when Bergerson-Hawkins and Otto were standing next to her in the office and at the copier.  Plaintiff concedes she not touched or threatened with physical contact although she felt threatened physically and verbally because Otto and Bergerson-Hawkins were in proximity to her and were excited.  Plaintiff testified that she never actually asked to leave.  Rather, she repeatedly stated that she needed to make a copy of the document and because the copier was not located in the office, she believes she made it clear that she had ti leave the room.

Defendants did not dispute most of the plaintiff’s description of the confrontation(s).  Nevertheless, they argue that plaintiff’s allegations to not rise to the level of false imprisonment, 

The Procedural Context

Plaintiff appeals from a summary judgement dismissing her claims for wrongful discharge and false imprisonment.

The Issue

Can an action for false imprisonment succeed if the person allegedly being held does not request freedom?

The Holding

The summary judgement record does not support Teichmiller’s claim that she was intentionally and unlawfully restrained.  Plaintiff did not ask to leave supervisor’s office, at best, she obliquely requested to leave when she demanded access to the copier.  Plaintiff also states that after 3-4 minutes, Bergerson-Hawkins moved out of her way and she left the office.  In light of the cases discussed below, plaintiff’s false imprisonment claim cannot stand.

The Reasoning for the Decision

In Herbst v. Wuennenburg, political canvassers were blocked by Wuennenburg who stood in front of the building’s outer door and stood there with her arms on the pillars to the door which canvassers believed blocked their exit.  Canvassers conceded that defendant had not threatened or intimidated them and that they did not ask her permission to leave or make any attempt to get her to move away from the door.  Court said it was speculation to assume the defendant would have refused a request to step aside and would have physically resisted the canvassers’ attempt to leave.  The evidence best supported an inference that the canvassers remained in the vestibule because they assumed they have to push the defendant out of the way to leave.  The court found this assumption insufficient to support the false imprisonment claim.  Also the plaintiffs outnumbered the defendant 3 to 1.  The canvassers did not submit to an apprehension of force and therefore wrer not imprisoned.

In Dupler v. Seubert, an employee was called to the office to be informed of her termination.  The manager yelled at her, blocked the office door, and told her in a loud voice to “sit down.”  The manager declined her repeated requests to leave.  Also only paid until 5:00 p.m. and she was held until 6:00 p.m. (so imprisonment commenced at 5:01 p.m.).

Case turns on Teichmiller never actually asking to leave and was able to leave the office on her 3rd attempt to move past Bergerson-Hawkins.  While Teichmiller claims she was afraid force would be used, it appears that this was speculation.  Also Teichmiller was paid for all of her time at the clinic on the day she contneds she was imprisoned.

The Procedural Result

Court concludes that there are no facts showing that Teichmiller was intentionally or unlawfully restrained in an office whose door was open and from which she never asked to leave.

Amphitheaters, Inc. v. Portland Meadows, et. Al

Supreme Court of Oregan 1949

184 Or. 336, 198 P. 2d 847

“Is Light on a Drive In Theater Trespass?”

The Facts

The defendant built and operated a horse track with lighting that cost $100k for night racing.  On a nearby parcel of land, the plaintiff built an outdoor movie theater that cost $135K.

The theater screen faces directly toward plaintiff’s racetrack.  In installing outdoor moving picture theaters, it is necessary to protect the premises from outside light interference.  For that purpose, the plaintiff constructed wing fences for a considerable distance on each side of the screen along the westerly line of Union Avenue for the purpose of shutting off the light from the cars traveling on the arterial highway.  It was also necessary to construct a shadow box extending on both sides and above the screen for the prupose of excluding light from the moon and stars.  The extreme delicacy of plaintiff’s operation and susceptibility of outdoor moving pictures to light is any form was conclusively established by the evidence.

In order to illuminate the defendant’s track for night horse racing, approximately 330 1500 watt lights are mounted in clusters on 80 foot poles placed at 250 ft intervals around the track.  The flood lights are in general directed at the track, but there is substantial evidence to the effect that reflected light “spills” over onto the plaintiff’s premises and has a serious effect on the quality of the pictures shown on the screen.  The nearest cluster of lights on the defendant’s track is 832 feet distant from the plaintiff’s screen.  There is substantial evidence that plaintiff has suffered financial loss as a result of the illumination.  Defendant’s light approximates that of full moonlight.  Defendant, while, denying liability, nevertheless made substantial efforts to protect plaintiff from the effect of the defendant’s lights.  Hoods were installed on the lights with particular attention to those lights nearest plaintiff’s property.  These efforts materially reduced but did not eliminate the conditions of which plaintiff complains.  

The Procedural Context

Plaintiff filed on action asserting the defendant’s lights constituted both a trespass upon his land and a nuisance.  The trial court directed a verdict in favor of the defendant on both counts.

The Issue

Is “lighting” from a neighbor’s property that results in damages a cause for trespass? 

The Holding

We think is clear that the case at bar is governed by the law of nuisance and not by the law of trespass?

The Reasoning for the Decision

The mere suggestion that the casting of light upon the premises of a plaintiff would render a defendant liable without proof of any actual damages carries it own refutation.  Actions for damages on account of smoke, noxious odors, and the like have been universally classified as falling within the law of nuisance.  Cases of this type are described as non-trespassory invasion.  Ownership of land, it has been said includes not only the face of the earth but everything under it or over it, and has in its legal significance an inedfinite extent upward and downward.

The Procedural Result

The trial court did not err in directing a verdict for the defendant.  The judgment is affirmed.

Notes

The Court applied the traditional rule requiring tangible invasion of a plaintiff’s land for the purpose of trespass

Eleven years later in 1959, this same court considered a case in which an aluminum manufacturer caused invisible gases and particulates to settle upon a livestock owner’s land.  The livestock owner filed a trespass action against the aluminum manufacturer and won a verdict in trial court.  The Oregon Supreme Court affirmed the judgement by preferring to emphasize the object’s energy or force rather thatn size.  Held that the intrusion of flouride particulates in the case constituted trespass.

Had the horse track defendant purposely and not as incidence of his own legitimate use directed the rays of light against the plaintiff’s screen, the court might well have taken the position that the plaintiff could have recovered in a trespass action.  The tort of trespass involves a weighing issue – to define th e possessor’s interest in exclusive possession and in the other to define possessor’s interest in use and enjoyment.

Compared to casting a grain of sand on another’s land (trifling)

Tort of trespass in composed of components that include the magnitude of the defendant’s conduct in causing the intrusion and the character and magnitude of the harm visited on the plaintiff in interfering with his interest in the exclusive possession of the premises..  Cannot be solely evaluated from the standpoint of the defendant’s conduct, but it must be evaluated with reference to the nature of the plaintiff’s interest.

Once recognizing that actual damage need not be shown in making an actionable invasion, the plaintiff’s right to insist upon freedom from interference with his possession seems almost limitless.     

Bradley v. American Smelting and refining Co.

Washington Supreme Court 1985

104 Wash. 2d 677, 709 P.2d 782

“The Airborne Particles of Heavy Metals (including arsenic) as Trespass Case”

The Facts

Plaintiffs’ property is located some 4 miles north of defendant’s smelter.  Defendant’s primary copper smelter has operated in its present location since 1890.  It has operated as a copper smelter since 1902, and in 1905 it was purchased and operated by a corporate entity which is now ASARCO.  As a part of the industrial process of smelting copper at the Tacoma smelter, various gases such as sulfur dioxide and particular matter, including arsenic, cadmium and other metals, are emitted.  Particulate matter is composed of distinct particles of matter other than water, which cannot be detected by the human senses.

As a part of defendant’s smelting process, the Tacoma smelter emits into the atmosphere gases and particulate matter.  For the purposes of resolving the certified questions, the parties stipulate that some particulate emissions of both cadmium and arsenic from the Tacoma smelter have been and are continuing to be deposited on the plaintiffs’ land.

The Procedural Context

This comes before us on a certification from the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington.  Plaintiffs, landowners on Vashon Island, had sued for damages in trespass and nuisance from the deposit on their property of microscopic, airborne particles of heavy metals which come from the American Smelting and Refining Company (ASARCO) copper smelter at Ruston, Washington.  The case was initiated in King County Superior Court and later removed to the United States District Court.  Upon the plaintiffs moving for summary judgement on this issue of liability for the claimed trespass, the stated issues were certified to this court. 

The Issue

The issues certified for answer are as follows:

1. Did the defendant have the requisite intent to commit intentional trespass as a matter of law?

2. Does an intentional deposit of microscopic particulates, undetectable by the human senses, upon a person’s property give rise to a cause of action for trespassory invasion of the person’s right to exclusive possession of property as well as a claim of nuisance?

3. Does the cause of action for trespassory invasion require proof of actual damages?

A reconciliation must be found between the interest of the many who are unaffected by the possible poisoning and the few who may be affected.   

The Holding

We find that the defendant had the requisite intent to common intentional trespass as a matter of law.

We hold that the defendant’s conduct in causing chemical substances to be deposited upon the plaintiff’s land fulfilled all the requirements under the law of trespass. 

The Reasoning for the Decision
The defendant has known for decades that sulfur dioxide and particulates of arsenic, cadmium, and other metals were being emitted from the tall smokestack.  It had to know that the solids propelled into the air by the warm gases would settle back to earth somewhere.  It had to know that a purpose of the tall stack was to disperse the gas, smoke, and minute solids over as large an area as possible and as far as away as possible, but that while any resulting contamination would be diminished as to any one landowner, that nonetheless contamination, though slight, would follow.

Just as there may be proof advantages in trespass theory, there may be disadvantages also.  Potential problems lurk in the ancient requirements that a trespassory invasion be “direct or immediate” and that an “object” or “something tangible” be deposited upon the plaintiff’s land.  Some courts hold that if an intervening force, such as wind or water, carries the pollutants into the plaintiff’s land, then the entry is not “direct.”  Others define “object” as requiring something larger or more substantial that smoke, dust, gas, or fumes. 

We adopt, in part, the rationale of Boland v. Sandars Lead Co., which stated in part, if the intrusion interferes with the right to exclusive possession of property, the law of trespass applies.  If the intrusion is to the interest in use and enjoyment of property, the law of nuisance applies. 

When the particles or substance accumulates on the land and does not pass away, then a trespass has occurred.

While at common law any trespass entitled a landowner to recover nominal or puntive damages for the invasion of his property, such a rule is not appropriate under the circumstances before us.

 The elements that we have adopted for an action in trespass from Borland require that a plaintiff has suffered actual and substantial damages.  Since this is an element of the action, the plaintiff who cannot show that actual and substantial damages have been suffered should be the subject to dismissal of his cause upon a motion for summary judgement.

The Procedural Result
The United States District Court for the Western District of Washington shall be notified for such further action as it deems appropriated.

CompuServe v. Cyber Promotions, Inc.

United States District Court, S.D. Ohio 1997

962 F. Supp. 1015

“The Cyberspace Case”

The Facts

Plaintiff CompuServe Incorporated is one of the major commercial online computer services.  It operates a computer communication service through a proprietary nationwide computer network.  In addition to the extensive content available within its own proprietary network.  CompuServe also provides its subscribers with a link to the much larger resources of the internet.  This allows its subscribers to send and receive electronic messages, known as e-mail, by the Internet.  Defendants Cyber Promotions, Inc. and its president Sanford Wallace are in the business of sending unsolicited e-mail advertisements on behalf of themselves and their clients to hundreds of thousands of Internet users, many of whom are CompuServe subscribers.  CompuServe has notified defendants that they are prohibited from using its computer equipment to process and store the unsolicited e-mail and has requested that they terminate the practice.  Instead, defendants have sent an increasing volume of e-mail solicitations to CompuServe subscribers.  CompuServe has attempted to employ technological means to block the flow of the defendants’ e-mails transmission to it computer equipment, but to no avail.

Defendants assert that they possess the right to continue to send those communications to Compuserve subscribers.  CompuServe contends that, in doing so, the defendants are trespassing on it personal property.   

The Procedural Context

The Issue

Will the sending of a large volume of e-mail such that it affects the efficiency of the recipients servers/equipment and impairs the recipient’s ability to service its customers be a cause of action for trespass to chattel?  

The Holding

This court holds that where defendants engaged in a course of conduct of transmitting a substantial volume of electronic data in the form of unsolicited e-mail to plaintiff’s proprietary computer equipment, where defendants continued such practice after repeated demands to cease and desist, and where defendants deliberately evaded plaintiff’s affirmative efforts to protect its computer equipment from such use, plaintiff has a viable claim for trespass to personal property and is entitled to injunctive relief to protect its property,  

The Reasoning for the Decision

One who commits a trespass to a chattel is subject to liability to the possessor of the chattel if, but only if, (a) he disposssses the other if the chattel, or (b) the chattel is impaired as to its condition, quality, or value, or (c) the possessor is deprived of the use of the chattel for a substantial time, or (d) bodily harm is caused to the possessor, or harm is caused to some person or thing in which the possessor has a legally protected interest.  Plaintiff is the present action has alleged that it has suffered several types of injury as a result of defendants’ conduct.

A plaintiff can sustain an action for trespass to chattels, as opposed to an action for conversion, without showing a substantial interference with its right to possession of that chattel.  Harm to personal property or diminution of its quality, condition, or value as a result of defendants’ use can also be the predicate for liability.  An unprivileged use or other intermeddling with a chattel which results in actual impairment of its physical condition, quality or value to the possessor make the actor liable for the loss thus caused.  In the great majority of cases, the actor’s intermeddling with the chattel impairs the value of it to the possessor, as distinguished from the mere affront to his dignity as possessor, only by some impairment of the physical condition of the chattel.

CompuServe’s computers are forced to store undeliverable e-mail messages and labor in vain to return the messages to an address that does not exist.  To the extent that defendants’ multitudinous electronic mailing demand the disk space and drain the processing power of the plaintiff’s computer equipment, those resources are not available to serve CompuServe subscribers.  Therefore, the value of that equipment to CompuServe is diminished even though it is not physically damaged by defendants’ conduct.  Defendants’ intrusion in to CompuServe’s computer systems, insofar as they harm plaintiff’s business reputation and goodwill with its customers, are actionable.  Sufficient legal protection of the possessor’s interest in the mere inviolability of his chattel is afforded by his privilge to use reasonable force to protect his possession      

against even harmless interference.

 The foregoing discussion simply underscores that the damge sustained by the plaintiffis sufficient to sustain an action for trespass to chattels.

The Procedural Result

Plaintiff has a viable claim for trespass to personal property and is entitled to injunctive relief to protect its property.  Having considered the relevant factors, this court concludes that the preliminary injunction that plaintiff requests in appropriate.

Dicta

This court also notes that the implementation of technological means of self-help, to the extent that reasonable measures are effective, is particularly appropriate in this type of situation and should be exhausted before legal action is proper.

Wiseman v. Schaffer

Court of Appeals of Idaho, 1989

115 Idaho 537, 768 P.2d 800

“The Truck Towed in Error Case”

The Facts

The Wisemans left their Ford pickup parked at the Ross Point Husky Truck Stop in Post Falls, Idaho, while they were doing some long haul trucking.  During their absence an an imposter, identifying himself as Larry Wiseman, telephoned Schaffer and asked him to tow the Ford pickup at the Husky Truck Stop to the yard of a local welding shop.  The imposter told Schaffer that $30 for the towing charge had been left on top of the sun visor in the pickup.  Schaffer located the pickup and the cash.  He then towed the pickup to the welding shop as directed.  Sometime later, the pickup was stolen. 

The Procedural Context

The Wisemans filed this action alleging conversion and negligence on the part of Schaffer.  When reviewing a jury verdict on appeal, the evidence adduced at trial is construed most favorable to the party who prevailed at trial and the verdict will not be set aside if supported by substantial evidence.  However, when it appears to the reviewing court that there is no substantial evidence to support the verdict cannot stand.  A new trial is on order whenever the jury’s verdict is not supported by evidence.  Presumably, the jurors considered the facts and the law when they rendered their verdict.  Construing the evidence most favorable to Schaffer.  A verdict for Schaffer on the issue of conversion is not supported by the evidence. 

The Issue

Is there a cause for action under conversion when the actor/defendant acts is “good faith” but in effect a conversion takes place?

The Holding

The judgment must be vacated on this issue of Schaffer’s liability for conversion.  To create liability for conversion it is not necessary that the actor intends to commit a trespass or a conversion.

The Reasoning for the Decision

Conversion is the intentional exercise of dominion or control over a chattel which so seriously interferes with the right of another to control it that the actor may justly be required to pay the other the full value of the chattel.  The actor may be liable where he has in fact exercised dominion or control although he may be quite unaware of the existence of the rights with which he interferes.

The Procedural Result
The case is remanded for a new trial on the issue of conversion.

Figueiredo-Torres v. Nickel

Court of Appeal of Maryland, 1991

321 Md. 642, 584 A.2d 69

“The Unfaithful Marriage Counselor (Thy-chologist)”

The Facts

In July 1985, Torres and his wife sought the counsel of Nickel, a licensed psychologist, for the purpose of preserving and improving their marital relationship.  Most of the therapy sessions with Nickel were joint sessions attended by both Torres and his wife; however, Torres also attended some individual sessions with Nickel.  Apparently, Nickel conducted individual sessions with Mrs. Torres as well, for the complaint maintains that, during the course of Nickel’s treatment and his wife, Nickel commenced a romantic relationship with Mrs. Torres, engaging in “improper affectionate conduct” and “repeated sexual intercourse” with her, which culminated in the dissolution of the Torres’ marriage.  In therapy sessions with Torres, Nickel “consistently advised him to be distant from his wife, not to engage in intimate or sexual contact with her, and ultimately to separate from her.  The complaint further alleged that, as a result of his psychologist-patient relationship with Torres, Nickel knew that Torres was particularly sensitive emotionally.  Torres set forth numerous injures, both emotional and physical, and damages allegedly sustained as a result of Nickel’s conduct.

Nickel contends that because Torres’ wife was a consenting adult and sexual relations between consenting adults in modern society is not extreme and outrageous conduct the intentional infliction of emotional distress was properly dismissed. 

The Procedural Context

Appellant, Torres, filed a complaint on March 2, 1989 in the Circuit Court of Montgomery County, against Appellee, Nickel, seeking damages for negligence and intentional infliction of emotional distress.  Nickel filed a motion to dismiss the complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  The motion was granted by the circuit court as to intentional infliction of emotional distress.

The Issue

Will the relationship between the plaintiff and the defendant be considered in a cause of action for intentional infliction of emotional distress?

The Holding

Furthermore, in cases where the defendant is in a peculiar position to harass the plaintiff, and cause emotional distress, his conduct will be carefully scrutinized by the courts.

The Reasoning for the Decision

Nickel’s analysis neglects one important detail.  Nickel was not “the milkman, the mailman, or the guy next door,” he was Torres’ psychologist and marriage counselor.  The extreme and outrageous character of the defendant’s conduce may arise from his abuse of a position or relation with another person, which gives him actual or apparent authority over him, or power to affect his interests.

The Procedural Result

While we are mindful that Torres must prove both that he suffered severe injury and that the injury was proximately caused by Nickel’s tortious conduct, we believe that the complaint is sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss for failure to state a clain upon which relief can be granted.

Caldor Inc. v. Bowden

Court of Appeals of Maryland, 1993

330 Md. 632, 625 A.2d 959

“The Accused 16 Year Old Hardware Store Worker”

The Facts

Samuel Bowden, the 16 year old plaintiff, had been employed by Caldor, Inc., a national retail store, as a customer service representative when on June 15, 1988, he arrived at work for his 5:45 p.m. shift .  Bowden went to punch in his time card and discovered that his time card was missing.  He went to the acting store manager, Ms. Baldwin, to inquire about its absence.  Baldwin, without further explanation, simply instructed Bowden to report to his normal post in the hardware department.  At approximately 6:45 p.m., Baldwin paged Bowden and instructed him to meet her at the upstairs service desk.  Bowden ascended the escalator and met Baldwinas requested.  Baldwin told Bowden that she needed his assistance and them led Bowden ato a 10 ft x 10 ft windowless office on the upper level of the store.  Once inside, Bowden found Mr. Hadrick and Mr. Hodum, two of Caldor’s loss prevention personnel, standing in the room.  Bowden had not previously met either of the men.  The small office contained only a desk, tow chairs, and a telephone, leaving Bowden alone with the two strangers.  Bowden was unaware why he was summoned to the upper office,  When he asked how long he would be there, Hedrick said he wouldn’t be leaving soon.  They blocked Bowden’s egress from the small room. Bowden finally asked bluntly what was his purpose for being there and Hedrick replied that there had been some missing money and merchandise which had been traced back to Bowden.  Bowden denied the accusation and attempted to leave but found Hodum blocking the door.  Hedrick told him to “sit down or we’ll help you sit down.”  When Bowden attempted to telephone his parents, his attempt was met with a similar, more emphatic warning to “put the damn phone down or I’ll help you do it.”  Bowden could hear himself being paged and explained that his mother might be trying to contact him at the store and would be worried it she could not fined him.  Hedrick did not permit Bowden to respond and told Bowden that if his mother called they would tell her that Bowden wasn’t in the store.  This further disturbed Bowden.  Hedrick kept drilling Bowden about the missing money and forced Bowden to empty his pockets and reveal the contents of his wallet.  Hedreick told Bowden that they had videotapes showing him stealing money from the registers and that he would not be permitted to leave until he cooperated (the defendants never produced any videotape of Bowden stealing money from the register).  The interrogation continued until 8:00 p.m. at which time he presented Bowden with the voluntary statement.  Bowden signed the first side at 9:35 p.m. and completed the second page with the terms being dictated by Hedrick after he realized the store was closed.  Hedrick allowed Bowden to leave the store at 11:00 p.m..  Bowden arrived home at 11:30 p.m. an hour later than usual.  He told his mother what had happened and denied stealing the money.

Bowden and his mother went to the sore the next afternoon to “try to get to the bottom of things.”  An argument ensued with the store’s security manger, Mr. Mehan, who barked a racial comment and told Bowden that he “was going to burn for this, you sucker.”  A conversation with Rev. Bowden took place in Mehan’s office with Mehan demanding restitution and Rev. Bowden requesting to see the videotapes before restitution was made.  Mehan refused and stated he had no other choice but to arrest Bowden.  Mehan handcuffed Bowden and called the Baltimore County Police and then escorted the handcuffed Bowden across the lower level of the store, up the escalators, and led from the back of the upper level to the front door.  Bowden remained in handcuffs in public view until the police arrived.

The Procedural Context

Bowden filed a civil suit in the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, naming Caldor, hedrick, Hodum, and Mehan as defendants.  The complaint alleged several counts including one for intentional inflication of emotional distress, the jury rendered a decision in favor of Bowden.  The jury awarded $25,000 for intentional infliction of emotional distress.

The defendants filed a motion of judgment not withstanding the verdict/remittiur and/or for a new trial.  The circuit court granted the motion of J.N. W. V on the intentional infliction of emotional distress.  Bowedn and the defendants appealed and we granted certiori prior to the appeal being argued in the intermediate appellate court.  

The Issue

What is the definition/standard for distress that will sustain an action for intentional infliction of emotional distress? 

The Holding

Bowden may have been upset, embarrassed, and confused and may have “felt bad about himself” and this type of emotional distress may have been uncomfortable.  None of these effects, however, indicated the Bowden had the severely disabling emotional response that hindered his ability to carry out his daily activities or the severe emotional distress this cause of action requires.

Applying the Rule
The court measures the severity by the intensity of the response as well as the duration.  The severity of the emotional distress is not only relevant to the amount of recovery, but it is a necessary element to any recovery.  For emotional distress to be severe, it must be so acute that “no reasonable man could be expected to endure it.”

The Reasoning for the Decision

Bowden was distressed, but failed to establish the level of severe or estrem emotional injury that is needed to trigger liability for this tort.  Not only did Bowden continue his normal activities, but he did not seek psychological assistance until his single visit on the eve of litigation.  Bowden presented no expert testimony as to any emotional distress and his own description of his discomfort was insufficient to establish sever emotional distress (I can’t think anything that could be as severs as the basic personality of a person being changed).
The Procedural Result

The court affirmed the circuit court’s grant of J.N. W.V on the count of intentional infliction of emotional distress. 

Peterson v. Sorlein

Supreme Court of Minnesota, 1980

299 N.W.2d 123

“The Case of the Brainwashed Daughter that was De-programmed”

The Facts

This action by plaintiff Susan Jungclaus Peterson for False imprisonment arises from an by her parents in conjunction with the other individuals named as defendants to prompt her disaffiliation from and organization known as the Way Ministry.

Plaintiff was a student at Moorhead State College.  She was a dean’s list student her freshman year; however, her academic performance declined and her interests narrowed after she joined the local chapter of a group organized internationally and identified locally as The Way of Minnesota, Inc.  The operation of The Way is predicated on the fundraising activities of its members.  By the end of her freshman year, Susan was devoting many hours to The Way, listening to instructional tapes, soliciting new members, and assisting in training sessions.  As her sophomore year began, Susan committed herself significantly, selling the car her father had given her and working part time as a waitress to finance her contributions to The Way.  As her junior year drew to a close, the Jungclauses grew increasingly alarmed by the personality changes they witnessed in their daughter; overly tired, unusually pale, distracted and irritable, she exhibited an increasing alienation from family, diminished interest in education and decline in academic performance.  The Jungclauses, versed in the literature of youth cult and based on conversations with former members of The Way concluded that through a calculated process of manipulation and exploitation Susan had been reduced to a condition of psychological bondage.  On May 24, 1976, defendant Norman Jungclaus, father of the plaintiff, arrived at Moorhead to pick up Susan after the end of the rhird college quarter.  Instead of returning home he took Susan to Minneapolis to a self-styled de-progrrammer (Kathy Mills).  It was at the home of Veronica Morgel that Susan stayed at for the next 16 days.  The avowed purpose of de-programming is to break the hold of the cult over the individual through reason and confrontation.  Initially Susan was unwilling to discuss her involvement, she lay curled up in a fetal potion, in the downstairs bedroom where she first stayed, plugging her ears and crying while her father pleaded with her to listen to what was being said.  This behavior persisted for tow days during which she intermittently engaged in conversation, oat one point screaming hysterically at her father.  But by Wednesday, Susan’s demeanor had changed completely; she was friendly and vivacious and that night slept in an upstairs bedroom.  She spent Thursday reading and talking with her father and went roller-skating on Saturday.  On Sunday she played softball and enjoyed a picnic lunch.  She spent the next week in Columbus, Ohio with a former cult member who shared with her the experience of the previous week.  While in Columbus she spoke to her fiance each day who played tapes and songs and begged her to come back to the fold.  Susan expressed her desire to extricate her fiance fro the dominion of the cult.  Susan returned to Minneapolis on June 9.  Unable to arrange a controlled meeting so that Susan could see her fiance outside the presence of the other members of the ministry, her parents asked her to sign an agreement releasing them from liability for their past weeks’  actions.  Refusing to do so, Susan stepped outside the Morgel residence, motioned a passing police car , reunited with her fiance at the headquarters of The Way.  Following her return to the ministry, she was directed to counsel and initiated the present action.     

The Procedural Context
Plaintiff seeks a judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the issue of false imprisonment, alleging that defendants unlawfully, interfered with her personal liberty by word or acts which induced a reasonable apprehension that force would be used against her if she did not otherwise comply.  The jury, instructed that an informed and reasoned consent it a defense to an allegation of fale imprisonment and that nonconsensual detention would be deemed consensual if one’s behavior so indicated, exonerated defendants with respect to the false imprisonment charges. 

The Issue

Can a plaintiff’s actions be construed as voluntary consent, a defense in a false imprisonment action> 

The Holding

We find that a reasonable basis existed for the verdict exonerating defendants of the charge of false imprisonment.  Were the relationship other than that of parent and child, the consent would have less significance.

We hold that when parents, or their agents, acting under the conviction that the judgmental capacity of their adult child is impaired, seek to extricate that child from what they reasonable believe to ba religious or pseudo-religious cult, and the child at some juncture assents to the actions in question, limitations upon the child’s mobility do not constitute meaningful deprivations of personal liberty sufficient to support a judgment of false imprisonment. 

The Reasoning for the Decision

Susan had many opportunities to alert authorities of her allegedly unlawful detention: two police observed the softball game and en route to Ohio she passed through security areas in two airports in the presence of security guards and uniformed police.  In Columbus, she transacted business at a bank, went for walks in solitude, and was interviewed by an FBI agent who sought assurances of her safety.  At no time during the 13 day period did she complain of her treatment or suggest that defendants were holding her against her will.  Damages may not be assessed for any periond of detention to which one freely consents.

The method of cult indoctrination, viewed in a light most favorable to the prevailing party, is predicated on a strategy of coercive persuasion that undermines the capacity of informed consent.  Society has a compelling interest in favoring intervention.  The facts in the case support the conclusion that plaintiff only regained her volitional capacity to consent after engaging in the first three days of the de-programming process 

The Procedural Result

  Trial court’s holding is affirmed.

Dissent

It is unwise to tamper with those freedoms and with longstanding principles of tort law out of sympathy for parents seeking to help their “misguided” offspring, however well intentioned and loving their acts may be.

Any imprisonment “which is not legally justifiable” is false imprisonment.  The fact that the tortfeasor acted in good faith is not defense to c charge of false imprisonment.

Majority opinion is that plaintiff’s acquiescence in the later stages of de-programming operates as consent which “relates back” to events of the earlier three days and constitutes a “waiver” of her claims for those days.

Here, th eevidence clearly supported a verdict against Noram Jungclaus on the false imprisonment claim, and not reasonable basis existed for denying judgement notwithstanding the verdict.  The trial court’s holding in this regard should be reversed.  

Hackbart v. Cincinnati Bengals, Inc.

United States Court of Appeals, Tenth Circuit, 1979

601 F.2d 516

“The Injured Football Player Case”

The Facts

Game took place in Denver in 1973 and the play was completed.
The trial court’s finding was that Charles Clark, “acting out of anger and frustration, but without a specific intent to injure stepped forward and struck a blow with his right forearm to the back of the kneeling plaintiff’s head and neck with sufficient force to cause both players to fall forward to the ground.  Both players, without complaining to the officials or to one another, returned to their respective sidelines since the ball had changed hands and the offensive and defensive teams of each team had been substituted.  Clark testified at trial that his frustration was brought about by the fact that his team was losing the game.  The officials did not see the incident so a foul wasn’t called but the game film clearly showed what had occurred.  Hackbart eventually sought medical treatment and it was discovered by the physician that he had a serious neck fracture injury.

Clark admitted that the blow which had been struck was not accidental and that it was intentionally administered.

The Procedural Context

The trial court ruled as a matter of law that the game of professional football is basically a business which is violent in nature, and that the available sanctions are imposition of penalties and expulsion from the game.  Notice as taken of the fact that many fouls are overlooked; that the gam eis played in an emotional and noisy environment; and that incidents such as that here complained are not unusual. 

The Issue

The question in this case is whether in regular season professional football game an injury which is inflicted by one professional football player on an opposing player can give rise to liability in tort where the injury was inflicted by the intentional striking of a blow during the game.

The Holding

Contrary to the position of the court the court there are not principles of law which allow a court to rule out certain tortious conduct by reason of general roughness of the game or difficulty of administering it.

The Reasoning for the Decision
There are rules of the game which prohibit the intentional striking of blows:  “All players are prohibited from striking on the head, face or neck with the heel, back or side of the hand, wrist, forearm, elbow or clasped hands.”  Thus the very conduct which was present her is expressly prohibited by the rule which is quoted. Undoubtedly these restraints are intended to establish reasonable boundaries so that one football player cannot intentionally inflict a serious injury on another. Therefore, the notion is not correct that all reason had been abandoned, whereby the only possible remedy for the person who has been the victim of an unlawful blow is retaliation.

The Procedural Result

In sum, having concluded that the trial court did not limit the case to a trial of the evidence bearing on the defendant’s liability but rather determined that as a matter of social policy the game was so violent and unlawful that valid lines could not be drawn, we take the view that this was not a proper issue for determination and that plaintiff was entitled to have the case tried on an assessment of his rights and whether they had been violated. 

Roberts v. American Employers Insurance Company

Court of Appeals of Louisiana, 1969

221 So. 2d 550

“The Police Officer Pleads Self-Defense Case”

The Facts

The facts show that on December 28, 1966, at about 8:00 p.m. the plaintiff went to Haven’s Lounge, a bar in the City of Jennings, Louisiana.  A social organization, Club 21, was holding a private Christmas party in the bar area.  The bartender informed the plaintiff of the private party and refused to serve him a drink.  Plaintiff refused to leave and ate some of the private party’s potato chips.  The members of the party objected and a disturbance ensued.  The bartender called the police to report the disturbance.  However, before the police arrived, the plaintiff left Haven’s lounge and walked across the street to Shirley’s Pool Hall, where he purchased a beer.  City Police Officer Horace J. Randolph arrived at Haven’s lounge at 8:30 p.m. and was told that plaintiff had created a disturbance.  The officer went in search of the plaintiff and found him at the pool hall.  He allowed plaintiff to finish drinking his beer and asked it he would go back to Haven’s Lounge to discuss the complaint, which had been made against him.  Plaintiff went voluntarily. After discussing the nature of the complaint with the bartender and the members of Club 21, Officer Randolph placed the plaintiff under arrest for violation of the city ordinance against disturbing the peace.  He did not have an arrest warrant.  The officer then ordered the plaintiff to walk out of the lounge to the police car.  There is conflict in the testimony as to when the officer pulled his pistol from his belt holster.  Plaintiff testified the officer pulled his gun before they left the lounge and held it ih his back as they walked toward the police car.  The officer says he did not pull his pistol until the instant before he fired it.  In any event, plaintiff raised his hands above his head and was walking 5 or 6 feet ahead of the officer toward the police car when the incident in question occurred.  While walking toward the police vehicle, plaintiff cursed the officer and as they neared the car, plaintiff turned around, lowered his hands and grabbed for the officer.  The officer stepped back and fired one shot from the hip, the bullet entering the lower left jaw and exiting the left rear portion of the plaintiff’s neck. Plaintiff recovered but suffered some permanent impairment of the use of his jaw.

The Procedural Context

Plaintiff seeks damages for unlawful arrest and for personal injuries resulting from being shot by the arresting officer.  The issues on appeal are (1) the lawfulness of the arrest, which was made without a warrant for violation of a city ordinance relative to disturbing the peace; (2) was the arresting officer justified in shooting the plaintiff in self defense?

The Issue

What factors are to be considered for an effective self-defense claim?

The Holding 

After carefully considering all the circumstances, we think Officer Randolph reasonable believed he was in danger of substantial physical harm and the force that he used was not unreasonably excessive.  Hence, the officer’s privilege of self defense is recognized and recovery in tort is rejected.

The Reasoning for the Decision

The privilege of self-defense in tort actions is now well recognized by our jurisprudence.  When a person reasonably believes he is threatened with bodily harm, he may use whatever force appears to be reasonably necessary to protect against threatened injury.  Of course, each case depends on its own facts such as the relative size, age, and strength of the parties, their reputations for violence, who was the aggressor, the degree of physical harm reasonably feared, and the presence or absence of weapons.

The court determined that the plaintiff and defendant were of comparable weight, but that Officer Randolph was substantially older than the plaintiff.  Officer Randolph testified that he knew plaintiff has 15 to 20 prior convictions including escape and resisting arrest.  Plaintiff admitted that at the time of the incident in question he was on probation from the City Court of Jennings for a period of 5 years.  On the night of the incident, plaintiff had been drinking.  He admits to having had 4 beers.  Officer Randolph testified that because of his knowledge of the plaintiff’s past record for violence and law violation, his drinking at the time and stated determination not to go to jail, he thought plaintiff was going to resist arrest by physical force.  The officer admits that he did not see a weapon on the plaintiff, but said he didn’t know if the plaintiff was armed or not.  Of course, the officer had a pistol in his belt holster and if physical fight had ensued there was always the possibility that plaintiff could have obtained possession of the gun.  Of course, one of the factors to be considered in a tort action for battery is who was the aggressor.  In this case the plaintiff was the aggressor.  The mere fact that the plaintiff was the aggressor does not alone require a denial of recovery, but it is a factor to be considered along with all of the other circumstances.

The Procedural Result

For the reasons assigned, the judgement appealed is affirmed

Miscellaneous

Plaintiff’s counsel makes much of the fact that the officer had a “slap-stick” in his pocket, which he could have used (more reasonable??).  This was a small leather device weighted with lead.  Officer Randolph explained that since the slap-stick was in his pocket he did not have time to reach for it. 

Katko v. Briney

Supreme Court of Iowa, 1971

183 N. W. 2d 657

“The Shotgun Trap Case”

The Facts

The defendants owned a dilapidated, unoccupied, farmhouse that had been vandalized on numerous occasions resulting in the loss of household items, breaking of windows, “messing up of the property.”  Defendants through the years boarded up the windows and doors in an attempt to stop the intrusions.  They had posted “no trespass” signs on the land several years before 1967.  The nearest one was 35 feet from the house.  One June 11, 1967, the defendants set a “shotgun trap” in the north bedroom.  After Mr. Briney cleaned and oiled his 20-guage shotgun, the power if which, he was well aware, defendants took it to the old house where they secured it to an iron bed with the barrel pointed at the bedroom door.  It was rigged with wire from the doorknob to the gun’s trigger so it would fire when the door opened.  Briney first pointed the gun so an intruder would be hit in the stomach but at Mrs. Briney’s suggestion it was lowered to hit the legs.   He admitted he did so “because I was mad and tired of being tormented” but “he did not intend to injure anyone.”  He gave no explanation of why he used a loaded shell and set it to his a person already in the house.  Tin was nailed over the bedroom window.  No warning of its presence was posted.

Plaintiff and McDonough had been to the premises prior to July 16, 1967, and found several old bottles and fruit jars, which they took and added to their collection of antiques.  Plaintiff had observed the house for several years while hunting in the area and considered it abandoned.  On July 16, 1967, he and McDonough entered the old house by removing a board from a porch window, which was without glass. While McDonough was looking around the kitchen area, plaintiff went to another part of the house.  As he started to open the north bedroom door the shotgun went off striking him in the right leg above the anklebone.  Much of his leg, including is tibia, was blown away.  Only by McDonough’s assistance was plaintiff able to get out of the house and after crawling some distance was put in his vehicle and rushed to a doctor and then to a hospital.  He was in the hospital 40 days.  Plaintiff pleaded guilty to larceny in the nighttime of property of less than $20 value from a private building.  He was fined $50 and costs and paroled during good behavior from a 60 day jail sentence.  Other than minor traffic charges, this was plaintiff’s first brush with the law. 

The Procedural Context
The main thrust of defendants’ defense in the trial court and on this appeal is that the law permits use of a spring gum in a dwelling or warehouse for the purpose of preventing the unlawful entry of a burglar or thief.  They repeated this contention is their exceptions to the trial court’s statement of the issues and to other instructions. 

The Issue

The primary issue presented here is whether an owner may protect personal property in an unoccupied boarded-up farmhouse against trespassers and thieves by a spring gum capable of inflicting death or serious injury.   

 The Holding

The overwhelming weight of authority, both textbook and case law, supports the trail court’s statement of the applicable principles of law.

The Reasoning for the Decision

The possessor of land may not arrange his premises intentionally so as to cause death or serious bodily harm to a trespasser.  If he is present he may use force to do so, but only that amount which is reasonably necessary to effect the repulse.  Moreover, if the trespass threatened harm to property only, even a theft of property, the possessor would not be privileged to use deadly force, he may not arrange his premises so that such force will be inflicted by mechanical means.  If he does so, he will be liable to a thief who is injured by such device.

The Procedural Result 

Study and careful consideration of defendants’ contentions on appeal reveal no reversible error.

Dissent

The majority is confused as to the basis of liability under the circumstances revealed.  The trail court utterly failed to tell the jury it could find the installation was not made with the intent or purpose of striking or injuring the plaintiff.  The defendants stated the installation was made for the purpose of scaring or frightening away any intruder, not to seriously injure him.  This important issue was never adequately submitted to the jury.  The matter should be remanded for a jury determination of defendants’ intent in installing the device under instructions to a jury on the issue of intent. I can see no compelling reason why the use of such a device alone would create liability as a matter of law.

Ploof v. Putnam

Supreme Court of Vermont, 1908

81 Vt. 471, 71 A. 188

“Dock Employee Unties Boat During Storm Case”

The Facts

The plaintiff tied his boat up to a dock on November 13, 1904, during a sudden and violent storm so as to protect his wife and two minor children who were on board with him.  To save these form destruction or injury the plaintiff was compelled to, and did, moor the sloop to the defendant’s dock.  The defendant’s employee untied the sloop, whereupon it was driven upon the shore by the tempest, without the plaintiff’s fault, and that the sloop and its contents were thereby destroyed and the plaintiff and his wife and children were cast in the lake and upon the shore, receiving injuries.

The Procedural Context

The claim is set forth in two counts – one in trespass charging that the defendant by his servant with force and arms willfully and designedly untied the sloop; the other is case, alleging that it was the duty of the defendant by his servant to permit the plaintiff to moor his sloop to the dock, and to permit it to remain so moored during the storm, but tthat defendant by his servant, in disregard of this duty, negligently, carelessly, and wrongfully untied the sloop.  Both counts are demurred to generally.

The Issue

Can a person be held liable for violating a parties’ rights due to necessity?

The Holding
It is clear the any entry upon the land of another may be justified by necessity, and that the declaration before use discloses a necessity for mooring the sloop.

The Reasoning for the Decision
The Supreme Court of Vermont held that where, under stress of weather, a vessel was without permission moored to a private dock at an island in Lake Champlain owned by the defendant the plaintiff was not guilty of trespass, and tht the defendant was responsible in damages because his representative upon the island untied the vessel, permitting it to drift upon the shore, with resultant injuries to it.

The Procedural Result

Judgement affirmed and cause remanded.

Defendant’s Arguments

The defendant questions the sufficiency of the counts because they do not negtive the existence of natural objects to which the plaintiff could have moored with equal safety.  The defendant insists that the counts are defective, in that they fail to show that the servant is casting off the rope was acting with the scope of his employment.

Vincent v. Lake Erie Transportation Company

Supreme Court of Minnesota, 1910

109 Minn. 456, 124 N. W. 221

“The Damaged Dock Case”

The Facts

The Steamship Reynolds, owned by the defendant, was for the purpose of unloading cargo on November 27, 1905, moored to plaintiff’s dock in Duluth.  While, unloading the boat, a storm from the northeast developed.  The vessel lay upon outside of the dock, her bow to the east, the wind and waves striking her starboard quarter with such force that she was constantly being lifted and thrown against the dock, resulting in its damage, as found by the jury, in the amount of $500.

The Procedural Context
The appellant contends by ample assignments of error that, its conduct during the storm was rendered necessary by prudence and good seamanship under condtions over which it had no control, it cannot be held liable for injury resulting to the property of others, and claims that the jury should have been so instructed.  An analysis of the charge given by the trial court is not necessary, as in our opinion the only question for the jury was the amount of damages which the plaintiffs were entitled to recover, and no complaint is made upon that score.

The Issue

If one’s personal property is protected to the detriment of another’s property due to necessity, will the owner of the protected property be liable for damages?

The Holding

It seems to us that the vessel’s owners are responsible to the dock owners to the extent of the injury inflicted.

The Reasoning for the Decision

Those is charge of the vessel deliberately and by their direct efforts held the vessel in such a position that the damage to the dock resulted, and, having thus preserved the ship at the expense of the dock.  Defendant prudently and advisedly availed itself of the plaintiff’s property for the purpose of preserving its own more valuable property, and the plaintiffs are entitled to compensation for the injury done.

The Procedural Result

Order affirmed.

The Dissent
The plaintiff takes the risk of damage to his dock by a boat caught there by storm, which event could not have been avoided in the exercise of due care.  The damage to the dock, caused by the pounding of the boat, was the result of an inevitable accident.  If the master of the vessel was in the exercise of due care, he was not at fault.

United States v. Caltex (Philippines), Inc.

Supreme Court of the United States, 1952

344 U.S. 149

“The Oil Facilities Confiscated and Destroyed During World War II”

The Facts

Each of the respondent oil companies owned terminal facilities in the Pandacan district of Manila at the time of the Japanese attack upon Pearl Harbor.  These were used to receive, handle, and store petroleum products from incoming ships and to release them for further distribution through out the Philippine Islands.  The military situation in the Philippines grew worse and in the face of the Japanese advance, the Pandacan oil deposits were requisitioned by the U.S. Army.  The letter to the companies further stated that any action deemed necessary for the destruction of the property would be handled by the U. S. Army.  An engineer in the employ of one of the companies was commissioned a first lieutenant in the Army Corps of Engineers to facilitate this design.  On December 26, he received orders to prepare the facilities for demolition.  On December 27, 1941, while enemy planes were bombing the area, this officer met with representatives of the companies.  The orders of the Chief Engineer had been transmitted to the companies.  All remaining petroleum products and the vital parts of the plants were to be destroyed.  The representatives of Caltex were given, at their insistence, a penciled receipt for all the terminal facilities and stocks of Caltex.  At 5:40 p.m. on December 31, 1941, personnel completed a successful demolition.  The facilities were rendered useless to the enemy.  The enemy was deprived of a valuable logistic weapon.

The Procedural Context
After the war, respondents demanded compensation for all of the property, which had be used or destroyed by the Army.  The Government paid for the petroleum stocks and transportation equipment, which were either used or destroyed by the Army, but it refused to compensate respondents for the destruction of the facilities.  Claiming a constitutional right under the Fifth Amendment (“nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation”) to just compensation for these facilities, respondents sued in the Court of Claims.  Recovery was allowed.  The U. S. Supreme Court granted certiorari to review this judgement.

The Issue

Will necessity be a valid defense for the taking of private property during war?

The Holding

Therefore, whether or not the principle laid down by Justice Field was dictum when he enunciated it (the destruction or injury of private property in battle, or in the bombardment of cities and towns, and in many other ways in war, had to be borne by the sufferers alone, as one of its consequences, 1887), we hold that it is law today.

The Reasoning for the Decision

The common law had ling recognized that in times of imminent peril, such s when fire threatened a whole community, the sovreign could, with immunity, destroy the property of the few so that the property of the many and the lives of many more could be saved.  Had the Army hesitated, had the facilities be destroyed after retreat, respondents would certainly have no claims to compensation.  The terse language of the Fifth Amendment is no comprehensive promise that the United States will make whole all who suffer from every ravage and burden of war.  

The Procedural Result

Reversed.

The Dissent

I believe that the Fifth Amendment requires compensation for the taking.  It was as clearly appropriated to that end as animals, food, and supplies requisitioned for the defense effort.  As the Court says, the destruction of this property deprived the enemy of a valuable logistics weapon.  The guiding principle should be that whenever the government determines that one’s personal property, whatever it may be, is essential to the war effort and appropriated it for the common good, the public purse rather that\n the individual, should bear the loss.

Vaughn v. Menlove

132 Eng. Rep. 490 (C.P 1837)

“The Reasonable Person Standard of Care Case”

The Facts

At trial it appeared that the haystack in question had been made by defendant Vaughn near the property line of his own premises and that of plaintiff Menlove.  The hay was in such a state that discussions arose on the probability of fire and though there were conflicting opinions on the subject, over a period of five weeks the defendant was repeatedly warned of the peril and, on one occasion, being advised to take the haystack down replied “he would chance it.”  He made an aperture or chimney through the rick, but in spite of, or perhaps in consequence of this precaution, the rick at length bust into flames from the spontaneous heating of it s materials, the flames communicated to the defendant’s barn and stables, and thence to the plaintiff’s cottages, which were entirely destroyed.

The Procedural Context

The trial court judge, before whom the cause, was tried told the jury that the question for them to consider, was, whether the fire had been caused by gross negligence on the part of the defendant; adding, that he was bound to proceed with such reasonable caution as a prudent man would have exercised under such circumstances.

A verdict was found for the plaintiff.  A motion for a new trial was obtained on the ground that the jury should have been directed to consider, not, whether the defendant had been guilty of gross negligence with reference to the standard of ordinary prudence, a standard too uncertain to afford any criterion; but whether he had acted bona fide to the best of his judgement; if he had, he ought not be responsible for the misfortune of possessing the highest order of intelligence.  The action under such circumstances, was of the first impression.

The Issue
Does the standard of care for negligence turn on the actor’s “best judgement” or that of a “reasonable person?”

The Holding

There is a rule of law that says you must so enjoy your own property as not to injure that of another, and according to the rule the defendant is liable for the consequence of his own neglect.  Even though the defendant did not light the fire himself, he is as much at cause as if he had himself but a candle to the rick because it is well known that hay will ferment and take fire if it is not carefully stacked.

 The Reasoning for the Decision

It has been decided that if an occupier burns weeds so near the boundary of his own land that damage ensues to the property of his neighbor, he is liable to an action for the amount of injury done, unless the accident were occasioned by a sudden blast which he could not foresee.  But put the case of a chemist making experiments, singly innocent, but when combined, liable to ignite if he leave them together, and injury is thereby occasioned to the property of his neighbor, can any one doubt that an action on the case would lie?

Whether the jury charge should have been that the defendant acted honestly and bona fide to the best of his own judgement would be so vague a line as to afford no rule at all.

The Procedural Result

As to the direction of the trial judge, it was perfectly correct.  Under the circumstances of the case it was proper to leave it to the jury whether with reference to the caution which would have been observed by a man of ordinary prudence, the defendant has not been guilty of gross negligence.  After he had been warned repeatedly during the five weeks as to the consequences likely to happen, there is no reason for altering the verdict, unless it were to increase the damages.

Charbonneau v. MacRury

153 A. 457, 84 N.H. 501

“The Negligence of a Minor Case”
The Facts

Minor driver being sued for negligence

Plaintiff Charbonneau concedes that the infancy of a person is of material importance in determining whether he has been guilty of contributory negligence, but contends that a minor charged with actionable experience.

The Procedural Context

On appeal to the Supreme Court of New Hampshire

The Issue

Should a minor be held to a different standard of care in negligence actions?

The Holding

Yes.  The rule is that a child is only required to exercise that degree of care which the great mass of children of the same age ordinarily exercise under the same circumstances, taking into account the experience, capacity, and understanding of the child.  On the whole however, the contributory negligence cases do not seem to show an undue regard for the inevitable inferiorities of children and, therefore, it is probably safe to accept the standard to which a child must conform to avoid liability for harm caused to innocent outsiders as substantially the same as that to which he must conform to be free from contributory negligence.

The Reasoning for the Holding

A minor, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, is universally considered to be lacking in judgement.

Allowances must be made for the minor’s stage of development as one circumstance incident to the application of the general rule of reasonable care.

Reasonable conduct is demanded of both adults and minors.  The rule of reasonable conduct is constant but he reasonably ascertainable defects of the actor, whether adult or minor, are circumstances to be considered in its application.  

The Procedural Result

Judgement for the defendant, Elwood F. Macrury

On Motion for Rehearing

Plaintiff claimed that all operators licensed in the state are held to the same degree of care per statute.

The Legislature has not declared that all successful applicants shall be deemed to be of equal capacity and discretion in operating a vehicle.  The authorized license is not a certificate of the physical perfection of the adult or the mental maturity of the eligible minor.

Former result affirmed

Daniel v. Evans

107 N.H. 407, 224A.2d 63

“The Minor Driver Case (changing the standard)”

The Facts
Robert Daniels, 19 years old and deceased is being sued for negligence as a result of a car accident.

The Procedural Context

The case is being appealed and the charge to the jury is being challenged.  The jury charged was “Now, he considered a minor, being under the age of 21, and a minor child must exercise the care of the average child of his or her age, experience, and stage of mental development.  In other words, his is not held to the same degree of care as an adult.

The Issue

The question is raised by the defendant in this case whether the standard of care applied to minors in such cases should prevail when the minor is engaged in activities normally undertaken by adults.  The defendant maintains that the minor’s conduct in that instance should meet the same standards as that of an adults.

The Holding

Hold that when a minor engages in such activities as the operation of an automobile or similarly power driven device, he forfeits his rights to have the reasonableness of his conduct measured by a standard commensurate with his age and is, therefore, held to the same standard as all other persons.

We hold, therefore, that a minor operating a vehicle, whether an automobile or a motorcycle, must be judged by the same standard of care as an adult and the defendant’s objection to the trial court’s charge applying a different standard to the conduct of the plaintiff’s intestate was valid.

The Reasoning for the Holding
One cannot know whether the operator  of an  approaching automobile is a minor or an adult, and usually cannot protect himself against youthful imprudence, even if warned.

We consider it to be a matter of paramount public policy, in fact a rule of necessity, that society in that their statute which permits the licensing vehicles upon our highways to be charged with equal responsibility in the operation of motor vehicles regardless of age.

There is some indication of the intent on the part of our legislature that all drivers must, and have the right to expect that others using the highways, regardless of their age and experience, will, obey the traffic laws and thus exercise the adult standard of ordinary care.  The legislature has again indicated its intent to have the conduct of minors who are engaged in adult activities treated in the same manner and judged by the same standards as adults (statute that permits the exercise of the state a “parens patriae” over minors who are charged with a violation of motor vehicle law, aeronautic law, navigation of boats, or hunting)  .

To apply to minors a more lenient standard in the operation of motor vehicles than that applied to adutls is unrealistic, contrary to the expressed legislative policy, and detrimental to public safety.   

The Procedural Result
All concurred.  Exception sustained.

Goss v. Allen

360 A.2d 388 (N.J. 1976)

“What is an Adult Activity Case”

The Facts

The plaintiff, an experienced skier, was serving as a first aid adviser on the ski patrol at the Mad River Glen ski resort in Vermont.  The facility includes a beginners’ slope which near its end makes an abrupt left turn.  The accident occurred some 60 feet beyond the end of the slope in a flat area where plaintiff and a friend happened to be standing taking pictures.  Plaintiff had been working is the first aid room which is adjacent to where plaintiff and her friend were standing. 

Defendant, the 17 years of age, was a novice skier who had limited cross-country skiing experience but had never attempted downhill run.  Nor had he ever been to Mad River Glen before.  Upon arrival, defendant was sent to the beginners’ slope.  However, instead of riding the mechanical T-bar lift to the top, defendant confined his first rum to the lower portion of the slope.  He walked a quarter of the way up the hill and then began to ski down, successfully completing the comparatively short run of 30 feet or so until he came to the abrupt left turn.  In attempting to negotiate the turn, defendant lost control over his momentum and direction.  He saw the two girls ahead of him but because of the short distance remaining, his efforts to regain control and his lack of experience, he did not call out until he was almost upon the girls.  Plaintiff attempted to get out of the way but was unable to do so and was struck and knocked down by the defendant.

The Procedural History

Prior to trial, the court ruled that the law of the case would be the law of Vermont.  Counsel have agreed that Vermont law was to this accident is the same as New Jersey.

The trial court charged the jury that the standard of care applicable to the case was not the same degree of care required of an adult, but rather that degree of care which a reasonably prudent person of that age (defendant was 17 years of age) would have used under the same or similar circumstances.  Following a side bar conference, the court supplemented its charge with the following:

“…. It does not impose any higher or any lower standard of care that can reasonable be expected of a 17 year old with respect to the experience and background athat Mr. Allen had.”

There was not exception taken to the charge.  As  heretofore noted, the jury in answer to an interrogatory submitted to it found the defendant not negligent.  Plaintiff appealed solely on the ground that the jury verdict was against the weight of the evidence.

The appellate court, on its own accord, raised the issue of plain error in the court’s charge on the applicable standard of care.   The Appellate Division reversed and remanded for a new trial finding plain error in the charge.  In essence, the Appellate Division held that skiing was an adult activity and that where a child engages in an activity which is normally undertaken by adults, such as skiing, he should be held to the standard of adult, skill, knowledge, and competence, without allowance for his immaturity.  The Appellate Division added that had an adult standard of care been imposed, as it should have been, the jury might well have found defendant negligent.

The Holding

We find nothing in the record to support the Appellate Division’s conclusion.  The trial court, therefore, charged the jury correctly as the standard od care applicable to the 17-year old defendant herein.  Also, the verdict returned was not against the weight of the evidence

The Reasoning for the Holding

We think it judicially noticeable that skiing as a recreational sport, save for limited hazardous skiing activities, is engaged in by persons of all ages.  Defendant’s attempt to negotiate the lower end of the beginners' slope certainly cannot be characterized as a skiing activity that as a matter of law was hazardous to others and required that he be held to an adult standard of care.

The activities mentioned in the New Jersey law required that the minor must be licensed and must first demonstrate the requisite degree of adult competence (driving a motor vehicle, operating a motor boat, and hunting).  

The Procedural Result
The Judgement of the Appellate Division is reversed and the judgement of the trial court in favor of defendant is hereby reinstated

For reversal and reinstatement. 

The Dissent

The standard of care now made generally applicable to minors does not square with reality, nor does its purported application justify the charge given.

That simply stated that Allen has to exercise the same care as someone of the same age, experience, and background.  This charge does not equate with the standard adopted today by the majority, namely that Allen must act in accordance with the conduct of a reasonable person of the same age, intelligence, and experience under the same the same circumstances.

The significance of the omission of intelligence in the charge becomes apparent when one recognizes the importance of that factor in fixing the required standard of care.  Intelligence in this context relates to mental and judgmental capacity but not the exercise of that capacity.  Centers about the judgmental capacity factor to comprehend, understand, and perceive risk and danger.

The trial court’s supplemental charge omitted any reference to the defendant’s intellectual capacity and failed to clearly instruct the jury to measure the defendant’s judgment against that of the average 17 year old with the same intellectual capacity.  The jury could not possible have understood the subjective-objective which the Court is adopting this day.  So even assuming the correctness of the principle adopted by the majority, in view of the several conflicting instructions given to the juty, a new trial is warranted. 

Breunig v. American Family Insurance Company

45 Wis. 2d 536

173 N.W. 2d 619 (1970)

“The Woman Who Let God Drive the Car”

The Facts

The evidence established that Mrs. Veith, while returning home after taking her husband to work, saw a white light on the back of the car ahead of her.  She followed this light for thee or four blocks.  Mrs. Veith did not remember anything except landing in a field, lying on the side of the road, and people talking.  She recalled waking in the hospital.  The psychiatrist testified Mrs.Veith told him she was driving on a road when she believed that God was taking hold of the steering wheel and was directing her car.  She saw the truck coming and stepped on the gas in order to become air-borne because she knew she could fly because Batman does.  To her surprise she was not air borne before striking the truck but after the impact she was flying..  Actually Mrs. Veith’s car continued west on highway 19 for about a mile.  The road was straight for this distance and them made a gradual turn to the right.  At this turn,  her car left the road in a straight line, negotiated a deep ditch and came to rest in a cornfield.  When a traffic officer came to the car to investigate the accident, he found Mrs, Veith sitting behind the wheel looking off into space.  He could not get a statement of any kind from her.  She was taken to Methodist Hospital and later transferred to the psychiatric ward of the Madison General Hospital.  The psychiatrist testified that Mrs. Veith was suffering from “schizophrenic reaction, paranoid type, acute” he stated that from the tie Mrs. Veith commenced following the care with the white light and ending with the stopping of her vehicle in the cornfield, she was not able to operate the vehicle and that she had not knowledge or forewarning that such illness or disability would likely occur.

The Procedural Context

Erma Veith was overcome with a mental delusion while driving and crossed the center line of the roadway, striking Plaintiff Bruenig’s vehicle.  The plaintiff sued Veith’s automobile liability insurer and a jury returned verdict finding her causally negligent on the theory that she had knowledge or forewarning of her mental delusions.  On appeal, the insurer argued that Veith could not be negligent as a matter of law because she was unable to drive with a conscious mind based on the sudden mental delusion.  The Supreme Court created a limited exception to the common law rule, holding that insanity could be a defense in the rare case “where the person is suddenly overcome without forewarning by a mental disability for disorder which incapacitates him from conforming his conduct to the standards of a reasonable man under the circumstances.  However, because the court concluded that there was sufficient evidence for the jury to find that Veith had forewarning of the mental delusion, she was not entitled to use her condition as a defense.

The Issue

The insurance company argues Veith was not negligent as a matter of law because there is no evidence upon which the jury could find that she had knowledge or warning or should have reasonably foreseen that she might be subject to a mental delusion which would suddenly cause her to lose control of the car.  Plaintiff Breunig argues there was such evidence of forewarning and also suggests that Veith should be liable because insanity should not be a defense to negligence.  The specific question considered by the jury under the negligence inquiry was whether she had such foreknowledge of her susceptability to such a mental aberration, delusion, or hallucination as to make her negligent in drivinga car at all under such conditions.

The Holding

We agree with the insurance company.  Not all types of insanity vitiate responsibility for a negligent tort.  The question of liability in every case must depend upon the kind and nature of the insanity.  All we hold is that a sudden mental incapacity equivalent in its effect to such physical causes as a sudden heat attack, epileptic seizure, stroke, or fainting should be treated alike and not under the general rule of insanity, where it is generally held that that insanity in not a defense in tort cases except for intentional torts. 

The Reasoning for the Holding
The effect of the mental illness or mental hallucinations or disorder must be such as to affect the person’s ability to understand and appreciated the duty which rests upon him to drive his car with ordinary care, or if the insanity does not affect such understanding and appreciation, it must affect his ability to control his car in an ordinarily prudent manner.  And in addition, there must be an absence of notice of forewarning to the person that he may be suddenly subject to such a type of insanity or mental illness.

The Procedural Result

Affirmed 

Gould v. American Family Mutual Insurance Company

198 Wis.2d 450,543 N.W.2d 282

“The Alzheimer’s Patient Case”

The Facts

Monicken was diagnosed with Alzheimer’s disease after displaying bizarre and irrational behavior.  As a result of his deteriorating condition, his family was later force to admit him to the St. Croix Health Care Center.  Plaintiff Gould was the head nurse of the center’s dementia unit and took care of him on several occasions.  Monicken’s records from St. Croix indicate that he was often disoriented, resistant to care, and occasionally combative.  When not physically restrained, he often went into other patients’ rpoms and sometime resisted being removed by the staff.  On one such occasion, Gould attempted to redirect Monicken to his own room by touching him on the elbow.  She sustained injuries when Monicken responded by knocking her to the floor.      

The Procedural History
The Court of Appeals affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded to circuit court with direction.  After presenting its case, American Family proposed giving instructions and a special verdict that directed the jury to decide as a threshold question of law, whether Monicken had the mental capacity to understand and appreciate the duty to act with reasonable care at the time of the incident based on his Alzheimer’s disease.  The trial court denied this request.  The court instructed the jury to disregard any evidence related to Monicken;s mental condition and to determine his negligence under the objective reasonable person standard.  The jury found Monicken totally negligent and a judgement of liability was ordered entered against American Family.

The court of appeals granted American Family’s interlocutory appeal and reversed the judgement, holding that "a person may not be held civilly liable where a mental condition deprives the person of the ability to control his or her conduct.”  The court remanded the case “for a mental condition prevented him from controlling or appreciating the consequences of his conduct.  Both the Goulds and American Family petitioned this court for review.  The Goulds argue that the court of appeals abandoned clear, long-standing precedent in determining that mental disability may constitute a defense to negligence.  American Family agrees with the court of appeals’ holding, but petitioned for cross review to reverse the court’s remand mandate.  American Family asserts that a remand is unnecessary because Monicken;s mental incapacity was virtually conceded at trial.

The Holding

The court of appeals erroneously perceived the underlying premise of Breunig to be that s person should not be held negligent where a mental disability prevents that person from controlling his or her conduct.  By limiting it holding to cases of sudden, mental disability, the Bruenig court chose not to adopt that broad premise.  We also decline to do so. 

In sum, we agree with the Goulds that ordinarily a mentally disabled person is responsible for his or her torts.  However, we conclude that his rule does not apply in this case because the circumstances totally negate the rationale behind the rule and would place an unreasonable burden on the negligent institutionalized mentally disabled.  When a mentally disabled person injures an employed caretaker, the injured party can reasonably foresee the danger and is not “innocent “ of the risk involved.

The Reason for the Holding

By analogy this court relied on public policy considerations to exonerate negligent fire-starters or homeowners from liability for injures suffered by the firefighters called to extinguish the fire.  This court held that to make one who negligently starts a fire respond in damages to a firefighter who is injured, placed too great a burden on the homeowner because the hazardous situation is the very reason the fireman’s aid was enlisted.  Likewise, Gould, as the head nurse in the secured dementai unti and Monicken’s caretaker, had express knowledge of the potential danger inherent in dealing with Alzheimer’s patients in general and Monicken in particular.  Holding Monicken negligent under these circumstances places too great a burden on him because his disorientation and potential for violence is the very reason he was institutionalized and needed the aid of employed caretakers.

The Procedural Result

Accordingly, we reverse that part of the decision of the court of appeals remanding the case to the trial court for a determination on the issue of Monicken’s mental capacity.  We remand to the trial court with directions to enter judgement for American Family in accordance with this decision.  The decision of the court of appeals is affirmed in part and reversed in part, the cause is remanded to the circuit court with directions to enter judgement is accordance with this decision.

Titus v. Bradford, B&K. R. Co.

20 A. 517 (Pa. 1890)

“The Railroad Track Negligence Case”

The Facts

Among other cars in the train, and immediately preceding the narrow gauge box-car, was a standard guage New york, Pennsylvania and Ohio box car, which had been transferred to a narrow gauge truck by the defendant company.  The blocking under his box-car in some manner became loose, and the car, at the same time striking a curve itn the road, tipped over.  The body of the car rolled over, leaving the tracks, , Titus who was sitting on too of the brake, which was elevated several feet above the car, ran down across the side of the body of the car as it tipped over, and jumped upon the track just ahead of the rear trucks, which had been under thecar.  The rear portion of the train remaining on the track, by its momentum pushed three trucks upon Titus before he could escape, thereby causing the injuries, which resulted in his death.  At the time of his death he was 20 year and 3 months old and unmarried.  This action is brought by his mother, his father being deceased, to recover compensation for the loss of his services.

The Procedural History

An appeal from the court of common pleas.

The Holding

The court held that there could be no recovery because though the service was dangerous, the plaintiff accepted it fully aware of all its risks and not negligence was shown.  Fail to find any evidence of defendant’s negligence.

The Reason for the Holding

In the action for the wrongful death of a brakeman, it appeared that defendant was in the habit of transferring the bodies of broad-gauge cars to it narrow-gauge trucks, for the purpose of transporting them over its line.  The usual appliances were used to make the broad-gauge cars secure on the narrow-gauge trucks, and plaintiff’s intestate had formerly assisted in transferring such cars, and knew of the risks associated with running them on narrow-gauge tracks.  While riding on the top of the car that had been transferred, the blocking that held it on the trucks became loose and it turned over, causing the death.

It was a regular part of the defendant’s business of marrow-gauge railroads and the plaintiff’s evidence makes no attempt to show that the way it was done was either dangerous or unusual.  Even if the poactice was shown to be dangerous, that would not show it to be negligent.  “reasonably safe” means safe the usage, habits, and ordinary risks of the business.  Absolute safety is unattainable and employers are not insurers.  Juries must necessarily determine the responsibility of individual conduct, but they cannot be allowed to set up a standard, which shall, in effect, dictate the customs or control the business of a community.  It was the custom of at least two other narrow-gauge roads to use the same procedure.

The Procedural Result
It was a perfectly plain case of acceptance of employment, with full knowledge of the risks.  Judgement reversed.

Mayhew v. Sullivan Mining Co.

76 Me. 100 (1884).

“The Miner’s Ladder-Hole Case”

The Facts

Plaintiff Mayhew, an independent contractor, was hired by defendant Sullivan Mining Co. to trace veins of new ore.  Mayhew worked on a platform, which was over 250 feet about the bottom of the mine shaft.  Mayhew claimed that on the day of the accident, the defendant carelessly and negligently caused a hole three feet in length by 26 inches in breadth to be cut for a ladder hole in the platform near the center of the platform, directly behind the bucket-hold and twenty inches away from it, without placing any rail or barrier about it, or any light or other warning, and without giving plaintiff notice that any such dangerous modification had been made.  Mayhew in the ordinary course of business got on the platform and fell through the new hole a distance of 35 feet and received serious injuries.  The ladder hole was made by Stanley under the direction of the superintendent.

The Procedural History
The defendant sought to ask Stanley at trial whether he had ever known ladder holes at a low level to be railed or fenced around, whether as a miner he thought it was feasible to use a ladder hole with a railing around it, or whether he had ever seen a ladder hole in a mine below the surface with a railing around it.  The court refused to allow the questions to be asked.  The jury found negligence and returned a verdict for Mayhew.

The Holding

The court thinks the questions were properly excluded.  It would have not tendency to show that the act was consistent with ordinary prudence or due regard for the safety of those who were usig their premises by their invitation.  The gross carelessness of the act appears conclusively on its recital.  Defendants counsel argue that “if is should appear that they rarely had railings, then it tends to show no want of ordinary car in that respect.”  The argument proceeds upon an erroneous idea of what constitutes ordinary care.  Custom and average have not proper place in its definition.  It should be no excuse for want of ordinary care that carelessness was universal about the matter, or at the place of the accident, or in business generally…

The Procedural Result

Affirmed

The T. J. Hooper

53 F.2d 107 (S.D.N.Y. 1931)

The Facts
These cases grow out of the foundering (sinking) of the coal barges Northern 17 and Northern 30 in a storm off the New Jersey coast in March 1928.  Suits have been filed by the owners of the coal on the two barges for cargo loss against the barge owners.  The owner of the tugs T.J. Hooper and Montrsoe have also instituted limitation proceedings, in which it seeks to be relieved from liability and at the same time denies fault.  In these limitation proceedings, the barge owner has answered, asserting negligent towage by the tugs, and claiming for the value of  the barges.  The cargo owners have also answered, alleging negligent towage, and contesting the right to limit.  The cases have all been tried together as one action.

It is the contention of the cargo owners that the Northern 17 and Northern 30 were unseaworthy when they left Hampton Roads, the two tugs were negligent in not anticipating the storm which broke on March 9th, and in not taking refuge at Delaware breakwater, and that the two tugs were unseaworthy in not having effective radio sets, not capable of receiving forecasts of unfavorable weather broadcast along the coast.

The Northern 17 was overloaded, especially after the been sprinkled with water.  It was loaded too deep and was lower in the water that it had ever been .  Captain Thomas admitted that Northern 30 leaked a foot and a foot and a half in 24 hours after she is the stream .  He also stated that the barge had always leaked.  The rule in admiralty is that declaration of a master are admissible, even though not a part of the res gestae.

The Holding

I hold therefore that the libels of the cargo owners against the owners of the barges have been sustained, that the tugs were unseaworthy in failing to have effective radio sets capable of receiving weather reports on March 8th, and that the limitation proceedings instituted in their behalf should be denied, that the claim of the cargo owners against the tugs should be allowed, that the damage sustained by the cargo owners should be divided between the owner of the tugs and te owner of the barges, that the owner of the barges is entitled to recover half damages from the tugs, and that the successful parties are entitled to costs.

The Reason for the Holding

From a careful reading of the testimony of the masters of the three tugs who went to harbor, I am satisfied that the radio reports on March 8th were what induced those tugs and tows to enter the breakwater and that without such reports none of the tugs would have stopped there.  I think, therefore, that unless Hooper and Montrose were under a duty to have radios capable of receiving reports of that kind, the charge against them of negligence must necessarily fail

.I think, therefore, there was a duty on the part of the tug owner to supply  effective receiving sets.  I cannot escape the conclusion, therefore, that if the two tugs had had proper radios in good working order, on March 8th they would have sought harbor in the breakwater.

On Appeal

There are precautions so imperative that even their universal disregard will not excuse their ommission.  The injury was a direct consequence of this unseaworthiness (not having receiving radio sets).  Decree affirmed.

Lucy Webb Hayes Training School v. Perotti

419 F. Fd 704,710 (D.C. Cir. 1969)

“Hospital’s Negligence for Patient’s Suicide Case”

The Facts

Until the spring of 1963, the deceased led a quiet life with no hint of mentnal illness, so far as the record reveals.  Married and the father of two young boys, he worked as a cartographer for the Army Map Service.  In April or May of that year, however, he applied for an inter-agency transfer and, as part of that process, took a polygraph test.  Vague but terrifying fears concerning the results settled upon his life.  He had trouble sleeping and withdrew from social activities.  Hie appetite disappeared and by the end of the summer he had lost 25 pounds.  Mr. Perotti’s wife induced him to have a check-up from the family physician and the family physician recommended consultation with a psychiatrist.  The deceased made an appointment with Dr. Santucci who concluded that the patient could “best be treated in a hospital setting.  Mr. Perotti accepted this advice, and that same evening, September 3, 1963, entered Ward 7-W, the psychiatric wing at Sibley Memeorial Hospital.  Sr. Santucci tentatively diagnosed the deceased’s condition as “paranoid depression”.  The initial treatment plan included a type of tranquilizer that normally produced its best results three or four weeks after therapy begins.  Mr. Perotti, however, became impatient before then and expressed a great interest in going home and returning to work.  Dr. Santucci strongly favored further hospitalization and even went so far as to prepare the physician’s certificate necessary to commit Mr. Perotti involuntarily to an institution in Maryland, where he resided.  The certificate, a part of the hospital’s records indicated that Mr. Perotti was suicidal at the time.  Both Mr. Perotti and his wife were opposed to commitment, however, and the patient began to to show some improvement, apparently because of the drug therapy.  For either or both of these reasons, Dr. Santucci pursued the commitment matter no further.  But since he felt Mr. Perotti’s improvement was somewhat superficial, he still favored further hospitalization at Sibley.  On September 26, 1963, Dr. Santucci discharged Mr. Perotti as “improved but not fully recovered.  Although the plaintiff testified in her deposition that this discharge was not against Dr. Santucci;s advice, his discharge note in the patient’s record stated, “He is being discharged under my protest but he is not so ill as the committable.”

Mr. Perotti returned to work that fall, resumed his social activities, and regained some of his lost weight.  Early in January 1964, however, his medication ran out and he did not renew the prescription.  He suffered a relapse of his condition to the point of collapse.  Mrs. Perotti called Dr. Lertora, who was covering Dr. Santucci’s practice since he was away from town that weekend.  Dr. Lertora spoke with Mr. Perotti over the telephone, found his speech to be slow and depressed and suggested a return to the hospital.  Mr. Perotti agrees and returned to the hospital early that afternoon, a Saturday.   Dr. Lertora, who did not see the patient personally, advised the nurse in charge of Ward 7-W to administer only sleeping medications and to keep Mr. Perotti under observation.  As on his first admission, and as was customary with new patients generally, Mr. Perotti was admitted to the closed portion of the psychiatric wing, which was separated from the front or open section reserved for less disturbed patients by a solid door that was kept looked.  He spent a quiet afternoon talking with his wife, when she visited.  The psychiatric technician reported that he was chain-smoking an non-communicative and refused to eat.

Early the next morning, Mr. Perotti asked to go to the open section and was told he could not until his physician gave orders to the contrary.  Shortly thereafter, a nurse observed him standing in a corridor in the open section.  No one knew how he got there, the most obvious possibility suggested was that he had slipped through while the normally locked door was open to permit the food cart carrying breakfast to enter the closed section.  A nurse asked a technician to return Mr. Perotti to the proper section.  When the technician reached the patient who was in the solarium at the far end of the corridor, Mr. Perotti cooperated and began walking back to the closed section.  After about 10 steps, Mr. Perotti wheeled and ran back to the solarium and dived through the seventh floor window.  The window was 4.5 by 5.0 feet and was one-quarter inch laminated safety glass.  It was unbarred (like the bedroom in both sections of the psychiatric wing).  Since the hospital sought to create an open, unrestricted atmosphere wherever possible in the ward, only the two seclusion rooms and the window at the end of the hall in the closed section were grated.

The Procedural History

Mrs. Perotti, as administratrix of Mr. Perotti;s estate, obtained a jury verdict for $60,000 against the appellant corporation, which operates the hospital, under the District of Columbia wrongful death statute.

The hospital argues that there was not sufficient evidence of negligent by its agents or employees to support a verdict against it.  The plaintiff made numerous allegations of negligence against the hospital; however, she relied principally on the failure to place stronger glass in its windows that would present patients from crashing through, and upon the carelessness of the hospital personnel in allowing Mr. Perotti to slip from the closed to the open section of the ward.  The plaintiff also submitted as evidence of negligence a municipal regulation dealing with the confinement and care of “delirious and maniacal” patients.  The hospital, in arguing the insufficiency of the evidence to support a verdict against it, devoted a sizeable portion of its brief to a description of modern trends in caring for the mentally ill.  Philosophy has change from one of resigned despair which viewed the mentally ill as hopeless, helpless victims of their affliction.  The sprawling, isolated institutions spawned by that philosophy are relics of attitudes that society and the psychiatric profession have not outgrown, that the mentally ill could be cared for but not cured, that physical restraints were the necessary response to psychic distress, that the sick should be out of sight, where they could neither contaminate nor inconvenience the well.  The modern trend is not to confine rhe mentally ill, however benevolently, but rather to enable them to function in society.  The hospital’s implicit punch line is that courts should not discourage innovations in treatment by applying standards of reasonable care which reflect attitudes now discarded in the psychiatric world concerning the sort of confinement and restraints necessary for mentally ill patients.  The hospital proceeds in its strictly legal argument in this case:  That a showing of negligence could only rest upon expert testimony, which plaintiff failed to produce, that the hospital did not care for Mr. Perotti with the “skill and diligence customarily exercised by hospitals generally in the community.”        

The Issue

Will expert testimony be required to determine a hospital’s negligence relative to a patient’s suicide?  Is the jury provided with sufficient evidence without the expert testimony? 

The Holding
We reject the hospital’s contention of insufficient evidence.  We think the jury could find negligence on the part of the hospital without the assistance of expert testimony.  The jury could reasonably conclude that the hospital’s failure to observe the standards it had itself established represented negligence.  This is not a case where a determined patient committed suicide or a calculated risk was taken for therapeutic reasons.  Also the jury could consider the factors that a psychiatric examination was not performed upon admittance and his records were not made available to the staff (locked up).  Whether attended or not, he was only in the open section because he had strayed there on his own initiative without an attendant.  We believe that the jury could reasonably find the if the hospital was negligent in allowing him to slip through the normally-locked and guarded door to the closed ward, this negligence was a proximate cause of his subsequent successful effort to take his own life.      

The Reasoning for the Holding

Since the plaintiff did not introduce any expert evidence on these matters, a verdict resting only upon the hospital’s allegedly negligent use of safety glass could not be allowed to stand.  But the plaintiff did not rely only upon the design of Ward 7-W to establish negligence.  A critical part of the plaintiff’s case was that Mr. Perotti committed suicide only after straying from the closed to the open section of the ward.  The plaintiff introduced no expert testimony that reasonable prudence by hospital staff members would prevent mental patients from leaving the closed ward unattended.  The plaintiff sough to show that the hosptial itself had established the appropriate standard of care, i.e. that patients on the closed ward should not be allowed to wander in the open section, and then fell short of its own standard.  Other evidence provided was the doctor on call sating “this should not have happened,”  nurse at the staiton was supposed to monitor patients going between the closed and open sections, and hospital polices and procedures concerning the requirement that a staff member accompany a closed-section patient when he went to the open section or elsewhere in the hospital.

The Procedural Result

Because the trail court incorrectly instructed the jury that a violation by the hospital of a 1909 municipal regulation governing the maintenance of hospitals would constitute negligent per se, however, we reverse the judge and remand for a new trial. 

Brune v. Belinkoff

235 N.E. 2d 793 (Mass 1968)

“The Botched Child Delivery Case”

The Facts

The plaintiff was delivered on a baby on October 4, 1958, at St. Luke’s Hospital in New Bedford.  During the delivery, the defendant, a specialist in anesthesiology practicing in New Bedford, administered a spinal anesthetic to the plaintiff containing eight milligrams of pontocaine in one cubic centimeter of ten percent solution of glucose.  When plaintiff attempted to get out of bed eleven hours later, she slipped and fell to the floor.  The plaintiff subsequently complained of numbness and weakness in her left leg, an affliction which appears to have persisted at the time of trial.  Testimony was given by eight physicians.  Much of it related to the plaintiff’s condition.  There was ample evidence that her condition resulted from an excessive dosage of pontocaine.  There was medical evidence that the dosage of eight milligrams of pontocaine was excessive and that good medical practice required a dosoge of five milligrams of less.  There was also medical evidence, including testimony pf the defendant, to the effect that a dosage of eight milligrams in one cubic centimeter of ten percent dextrose was proper.  There was evidence that that dosage was customary in New Bedford in a case, as here, of a vaginal delivery.

The Procedural History

In this action of tort for malpractice, Plaintiff Theresa Brune seeks to recover from the defendant because of alleged negligence in administering a spinal anesthetic.  There is a count by the plaintiff’s husband for consequential damages.  The jury returned verdicts for the defendant on each count.  The case comes here on plaintiff’s exception to the judge’s refusal to grant certain requests for instructions, to portions of the charge, and to the denial of the plaintiff’s motion for a new trial.  Plaintiff wanted the following question asked :  “As a specialist, the defendant owed the plaintiff the duty to have use the care and skill commonly possessed and used by similar specialists in like circumstances.”  The portion of the charge excepted was, “The defendant must measure up to the standard of professional care and skill ordinarily possessed by others in the community, which is New Bedford, and its environs, of course, where he practices, having regard to the current state of advance of the professions. 

The Issue
The basic issue raised by the exceptions to the charge and to the refused request is whether the defendatn was to be judged by the standard of doctors practicing in New Bedford.  The instructions given to the jury was based on the rule, often called the ‘communiyt’ or ‘locality’ rule (1880)., wherein a county doctor was sued for not being able to do skilled surgery.

The Holding

We are of the opinion that the “locality” rule of Small v. Howard which measures a physician’s conduct by the other doctors in similar communities is unsuited to present day conditions.  The time has come when the medical profession should no longer be Balkanized by the application of varying geographic standards in malpractice cases.  Accordingly Small v. Howard is hereby overruled.  The present case affords a good illustration of the inappropriateness of the ‘locality” rule to existing conditions.  The defendant was a specialist in New Bedford, a city of 100,000, which is slightly more thatn fifty miles form Boston, one of th medical centers of the nation.

The Reasoning for the Holding
Today, with rapid methods of transportation and easy means of communication, the horizons have been widened, and the duty of a doctor is not fulfilled merely by utilizing the means at hand in the particular village where he is practicing.  So far a medical treatment is concerned, the borders of the locality and community have, in effect, been extended so as to include those centers readily accessible where appropriate treatment may be had which the local physician, because of limited facilities or training is unable to give.  One holding himself out as a specialist should be held to the standard of care and skill of the average member of the profession practicing the specialty, taking into account the advances of the profession.  And as in the case of the general practitioner, it is permissible to consider the medical resources available to him.  The brochure’s recommended dosage was not more than a recommendation, and there was a difference of opinion among the anesthesiologists as to whether the failure to follow it was proper practice.  The judge rightly refused to give the requested instruction (The Failure of the defendant to follow the instruction of the manufacturer in the use of pontocaine is evidence of negligence”).

The Procedural Result

Reversed

Helling v. Cary

519 P.2d 981 (Wash 1974)

“The Glaucoma Case”

The Facts

Plaintiff Barbara Helling suffers form primary open angle glaucoma.  Primary open angle glaucoma is essentially a condition of the eye in which there is an interference in the ease with which the nourishing fluids can flow out of the eye.  Such a condition results in pressure gradually rising above the normal level to such an extent that damage is produced to the optic nerve and its fibers with resultant loss in vision.  The first loss usually occurs in the periphery of the field of vision.  The disease usually has few symptoms, and, in the absence of a pressure test, is often undetected until the damage has become extensive and irreversible.  The defendants are partners who practice the medical specialty of ophthalmology. Ophthalmology involves the diagnosis and treatment of defects and diseases of the eye.  The plaintiff first consulted the defendants in September 1963, concerning irritation caused by contact lenses.  Additional consultations occurred in October 1963, February 1967, September 1967, October 1967, May 1968, July 1968, September 1968, and October 1968.  Until the October 1968, consultation, the defendants considered the plaintiff’s visual problems to be related solely to complications associated with her contact lenses.  On that occasion, the defendant, Dr. Carey, tested the plaintiff’s eye pressure for the first time.  This test indicated that the plaintiff had glaucoma.  The plaintiff, who was32 years of age, had essentially lost her peripheral vision and her central vision was reduced to approximately 5 degrees vertical by 10 degrees horizontal.  Thereafter, in August of 1969, after consulting other physicians, the plaintiff filed a complaint against the defendants alleging, among other things, that she sustained sever and permanent damage to her eyes as a proximate result of the defendants’ negligence.  During trial, the testimony of the medical experts for both the plaintiff and the defendants established that the standards of the profession for that specialty in the same or similar circumstances do not require routine pressure test for glaucoma upon patients under 40 years of age.  The reason the pressure test for glaucoma is not given as a regular practice to patients under the age of 40 is that the disease rarely occurs in this age group.  Testimony indicated, however, that the standards of the profession do require pressure tests if the patient’s complaints and sumptoms reveal to the physician that glaucoma could be suspected

The Procedural History

This cases arises from a malpractice action instituted by the plaintiff.  The trail court entered judgement for the defendants following a defense verdict.  The plaintiff thereupon appealed to the Court of Appeals, which affirmed the judgement of the trial court.  The plaintiff then petitioned this Court for review, when was granted.  The plaintiff’s primary contention is that under the facts of this case the trial judge erred in giving certain instruction to the jury and refusing her proposed instructions defining the standard of care which the law imposes upon an ophthalmologist.  As a result, the plaintiff contends, in effect, that she was unable to argue her theory of the case to the jury that the standard of care for the specialty of ophthalmology was inadequate to protect the plaintiff from the incidence of glaucoma, and that defendants, by reason of their special ability, knowledge, and information were negligent in failing to give the pressure test to the plaintiff at an earlier point in time which, if given, would have detected her condition and enabled the defendants to have averted the resulting substantial loss in her vision.

This Issue

Will the medical profession be held to a standard of care higher than that customarily used by the profession?

The Holding

We find this to be a unique case..  We, therefore hold, as a matter of law, that the reasonable standard that should have been followed under the undisputed facts of this case was the timely giving of this siimple, harmless pressure test to this plaintiff and that, in failing to do so, the defendants were negligent, which proximately resulted in the blindness sustained by the plaintiff for which the defendants are liable.

The Reasoning for the Holding
Under the facts of this case reasonable prudence required the timely giving of the pressure test to the plaintiff.  The precaution if giving this test to detect the incidence of glaucoma to patients under 40 years of age is so imperative, that irrespective of its disregard by the standards of the ophthalmology profession, it is a duty of the courts to say what is required to protect patients under 40 from the damaging results of glaucoma.  What is usually done may be evidence of what ought to be done, but what ought to be done is fixed by a standard of reasonable prudence, whether it usually is complied with or not.

The Procedural Result

The judgement of the trial court and the decision of the Court of Appeals is reversed, and the case is remanded for a new trial on the issue of damages only.

The Concurrence
The difficulty with this approach is that we as judges, by using a negligence analysis, seem to be imposing a stigma of moral blame upon the doctors who, in this case, used all the precautions commonly prescribed by their profession in diagnosis and treatment.  Lacking their training is this highly sophisticated profession, it seems illogical for the court to say they failed to exercise a reasonable standard of care.  It seems to me that we are, in reality, imposing liability, because in choosing between an innocent plaintiff and doctor, who acted reasonably according to his specialty but who could have prevented the full effects of this disease by administering a simple, harmless test and treatment, the plaintiff should not have to bear the risk of loss.  As such, imposition of liability approaches that of strict liability.  Where events are not matters of common experience, a juror’s ability to comprehend whether reasonable care has been followed diminishes.  Strict liability serves a compensatory function in situations where the defendant is, through the use of insurance, the financially more responsible person.  Does not offend my sense of justice.

Canterbury v. Spence

464 F.2d 772 (D.C. Cir. 1973)

“The Bad Back Surgery Case”

The Facts

The record we review tells a depressing tale.  A youth trouble only by back pain submitted to an operation without being informed of a risk of paralysis incidental thereto.  A day after the operation he fell from his hospital bed after having been left without assistance while voiding.  A few hours after the fall, the lower half of his body was paralyzed, and he had to be operated on again.  Despite extensive medical care, he had never been what he was before the surgery.  Instead of the back pain, even year later, he hobbled about on crutches, a victim of paralysis of the bowels and urinary incontinence in a very real sense this lawsuit is an understandable search for reasons.  At the time of the events which gave rise to this litigation, appellant was 19 years of age, a clerk-typist employed by the FBI.  In December, 1958, he began to experience severe pain between his should blades.  He consulted two general practitioners, but the medications they prescribed failed to eliminate the pain.  Therefore, appellant secured an appointment with Dr. Spence who is a neurosurgeon..  The doctor recommended a surgery that would be an excision of the posterior arch of the vertebra to correct what he suspected was a ruptured disc.  Appellant did no raise any objections to the proposed operation nor did he probe into its exact nature.  During a telephone call, the plaintiff’s mother asked the doctor if the recommended operation was serious and Dr. Spence replied “not anymore than any other operation.”  For approximately the first day after the operation, the plaintiff recuperated normally, but then suffered a fall and an almost setback.  Appellant testified that during the course of the endeavor to void, he slipped off the side of the bed, and that there was not one to assist him, or side rail to prevent the fall.  Dr. Spenc, e admitted that trauma can cause a paralysis and that even without paralysis, somewhere in the nature of one percent of surgeries performed, a risk he termed  “a very slight possibility.“  He felt that communication of that risk to the patient was not good medical practice because it might deter patients from undergoing needed surgery and might produce adverse psychological reactions which could preclude the success of the operation.

The Procedural History

This appeal is from a judgement entered in the District Court on verdicts directed for the two appellees at the conclusion of plaintiff-appellant Canterbury’s case in chief.  His action sought damages for personal injuries allegedly sustained as a result to an operation negligently performed by appellee, Spence, a negligent failure by Dr. Spence to disclose a risk of serious disability, inherent in the operation, and negligent in post-operative care by appellee, Washington Hospital Center.

The Issue

What is the duty that a doctor owes a patient relative to informed consent?

The Holding

The testimony of appellant and his mother that Dr. Spence did not reveal the risk of paralysis from the surgery made out a prima facie case of violation of physician duty to disclose which Dr. Spences’s explanation did not negate as a matter of law.  The record, moreover, contains evidence of sufficient quantity and quality to tender jury issues as to whether and to what extent any such negligence was causally resulted to appellant’s post-surgery condition.  These considerations entitled plaintiff to a new trial.  In sum, the physician’s duty to disclose is governed by the same legal principles applicable to others in comparable situations, with modifications only to the extent that medical judgement enters the picture.  We hold that the standard measuring performance of that duty by physicians, as by others, is conduct, which is reasonable under the circumstances.

What is the scope the physician is legally obligated to make?  The physician’s liability for nondisclosure is to be determined on the basis of foresight, not hindsight, no less than any other aspect of negligence, the issue of disclosure must be approached from the viewpoint of the reasonableness of the physician’s divulgence in terms of what he knows or should know to be the patient’s informational needs.  If, but only if, the fact-finder can say that the physician’s communication was unreasonably inadequate is an imposition or morally justified. 

The Reasoning for the Holding

Every human being of adult years and sound mind has a right to determine what shall be done with his own body.  A reasonable revelation in these respects  is not only a necessity but as we see it, is as much a matter of the physician’s duty.  The patient’s reliance upon the physician is trust of the kind, which traditionally has exacted obligations beyond those associated with arms-length transactions.  This disclosure requirement, on analysis, reflects much more of a change in doctrinal emphasis that a substantive addition to malpractice law.  It is the settled rule that therapy not authorized by the patient may amount to a tort – a common law battery by the physician.  A patient’s right to self-determination on particular therapy demands a standard set by lay for physicians rather than one which physicians may or may not impose upon themselves.  The law requires those engaging in activities requiring unique knowledge and ability to give a performance commensurate with the undertaking.

There are two exceptions to the general rule of disclosure:  when the patient is unconscious or otherwise incapable of consenting and harm from a failure to treat is imminent and outweighs any harm threatened by the proposed treatment.  The impracticability of conferring with the patient dispenses with the need for it or when risk of disclosure poses such a threat of detriment to the patient as to become unfeasible or contraindicated from a medical point of view.  It is recognized that patients occasionally become so ill or emotionally distraught on disclosure as to foreclose a rational decision, or complicate or hinder the treatment.  And even in a situation of this kind, disclosure to a close relative with a view to securing consent to the proposed treatment may be the only alternative to the physician.  A causal connection exists when, but only when, disclosure of significant risks incidental to treatment have resulted in a decision against it.  Better to resolve the causality issue on the objective basis, in terms of what a prudent person is the patient’s position would have decided if suitable informed of all perils bearing significance.  If adequate disclosure could be reasonably expected to have caused that person to decline treatment because of the revelation of the kind of risk or danger that resulted in harm, causation is shown, but otherwise not.  The burden of going forward with evidence pertaining to a privilege not to disclose, however, rests properly on the physician.  Lay witness testimony can competently establish a physician’s failure to disclose particular risk information, the patient’s lack of knowledge of the risk, and the adverse consequences following the treatment.  The doctor may need to disclose only risks which could keep a reasonable patient from going forward with the procedure. 

Statute of Limitations issue – bottom of page 84.

A tortfeasor takes his victims as he finds them.

The court held that appellant showed enough to call for the resolution of those issues by the jury.  Also concluded that the case against the hospital should have gone to the jury, it suggests to jurors a dereliction of the hospital’s duty to exercise reasonable care for the safety and well-being of the patient.  All told, the jury had available a store of information enabling an intelligent resolution to the issues respecting the hospital.

A showing of negligence by each of two (or more) defendants with uncertainty as to which caused the harm does not defeat recovery but passes the burden to the tortfeasors for each to prove, if he can, that he did not cause the harm.     

The Procedural Result

On close examination of the record, we find evidence, which required submission of these issues to the jury.  We accordingly reverse the judgement as to each appellee and remand the case to the District Court for a new trial.  Reversed and remanded for a new trial.

United States v. Carroll Towing Co.

159 F.2d 169

“The Barge of Flour Case”
The Facts

When the tier off Pier 52 broke adrift because the fast from the ‘Anna C” wither rendered or carried away.  The tide and wind on the north side of the pier belwo Pier 51 whose propeller broke a hole in her at or near her bottom.  The tug ‘Grace” owned by Grace Line, and the ‘Carroll,’ came to the help of the flotilla after it broke loose, as both had syphon pumps on board, they could have kept the ‘Anna C’ afloat, had they learned of her condition; but the bargee had left her on the evening before and nobody was on board to observe that she was leaking.  The Grace Line wishes to exonerate itself from all liability because the “harbormaster” was not authorized to pass on the sufficiency of the fast of the ‘Anna C’ which held the tire to Pier 52, the Carroll Company wishes to charge the Grace Line with the entire liability because the “harbormaster” was given an over-all authority.  Both wish to charge the ‘Anna C’ with a share of all her damages, or at least with so much as resulted from her sinking.  The Pennsylvania Railroad Company also wishes to hold the barge liable.  The Conners Company wishes the decree to be affirmed.  

The Procedural History

These appeals concern the sinking of the barge, ‘Anna C,’ on January 14, 1944, off Pier 51, North River.  The Conners Marine Co., Inc., was the owner of the barge, which the Pennsylvania Railroad Company had chartered, the Grace Line, Inc., was the charterer of the tug ‘Carroll’ of which the Carroll Towing Co., Inc., was the owner.  The decree in the limitation proceeding held the Carroll Company liable to the United States for loss of the loss of the barge’s cargo of flour, and to the Pennsylvania Railroad Company, for expenses in salving the cargo and barge, and it held the Carroll Company also liable to the Conners Company for one half of the damage to the barge.  The decree in the libel suit held the Grace Line primarily liable for the other half of the damages to the barge, and for any part of the first half not covered against the Carroll Company because of limitation of liability.  It also held the Pennsylvania Railroad secondarily liable for the same amount that the Grace Line was liable.  The Carroll Company and the Pennsylvanic Railroad Company have filed assignments of error.

The Issue(s)

The first question is whether the Grace Line Should be held liable at all for any part of the damages.  The second question is whether a barge owner is slack in the care of his barge if the bargee is absent.

The Holding

The fact that the deckhand shared in this decision, did not exonerate him, and there is no reason why both should not be held equally liable as the judge held them.  We cannot, however, excuse the Conners Company for the bargee’s failure to care for the barge, and we think this prevents full recovery.  We do not therefore attribute it as in any degree the fault of the ‘Anna C’ that the flotilla broke adrift.  We hold that is a fair requirement that he Conners Company should have a bargee aboard (unless he had some excuse for his absence) during the working hours of daylight.  We hold that it is not in all cases a sufficient answer to a bargee’s absence without excuse, during working hours, that he has properly made fast his barge to a pier, when he leaves her.

The Reasoning for the Holding
The Captain of the Carroll they put the deckhand of the tug and the harbor master aboard the boats at the end of Pier 52 to throw off the line between the two tiers of boats after ascertaining if it would be safe to do so.  Whatever doubts the testimony of the “harbormaster” (an employee of Grace Line) might raise, this finding settles it for us that the master of the Carroll deputed the deckhand and the “harbor master,” jointly to pass upon the sufficiency of the ‘Anna C’s’ fast to the pier.  The ‘Anna C’ may recover is full agains the Carroll Company anf the Grace Line for any injury she suffered from the contact with the tanker’s propeller, which we shall speak of as the “collision damages.”  On the other hand, if the bargee had been on board, and had done his duty to his employer, he would have gone below at once, examined the injury, and called for help from the Carroll and the Grace Line tug.  Moreover, it is clear that these tupgs could have kept the barge afloat, until they had safely beached her and saved her cargo.  This would have avoided what we shall call the “sinking damages.”  Thus, if is a failure in the Conner Company’s proper care of its own barge, for the bargee to be absent, the company can recover only one third of the “sinking damages” from the Carroll Company and one third from the Grace Line.  It appears that there is no general rule to determine when the absence of a bargee or other attendant will make the owner of the barge liable fo rinjuries to other vessels if she breaks away from her moorings.  The owner’s duty, as in other similar situations, to provide against resulting injuries is a function of three variables, (1) the probability that she will break away “P”, (2) the gravity of the resulting injury, if she does, “L”, and (3) the burden of adequate precautions, “B.”  Liability depends upon whether the B, burden, is less than L, injury, multiplied by P, probability.  The barge must not be the bargee’s prison.

The Procedural Result
The decrees will be modified as follows.  In the libel of the Conners Company agains the Pennsylvania Railroad Company in which the Grace Line was impleaded, since the Grace Line is liable in solido, and the Carroll Company was no impleaded, the decree must be for full “collision damages” and half the “sinking damages” and the Pennsylvania Railroad will be secondarily liable.  In the limitation proceeding of the Carroll Company (the privilege of limitation being conceded), the claim of the United States and of the Pennsylvania Railroad Company will be allowed in full.  Since the claim of the Conners Company for “collision damages” will be collected in full in the libel against the Grace Line, the claim will be disallowed pro tanto.  The claim of the Conners Company for “sinking damages” being allowed for one half in the libel, will be allowed for only one sixth in the limitation proceeding.  The Grace Line has claimed for only so much of as the Conners Compnay may recover in the libel.  That means that its claim will be one half the collision damages and for one sixth of the “sinking damages”   If the fund be large enough, the result will be to throw one half the “collision damages” upon the Grace Line and one half on the Carroll Company, and one third of the “sinking damages” on the Conners Company, the Grace Line, and the Carrol Company each.  If the fund is not large enough, the Grace will not be able altogether to recoup itself in the limitation proceedings for its proper contribution from the Carroll Company.

Decrees reversed and cause remanded for further proceedings in accordance with the above. 

Rinald v. McGovern

78 N.Y.2d 729, 587 N.E.2d 264, 579 N.Y.S.2d 626 (1991)

“The Golfer’s Liability Case”
The Facts
The present action arises out of an accident in which a golf ball driven by one of the two individual defendants soared off the golf course on which they were playing, traveled through (or over) a screen of trees and landed on an adjacent public road, where plaintiffs happening to be driving their care.  The ball struck and sahttered plaintiff’s windshield, with the result that Plaintiff Roberta Rinaldo was injured.  It is undisputed that both defendants, who were teeing off at the eleventh hole of the golf course, intended to drive their balls straight down the fairway and not in the direction of the trees.  However, each defendant “sliced” his ball, causing it to veer off to the right.  There is no evidence that either defendant was careless or guilty of anything other than making an inept tee shot. 

The Procedural History

Plaintiffs Rinaldo commenced the present action charging the individual defendants with negligence and failure to warn.  On defendant;s motion for summary judgemnt, the Supreme Court, Erie Couny, dismissed both causes  of action, holding that defendants had no duty to warn plaintiffs of their impending tee shots and that defendants’ conduct in mishitting their golf balls, without more, constitute actionable negligence.  The Appellate Division affirmed, with two justices dissenting.  This appeal ensued.  Plaintiffs also sued the operator of the golf course, Springville Country Club, Inc.

The Issue

This issue in this appeal is whether a golfer who accidentally misses thje fairway and instread sends the ball soaring off the golf course onto an adjacent roadway can be held liable in negligence for the resulting injury.  The pertinent question here is whether a warning, if given, would have been effective in preventing 

the accident.

The Holding
In general, a golfer preparing to drive a ball has not duty to warn persons “not in the intended line of the flight of on another tee or fairway.  A golfer ordinarily may not be held liable to individuals located entirely outside the boundaries of the golf course, who happen to be hit by a stray, mishit golf ball.  A warning would have been all but futile.  The possibility that a warning would have been effective here to prevent the accident was simply too “remote” to justify submission of the case to the jury.  To provide an actionalbe theory of liability, a person injured by a mishit golf ball must affirmatively show that the golfer failed to exercise due care by adducing proof for example, that the golfer aimed so innaccurately as to unreasonably increase the risk of harm. 

The Reasoning for the Holding

Even if defendant has shouted “fore,” the traditional golfer’s warning, it is unlikely that the plaintiffs who were driving in a vehicle on a nearly roadway, would have hear, much less had the opportunity to act upon, the shouted warning.  Similar to the case where the plaintiffs lived beside the golf course (the Nussbaum case).

The Procedural Result
Plaintiff’s cause of action based on defendant’s purported lack of due care was properly dismissed.  Accordingly, the order of the Appellate Division should be affirmed, with costs.

Osborne v. McMasters

40 Minn. 103, 41 N.W. 543 (1889)

Supreme Court of Minnesota

“Unlabeled Poison Case”

The Facts
The defendant’s clerk in his drug-store, in the course of of his employment as such sold to plaintiff’s intestate a deadly poison without labeling it “Poison,” as required by statute; that she, in ignorance of its deadly qualities, partook of the poison which caused her death.  Except for the ability pf counsel and the earnestness with which they have argued the case, we would not have supposed that there could be any serious doubt of the defendants’ liability in the case.  The requirements of both statutes are substantially the same, and the sole object of both is to protect the public against the dangerous qualities of poison.  It is now well established, certainly in this state, that where a statute or municipal ordinance imposes upon any person a specific duty for the protection or benefit of others, if he neglects to perform that duty he is liable to those for whose protection or benefit it was imposed for any injuries of the character which the statute or ordinance was designed to prevent, and which were proximately produced by such neglect

The Procedural Context

Case is being appealed.  Defendant contends that no liability existed at common law for selling poison with out labeling it.

The Issue

Does being liable for violating criminal statute negate negligence within the common law for negligence?

The Holding

No.  The common lay gives a right of action to every one sustaining injuries caused proximately by the negligence of another.  The doctrine of agency applies, that the master is civilly liable for the negligence of his servant committed in the course of his employment, and resulting injuries to third persons.

The Reason for the Holding

It is immaterial whether the duty is one imposed by the rule of common law requiring the exercise of ordinary care not to injure another; or is imposed by statute designed for the protection of others.   So that the violation of the statute constitutes conclusive evidence of negligence, or, in other words, negligence per se.  All that the statute does is to establish a fixed standard by which the fact of negligence may be determined.

The Procedural Result

Judgement affirmed.

Fitzwater v. Sunset Empire, Inc.

502 P.2d214,217 (Or. 1972)

“The Icy Sidewalk Case”
The Facts

That on and before December 28, 1968, an accumulation of snow and ice formed on the sidewalk bordering the front of defendant’s premises.  That on or about December 29, 1968, at approximately 6:00 p.m., plaintiff, after having been a customer is defendant’s premises, and at the invitation of defendant’s manager, and for the benefit of defendant, accompanied defendant’s manager to the exterior sidewalk adjoining defendant’s premises, and while walking on said sidewalk adjoining to said premises, slipped and fell on an accumulation of ice and snoe on said sidewalk, resulting in injuries to the plaintiff as hereinafter set forth.

The Procedural History

This is an action for personal injuries suffered by the plaintiff when he slipped and fell on ice on the sidewalk in front of defendant’s restaurant in the city of Astoria.  Plaintiff filed an original and three amended complaints.  A judgement was entered against the plaintiff and the plaintiff appeals.  Plaintiff alleged negligence in allowing the ice and snow to accumulate, failing to remove same, failing to eliminate the slippery condition, and failing to warn.

The Issue

The Holding

The law is well established in this state, as elsewhere, that the defendant owned no common law duty to pedestrian.  It is also uniformly held that an ordinance requiring the property owner to keep the sidewalk free of ice and snow and imposing a failure to do so does not impose civil liability on the property owner in favor of a third person.  Municipal ordinances requiring the removal of ice and snow upon a sidewalk are held to create a duty in favor of the city only.  In effect, they merely require property owners to adi dthe city in the performance of its duty..

The Reasoning for the Holding

As the defendant owed no duty to plaintiff under the common law, plaintiff’s status in not important.  Moreover, the rule that a landowner owes no duty to pedestrians under an ordinance such as that involved in the instant case also applies to customers and patrons.  Plaintiff argues that such a rule is arbitrary, “no longer meets the needs of our urban society,” and is against public policy.  However, the rule is almost universal in its application except in the courts of West Virginia.

The Procedural Result

Affirmed.

The Dissent

I think that we should now hold that there is a duty on the part of a possessor of land used for business purposes to remove from abutting sidewalks ice and snow which constitutes an unreasonably dangerous conditions.  In the present case it is only necessary to hold the duty runs to those who use the sidewalks as business invitees of the possessor.  We have previously held that a business can be held liable to the customers for negligently failing to eliminate an unreasonably dangerous condition resulting from the accumulation of ice and snow in its parking lot.  And we have held that the store owner may be liable to customers who slip on melted snow inside the store.  By its express terms, the ordinance reveals that it was designed to “assure safe travel.”  This means safe travel for the public using the sidewalks.  If the violation of a jaywalking ordinance is negligence per se, then it would seem that the violation of the ordinance in question is negligence per se.  The majority opinion does not explain why a snow removal ordinance, although intended to assure safe travel to to those using the sidewalks runs exclusively to the municipality; whereas, other ordinances also designed for the protection of members of the community runs to them.  In my opinion, the present interpretation of the snow removal ordinances can only be explained anachronism.

Stimpson v. Wellington Service Corporation

355 Mass 685,246 N.E.2d 801 (1969)

“The Broken Water Pipe Case”
The Facts

Sometime after 4”30 or 5:00 p.m. on July 10, 1962, water began ot flow from a break in a cast iron water pipe just inside the Albany Street basement wall of the Stimpson building.  When discovered about 6:00 a.m. on July 12, 1962, the had reached a depth of 4.5 to 5 feet.  The plaintiffs seeking to recover for the resultant damage to their property, assert that the evidence warranted the conclusion that the break in the water line had been caused by the defendant in driving on Albany Street on July 10, 1962, and maneuvering and unloading there a tractor-trailer rig with an overall length of 85 feet, weighing, with the eighty-five ton flywheel which was the rig’s cargo, about 137 tons.  The flywheel was carried on a trailer about 50 feet long and 12 feet wide.  At is front end was gooseneck which fitted into a wheel on a dolly placed between the trailer and the tractor.  The dolly moved on four wheels.  The plaintiffs offered and the judge excluded, subject to exception, the testimony of an expert engineer who was ruled competent by the judge.  The defendant obtained not permit from the board or officer having charge in the ways of Cambridge.  The ordinances stated that “No person shall drive or conduct any vehicle in such a condition or so constructed or so loaded as to be likely to cause delay in traffic or accident or injury to man, beast, or property, “no person shall drive, ride, wheel or draw any vehicle across a sidewalk except on a driveway designated for the purpose of passage of vehicles.  The vilation of these two ordinances could be found to be proximate cause of the breaking of the elbow.  

The Procedural History

In three actions of tort, consolidated for trial, after the jury had returned verdicts for the plaintiffs (whom we refer to respectively as Stimpson, Interchemical, and Phelps-Dodge) the judge reserved leave to enter verdicts for the defendant and reported to this court two issues of law in each case: 1.  Were the alleged violations of  law a condition or a proximate cause of the damage? and 2.  Were the verdicts supported by proof of negligence or founded on conjecture and speculation? 

The Issue

The Holding

We think in any event that failure to apply for a permit was a failure to exercise due care as to those who might be injured if the load was in fact so heavy as to cause a break and resulting damage.  The verdicts were supported by proof of negligence and not founded in speculation and conjecture.

The Reasoning for the Holding

The violation of the ordinance barring the crossing of the sidewalk was not, we think, in the chain of causation.  The break occurred not because the rig was for a time on the sidewalk, but because it was too heavy to be anywhere in the public way.  That the fracture occurred a number of hours after the time when the stress was created in the system did not make the cause conjectural.  A delay between the distortion and the break was entirely consistent with initial slight adjustment in the position of the relatively rigid pipes, which created tension throughout all of them, and the eventual release of the tension by a break occurring at the weakest point in the system. It follows that the expert testimony, although not require to take the case to the jury, was not founded on conjecture and was admissable.

The Procedural Result
The rescript shal state:  1.  The evidence showed violations of law and ordinance that were iin the chain of proximate causation, 2.  The verdicts ere supported by proof of negligence, and 3.  Ther verdicts should not be set aside.

So ordered.

Coulter v. Schwartz & Reynolds & co.

21 Cal.3d 144, 577 P.2d 669, 145 Cal, Rptr. 534

“The Liability of the Social Host Case”
The Facts

Plaintiff James Coulter alleged that he was injured when the car in which he was riding as a passenger collided with roadway abutments in San Mateo County.  James’s wife, Deborah Coulter, joined the action with her husband, claiming, as damages the loss of consortium with James, and the value of nursing services furnished to him.  It is alleged that at the time of the accident, the car was being driven by Janice Williams, whose intoxication caused both the accident and James’s injuries.  Plaintiffs further allege that before the accident Schwartz & Reynolds & Co., the owner and operator of an apartment complex in Foster City, San Mateo County, and defendant Monte Montgomery, the apartment manager, negligently and carelessly served to Williams, in a recreation room in the complex, “extremely large quantities” of alcoholic beverages; that defendants knew or should have known that Williams was becoming “excessively intoxicated;” that defendants knew or should have known that Williams “drank to excess” and was “incapable of exercising the same degree of volitional control over her consumption of alcoholic beverages as the average reasonable person,” that defendants knew that Williams intended to drive a motor vehicle following her consumption of the alcoholic beverages furnished by defendants, and that defendants knew or should have known that their conduct would expose third persons such as plaintiffs to “foreseeable serious risk of harm.”

The Procedural History

Defendants’ demurrers to the first and second causes of action were sustained without leave to amend.  Plaintiffs seek mandate from us to compel the trial court to overrule the demurrers and proceed to trial on all causes of action.  While we have generally been reluctant to extend extraordinary relief at the pleading stage, we have said that mandamus will lie when it appears that the trial court has deprived a party of an opportunity to plead his cause of action or defense, and when that extraordinary relief may prevent needless and expensive trial and reversal.  In the matter before us mandamus is available as a remedy and we inquire the proprietary of the trial court’s ruling.  

The Issue

Are noncommercial suppliers of alcoholic beverages liable to third persons injured by reason of intoxication of the consumer of those of those beverages? 

The Holding
We will conclude that asocial host who furnishes alcoholic beverages to an obviously intoxicated person, under circumstances which create a reasonably foreseeable risk of harm to others, may be held legally accountable to those third persons who are injured when the harm occurs.  We conclude the defendants’ demurrer was improperly sustained as to plaintiff’s first cause of action.

The Reasoning for the Holding

Further more, well established general negligence principles lead us to conclude independently of statute (which the court felt also covered the negligence), that a social host or other noncommercial provider of alcoholic beverages owes to the general public a duty to refuse to furnish such beverages to an obviously intoxicated person if, under the circumstance, such person thereby constitutes a reasonably foreseeable danger or risk of injury to third persons.  We examine more closely the statutory and common law bases for our conclusion.  Every person who gives alcoholic beverages ot a minor in guilty of a misdemeanor.  We think it some, but not controlling, significance that, following Vesely, the Legislature has failed to amend section 25602 to exclude the liability of noncommercial suppliers.  Section 25602 is not just for business suppliers of alcohol.  The Legislature has clearly expressed its desire that the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act shall be liberally construed to accomplish its stated purposes of “protection of the safety, welfare, health, peace, and morals of the people of the State…and to promote temperance.”  We must surely balance any resulting moderation of hospitality with the serious hazard to the lives, limbs, and proerty of the public at large, and the great potential for human suffering which attends the presence on the highways of intoxicated drivers.  In doing so, we need not ignore the appalling, perhaps incalculabe, cost of torn and broken lives incident to alcohol abuse, in the area of automobile accidents alone. “Obviously intoxicated” is a satisfactory measure for imposition of civil liability.  Intoxication causes many commonly known outward manifestations which are ‘plain’ and ‘easily seen or discovered.’  Social host has violated the law if it was because he failed to observe what was plain and easily seen or discovered, or because having observed, he ignored that which was apparent. 

The Procedural Result:  

Demurrers denied, case should be heard by a jury.  Let a peremptory writ of mandate issue, directing respondent court to overrule defendants’ demurrers to the first cause of action of plaintiffs’ complaint.

Byrne v. Boadle

159 Eng Rep. 299 (ex.1863)

“The Res Ipsa Loquitur Case”
The Facts

Plaintiff’s declaration stated that he was passing along the highway in front of defendant’s premises when he was struck and badly hurt by a barrel of flour that was apparently being lowered from a window above which was on the premises of the defendant, a dealer in flour.  Several witnesses testified that they saw the barrel fall and hit plaintiff.  The defendant claimed “that there was no evidence of negligence for the jury.”  The trial court agreeing, nonsuited plaintiff after the jury had assessed the damages at 50 pounds and the trial court gave plaintiff leave to move the Court of Exchequer to enter a verdict for him in that amount.

The Procedural History
The Issue

The Holding

The accident alone would be prima facie evidence of negligence.

The Reasoning for the Holding
The plaintiff was bound to give affirmative proof of negligence.  But there was not a scintilla of evidence, unless the occurrence is of itself evidence of negligence.  In some cases the court had held that the mere fact of the accident having occurred is evidence of negligence, as, for instance in the case of railway collision.  We are of the opinion that the rule must be absolute to enter the verdict for the plaintiff.  The learned counsel was quite right in saying that there are many accidents from which no presumption of negligence can arise, but I think it would be wrong to lay down as a rule that in no case can presumption of negligence arise from the fact if an accident. If an article calculated to cause damage is put in the wrong placed and does mischief, I think that those whose duty it was to put it in the right place are prima facie responsible, and if there is any state of facts to rebut the presumption of negligence, they must prove them.    

The Procedural Result
I think it apparent the they barrel was in the custody of the defendant who occupied the premises, and who is responsible for the acts of his servants who had the control of it; and in my opinion the fact of its falling is prima facie evidence of negligence, and the plaintiff who was injured by it is not bound to show it could not fall without negligence, but if there are any facts inconsistent with negligence it is for the defendant to prove them, 

Tedla v. Ellman

280 N.Y. 124 19 N.E.2d 987 (1939)

“The Pedestrian Right of Way Case”

The Facts

While walking along a highway, Anna Tedla and her brother, John Backek, were struck by a passing automobile, operated by defendant Hellman.  Tedla was injured and her Bsckek was killed.  Bachek was a deaf-mute.  His occupation was collecting and selling junk.  His sister, Mrs. Tedla, was engaged in the same occupation.  They often picked up junk at the incinerator if the village of Islip.  At the time of the accident they were walking along the ‘Sunrise Highway” and wheeling baby carriages containing junk and wood which they had picked up at the incinerator.  It was about 6:00 p.m. or a little earlier, on a Sunday evening in December.  Darkness had already set in.  Bachek was carrying a lighted lantern, or, at least, ther is testimony to the effect.  The jury found that the accident was due solely to the negligence of the operator of the automobile.  The defendants, do not, upon this appeal, challenge the finding of negligence on the part of the operator.  They maintain, however, that Mrs. Tedla and her brother were guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law.  Sunrise highway, at the place of the accident, consists of two roadways, separated by a grass plot.  There are no footpaths along the highway and the center grass plot was soft.  It is not unlawful for a pedestrian, wheeling a baby carriage, to use the roadway under such circumstance, but a pedestrian using the roadway is bound to exercise such care as a reasonably prudent person would use.

The Vehicle and Traffic Law (Consol. Laws, c71) provides that “Pedestrians walking or remaining on the paved portion, or traveled part of a roadway shall be subject to, and comply with, the rules governing vehicles, with respect to meeting and turning out, except that such pedestrians shall keep to the left of the center line thereof, and turn to their left instead of right side thereof, so as to permit all vehicles passing them in either direction to pass on their right.  Such pedestrians shall not be subject to the rules governing vehicles as to giving signals.  Mrs. Tedla and her brother did not observe the statutory rule, and at the time of the accident were proceeding in easterly direction on the east bound or right-hand roadway.

The Procedural History
The defendants moved to dismiss the complaint on the ground, among others, that violation of the statutory rule constitutes contributory negligence as a matter of law.  They did not, in the courts below, urge that any negligence in other respect of Mrs. Tedla or her brother bars a recovery.  The trial judge left to the jury the question whether failure to observe the statutory rule was a proximate cause of the accident; he left to the jury no question of other fault or other negligence on the part of Mrs. Tedla or her brother, and the defendants did not request that any other question be submitted.  Upon this appeal, the only question presented is whether, as matter of law, disregard of the statutory rule that pedestrians keep to the left of the center line of a highway constitutes contributory negligence which bars any recovery by the plaintiff. 

The Issue

Will the violation of a statutory provision bar the plaintiff from recovery in a cause for negligence?

The Holding

Seldom have the courts held that failure to observe a rule of the road, even though embodied in a statute, constitutes negligence as matter of law where observance would subject a person to danger which might be avoided by disregard of the general rule.  The ‘rules of the road,’ however, are not inflexible, and a strict observance should be avoided when there is a plain risk in adhering to them, and one who too rigidly adheres to such rules when the injury might have been averted by variance therefrom may be charged with fault.  The exceptions to the rule of the road depend upon the special circumstances of the case and in respect to which no general rule can be applied.

Under the circumstances the question of proximate cause, as well as the question of negligence, was one of fact.

The Reasoning for the Holding
The plaintiffs showed by testimony of a State Policeman that there were very few cars going east’ at the time of the accident, but that going west there was ‘very heavy Sunday night traffic.’  It is unreasonable to ascribe to the Legislature an intention that the statute should have so extraordinary result (that pedestrians are to be charged with negligence as a matter of law for acting as prudence dictates).  This is not a statute that prescribes additional safeguards and defines duty and standard of care in rigid terms.  The statute upon which the defendants rely is of a different character.  What the statute does provide is rules of the road to be observed by pedestrians and by vehicles so that all those who use the road may know how they and others should proceed, at least under usual circumstances.  A general rule of conduct – and, specifically, a rule of the road – may accomplish its intended purpose under usual conditions, but, when the unusual occurs, strict observance may defeat the purpose of the rule and produce catastrophic results.

The Procedural Result
In each action, the judgement should be affirmed, with costs.

Brown v. Shyne

242 N.Y. 176, 151 N.E. 197 (1926)

“The Unlicensed Chiropractor Case”
The Facts

The plaintiff employed the defendant to give chiropractic treatment for a disease or physical condition.  The defendant had no license to practice medicine, yet held himself out as being able to diagnose and treat disease, and, under the provisions of the Public Health Law (Cos. Laws c.45), he was guilty of a misdemeanor.  The plaintiff became paralyzed after she had received nine treatments by the defendant.  She claims and upon appeal we must assume, that the paralysis was caused by the treatment she received.  The plaintiff alleges that the injuries were caused by the defendant’s negligence.  If negligence on the part of the defendant caused the injury, the plaintiff may recover the consequent damages.  Though the defendant held himself out, and the plaintiff consulted hi, as a chiropractor, and not as a regular physician, he claimed to possess the skill requisite for diagnosis and treatment of disease, and it performance of what he undertook to do he may be held to the degree of skill and care which he claimed to possess.

The Procedural History
The plaintiff has recovered judgement in the sum of $10,000 for the damages by said injury.  At the trial the plaintiff gave testimony in regard to the manner in which she was treated.  She supplemented the testimony with evidence that the treatment was not in accordance with recognized theory or practice; that it produced the injury, which followed; and that a person qualified to treat disease should have foreseen that the treatment might have such result.  If the only question submitted to the jury had been whether or not this evidence showed that plaintiff’s injury was caused by the defendant’s negligence, the defendant could not complain of any substantial error at the trial.  Indeed it would seem that in some respects the ruling of the trial judge have been too favorable to the defendant.  At the close of the plaintiff’s case, the plaintiff was permitted to amend the complaint to allege ‘that in so treating the plaintiff the defendant was engaged in the practice of medicine contrary to and in violation of the provisions of the Public Health Law of the state of New York in such case made and provided, he at the time of treating plaintiff not being a duly licensed physician or surgeon of the state of New York.   Jury charge was as follows, ‘This is a little different from the ordinary malpractice case, and I am going to allow you, if you think proper under the evidence of the case, to predicate negligence upon another theory.  The public health law of this state prescribe that no person shall practice medicine unless he is licensed so to do by the board of regents of this state and registered pursuant to statute.  This statute to which I have referred is a general police regulation.  Its  violation, and it has been violated by the defendant, is some evidence, more or less cogent, of negligence which you may consider for what it is worth, along with all the other evidence in the case.  If the defendant attempted to treat the plaintiff and to adjust the vertebrae in her spine when he did not possess the requisite knowledge and skill as prescribed by the statute to know what was proper and necessary to do under the circumstances, or how to do it, even if he did know what to do, you can find him negligent.’    

The Issue

Will failure to have a license to practice medicine, as required by statute, be the basis of negligence per se in a medical malpractice case.

The Holding

No.  In so charging the jury that from the violation of the statute the jury might infer negligence which produced the injury to the plaintiff, the trial justice is my opinion erred.  We did not hold that the absence of license tended to prove negligence itself.

The Reasoning for the Holding

The purpose of the statute is to protect the public against unfounded assumption of skill by one who undertakes to prescribe or treat for disease.  In order to show that the plaintiff has been injured by defendant’s breach of the statutory duty, proof must be given that defendant in such treatment did not exercise the skill which would have been exercised by qualified practitioners within the state, and that such lack of skill and care caused the injury.  Failure to obtain a license as required by law gives rise to no remedy if it has caused no injury.  Evidence of defendant’s training, learning, and skill and the method he used in giving the treatment was produced at the tiral, and upon such evidence the jury could base finding either of care or negligence, but the absence of a license does not seem to strengthen inference that might be drawn from such evidence, and a fortiori would not alone be a basis for such inference.

The Procedural Result

For these reasons the judgements should be reversed, and a new trial granted, with costs to abide the event.

The Dissent

It seems strange that the courts, one branch of the law, can hold up for such a mean the standards of the licensed physician, while the Legislature, another branch of the law, declares that he cannot practice at all as a physician.  The courts thus afford the protection which the Legislature denies.  It is no answer to say that the statute provides a penalty; therefore, no other consequences can follow.  Such is not the law.  We must determine whether a violation of the law may be the direct and proximate cause of an injury to an individual.  The law, to insure against ignorance and carelessness, has laid down a rule to be followed; namely, examinations to test qualifications and a license to practice.  If a man, in violation of this statute, takes his chances in trying to cure disease, and his acts result directly in injury, he should not complain if the law, in a suit for damages, says that his violation of the statute is some evidence of incapacity.  Cause and consequence are correlative terms.  One implies the other.  When an event is follwed in natural sequence by a result it is adapted to produce, or aid in producing, that result is a consequence of the event, and the event is the cause of the result.  In recent times, the difficulty with these statutes in the courts have been to determine whether the violation was negligence per se, or only some evidence of negligence.  The defendant was under an obligation, a command, a duty, not to practice medicine.  By failing to heed this command and duty, the plaintiff received injury.  The statute and his breach is at least some evidence of negligence.  In my judgement, the intent of the Legislature was to prevent injury to people from ignorant and incompetent practitioners, unqualified men.  I am convinced that the plaintiff in this case was part of that public for whose benefit the Public Health Law in this particular was passed.  The plaintiff was injured through the defendant’s disobedience of the law.  Where an injury is the direct and proximate result of practicing medicine without a license, a recovery can be had, as for an act negligence per se.  Cuplable negligence is accentuated negligence.

Larsen v. St. Francis Hotel

188 P. 2d 513 (Cal. App 1948)

“The Falling Chair from the Hotel Case”
The Facts

The accident out of which this action arose was apparently the result of the effervescence and ebullition of San Franciscans in their exuberance of joy on V-J Day, August 14, 1945.  Plaintiff Larsen (who is not included in the above description), while walking on the sidewalk of Post Street, adjoining the St. Francis Hotel, just after stepping our from under the marquee, was struck in the head by a heavy, overstuffed armchair, knocked unconscious, and received injuries for which she is asking damages from the owners of the hotel.  Although there were a number of persons in the immediate vicinity, no one appears to have seen where the chair came from nor to have seen it before it was within a few feet of the plaintiff’s head.  Nor was there any identification of the chair as belonging to the hotel.  However, it is a reasonable inference that the chair came from some portion of the hotel.  The court assumes this inference since it is the rule in nonsuit cases that the evidence must be evaluated in favor of the plaintiff.

The Procedural History
At the trial, plaintiff, after proving the foregoing facts and the extent of her injuries, rested, relying upon the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur.  On motion of defendant the court granted a nonsuit.  The main question to be determined is whether under the circumstances shown, the doctrine applies.  The trial court correctly held that it did not.  Plaintiff quotes 9 Cal. Jur.548 to the effect ‘that a motion for a nonsuit must point the attention of the court and counsel to the precise grounds upon which it is made’ and contends that the motion for nonsuit in the trial court did not do this.  The motion was made on the ground that ‘there is not evidence from which it might be inferred that the hotel was guilty of any negligence, which caused the chair’ to hit plaintiff.  It further points out that the only evidence attempting to connet the hotel with the accident so the fact that it occurred in the proximity of the hotel, and that such proff is not sufficient to establish liability.  The motion was sufficient.     

The Issue

Can a plaintiff be successful under res ipsa loquitur if it is not apparent that he defendant is solely responsible for the act of negligence? 

The Holding

The doctrine of res ipsa loquitur applies only where the cause of injury is shown to be under the exclusive control and management of the defendant and can have no application to a case having a divided responsibility, where an unexplained accident may have been attributable to one of several causes, for some of which the defendant is not responsible , and when it appears that the injury was caused by one of two causes for one of which the defendant is responsible but not for the other.  The plaintiff must fail if the evidence does not show that the injury was the result of the former cause, or leaves it as probable that it was caused by one or the other.  Applying the rule to the facts of this case, it is obvious that the doctrine does not apply. The court reviewed cases on an explosion from leaking gas, the glass from an electrolier falling and injuring a person, a length of pipe falling and injuring a person, and plaster falling from the hotel ceiling and injuring a person.   The mere fact that an acident has occurred does not itself result in any inference of negligence as against the defendant.

The Reasoning for the Decision

A hotel does not have exclusive control, either actual or potential, of its furniture.  Guests, have, at least, partial control.  Moreover, it cannot be said that with the hotel using ordinary care the accident was such that in the ordinary course of events would not have happened.  On the contrary, the mishap would quite as likely be due to the fault of a guest, or other person as to that of defendants.  The most logical inference from the circumstances shown is that the chair was thrown by some such person from a window.  It thus appears that this occurrence is not such as ordinarily does not happen without the negligence of the party charged, but, rather, one in which the accident ordinarily might happen despite the fact that the defendant used reasonable care and were totally free from negligence.  To keep guests and visitors from throwing furniture out windows would require a guard to be placed in every room in the hotel, and no one would contend there is any rule of law requiring a hotel to do that.

The Procedural Result

The judgement appealed from is affirmed.   

Miles v. St. Regis Paper Co.

467 P.2d 307

“The Logs Rolling Off the Train Car Case”

The Facts

Plaintiff Claud Miles, Sr. was crushed and instantly killed by one of three logs which rolled from the top of a flatcar loaded with logs.  The flatcar and its load of logs were in the process of being unload at the premises pf the ‘D’ Street Rafting Company, Inc., of Tacoma, Washington.  The logging train was loaded with logs by employees of St. Regis at Lake Kapowsin.  Much testimony was introduced tending to show due care was exercised by St. Regis employees in loading the logs on the flatcars at Lake Kapossin; furthermore, that subsequent repetitive inspections of the log loads were made by St. Regis and Northern Pacific to insure safe transportation and safe unloading.  After arrival of the log train at Tacoma, a Northern Pacific switch engine was coupled to it and moved the train from the railroad yards to the premises of the ‘D’ Street Rafting Company.  There is conflict in the evidence as to what happened there.  The employees of the railroad testified that the train did move after the last car in the string was positioned under the crane of the ‘D’ Street Rafting Company in preparation for unloading.  They stated that no logs had been unloaded prior to the accident.  But, in direct conflict there is the testimony of the operator of the crane a the time of the accident, a Mr. Keblbek, who was an employee of ‘D’ Street Rafting Company.  He testified that some logs had been unloaded and that the train was moved just 15 to 20 seconds prior to the time he heard the locomotive whistle blow, indicating an accident had occurred.  The testimony of  witnesses for the railroad indicated that movement of the train is positioning the cares for unloading was under the control of members of the unloading crew of the ‘D” Street Rafting Company who relayed signals to the train crew.  In conflict, other testimony indicated that movement of the train was subject to control and authority of the train crew, principally the engineer or fireman on duty in the locomotive engine.  As will be seen later, the question of control has become the primary issue in this appeal.  Mr. Miles, the deceased, was a member of the unloading crew of the ‘D’ Street Rafting Company.  He was a assigned the duty of releasing the binders encircling the loads of logs on the flatcars.  After releasing the binders, it was part of his work to return to the crane and to assist in handling two slings, which were attached to the crane and utilized in unloading the logs.  At the time of the accident, Mr. Miles had not returned to the crane to work with the slings.  After the accident, it was determined that except for the flatcar immediately in front of the switch engine, the binders had been released.  One of the binders on the fatal load of logs had been release by hand, supposedly by Mr. Miles.  The other dinder had not been released but the cable was broken.  

The Procedural History
This lawsuit was brought by Dorothy Miles individually as the surviving wife and the administratrix of the estate of Claud Miles, Sr., the deceased.  Negligence was alleged on the part of St. Regis Paper Company, Inc, the Northern Pacific Railroad Company, Inc.and certain employees of both entities.  A motion by St. Regis challenging the sufficiency of the evidence at the end of the plaintiff’s case was granted and St. Regis is not involved in this appeal.  Similar motions by Northern Pacific Railroad at the end of plaintiff’s case and at the end of all the evidence were denied.  The jury returned a verdict of $35,000 for the plaintiff.  A motion n.o.v. or for a new trail was denied and this appeal followed.  The appellant assigns error:  (1) to the denial of motions attacking the sufficiency of the evidence, (2) to the failure of the trail court to give several jury instructions offered by appellant, and  (3) to the giving of a jury instruction submitting the doctrine res ipsa loquitur to the jury.  This appeal focuses essentially on whether it was error for the trial court to instruct the jury on the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur.

The Issue

Determining “exclusive control” for res ipsa loquitur.

The Holding

We believe that the ultimate decision to move the train was made by employees of the railroad.  Thus in terms of the requisite application of res ipsa loquitur in this case, we are convinced that t the time of the accident the train of flatcars loaded with logs was in the ‘exclusive control’ of the railroad.

The Reasoning for the Holding

Any movement of the train ultimately was the responsibility and with in the exclusive control of such employees.  It is not denied that movement of the train and positioning of the railroad flatcars loaded with logs occurred in accordance with the unloading plans and desires of the ‘D’ Street Rafting Company, communicated by hand signal or otherwise to the foreman of the railroad switching crew and relayed by him to the engine crew.  However , on the basis of evidence brought out at the trial, we cannot say that the instruction on res ipsa loquitur was error. 

The Procedural Result
The judgement of the trial court should be affirmed.  It is so ordered.

The Dissent

‘Control’ does not necessarily mean actual physical control, but can include the present ability to exercise a right of control.  It does not follow that the railroad so controlled the unloading process that any negligence occurring therin may be automatically attributable to it .  Even Mr. Klebleck, who testified that he engine moved immediately before the accident, cannot say who ordered the movement.  I see no basis for the majority’s conclusion that the train was in the ‘exclusive control’ of the railroad at the time of the accident.  The possible causes include negligence by others as well as the defendant, or causes involving no negligence at all, then the doctrine does not apply.  Therefore, it was error to instruct the jury on the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur.  The case should have been dismissed upon defendant’s motion at the close of the evidence..  Relative to the jury charge, he has an issue with the words ‘ under the control of defendant or its employees” as opposed to ‘exclusive control.’   I would reverse and remand.

Joann e. Lewis v. Carpenter Company

252 Va. 296 (1996)

“The Trailer that Comes Loose from the Tractor Trailer Case”
The Facts
The plaintiff’s evidence showed that, o n September 6, 1994, neat 5:00 p.m., she was operating an automobile southbound in the City of Richmond on Jefferson Davis Highway, and stopped at the intersection with Hopkins Road in obedience to a red traffic signal.  The plaintiff’s vehicle was in the left of three southbound lanes.  At the same time, defendant’s employee, Prince E. Rich, iii, was operating defendant’s truck southbound on Jefferson Davis Highway, and stopped in the center lane at the intersection.  Both vehicles were “first in line” at the signal,  According tot he the plaintiff, both vehicles moved forward when the light changed to green.  Before the plaintiff’s automobile “cleared Hopkins Road,” she heard a “loud thump and a warning screamed at her” by a passenger.  “She immediately looked over her right shoulder and saw defendant’s tractor proceeding but it had become separated from the trailer, which was also moving forward barely to her right.”  Believing the trailer “was angling toward her” and fearing it would strike her vehicle, the plaintiff, “in a panic move,” steered to her left and accelerated.  “in doing so, she testified, she struck the concrete median that was on her left with much force,” causing here injuries.  There was no contact between the plaintiff’s vehicle and defendant’s tractor or trailer.

The Procedural History
In January 1995, appellant Joann E. Lewis, the plaintiff, files this action against Carpenter Company, the defendant, seeking recovery for personal injures allegedly sustained as the result of the negligent operation and maintenance of defendant’s truck, a tractor trailer unit.  Upon completion of the plaintiff’s case-in-chief during a jury trial, the court sustained defendant’s motion to strike the evidence, ruling the plaintiff had failed to establish a prima facie case of negligence.  The court rejected the plaintiff’s contention that res ipsa loquitur should be applied to withstand the motion to strike.  The plaintiff appeals the November 1995 summary judgement in favor of the defendant.

The Issue

The sloe question presented on appeal is whether the trial court correctly refused to apply the doctrine the res ipsa loquitur.        

The Holding
The plaintiff contends the evidence she adduced was sufficient to invoke the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur and to require the trial court to submit the case to the jury.  We do not agree.

The Reasoning for the Holding
The mere fact that an accident occurred does not warrant application of the doctrine.  It is not to be applied, however, when evidence is available.  Moreover, the doctrine never applies in the case of an unexplained accident that may have been attributable to one of two causes, for one of which the defendant is not responsible.  In the present case, the plaintiff has failed to prove that an incident occurred which normally would not have occurred if defendant had used reasonable care.  The employer’s testimony about the maintenance of defendant’s tractor-trailer unit on the day in question prior to the incident was clear, reasonable, and not contradicted.  Indeed, it showed defendant to be completely free of fault in the manner the rig was connected, locked, and operated.  The plaintiff did not seek to eliminate alternative causes of the operation, suc as, defects in the equipment.  Also she offered not grounds for deciding that simply because the unit separated, it therefor must have been due to defendant’s negligence.  After the accident, the tractor’s fifth wheel mechanism was still locked.  The locking mechanism of the tractor’s fifth wheel would not unlock.

The Procedural result

The judgement of the trail court is affirmed.

Ybarra v. Spangard

154 P.2d 687 (Cal 1944)

“The Appendectomy/Injured Shoulder Case”
The Facts

On October 28, 1939, plaintiff consulted defendant Dr. Tilley, who diagnosed his ailment as appendicitis, and made arrangements for an appendectomy to be performed by defendan Dr. Spangard at a hospital owned and managed by defendant Dr. Swift.  Plaintiff entered the hospital, was given a hypodermic injection, slept, and later was awakened by Drs. Tilley and Spangard and whelled into the operating room by a nurse whom he believed to be defendant Gisler, an employee of Dr, Swift.  Defendant Dr. Reser, the anesthestist, also an employee of Dr. Swifr, adjusted the plaintiff for the operation, pulling his body to the head of the operating table and. Cording to plaintiff’s testimony, laying him back against two hard objects a the top of his shoulders, about an inch below his neck.  Dr. Reser then administered anesthetic and plaintiff lost consciousness.  When he awoke early the following morning he was in his hospital room attended by defendant Thompson, the special nurse, and another nurse who was not made a defendant.  Plaintiff testified that prior to the operation he had never had any pain in, or injury to, his right arm or shoulder, but that when he was awakened he felt a sharp pain about half way between the neck and the point of the right shoulder.  He complained the nurse, and then to Dr. Tilley, who gave him diathermy treatments while he remained in the hospital.  The pain did not cease but spread down to the lower part of his are, and after his release from the hospital, the condition grew worse.  He was unable to rotate or lift his arm, and developed paralysis and atrophy of the muscles around the shoulder.  He received further treatments from Dr. Tilley until March 1940, and them returned to work, wearing his arm in a splint o the advice of Sr. Spangard.  Two outside doctors; opinions stated plaintiff’s condition was due to trauma or injury by pressure or strain applied between  his right shoulder and neck and paralyis of traumatice origin.       

The Procedural History
This is an action for damages for personal injures alleged to have been inflicted on plaintiff by defendants during the course of a surgical operation.  The trial court entered a judgement of nonsuit as to all defendants and the plaintiff appealed.  Plaintiff’s theory is that the evidence presents a proper case for the application of res ipsa loquitur, and that the inference of negligence arising therefrom makes the granting of a nonsuit improper.  Defendants take the position that, assuming the plaintiff’s condition was if fact the result of an injury, there is no showing that the act of any particular defendant, nor any particular instrumentality, was the cause thereof.  They attack plaintiff’s action as an attempt to fix liablility ‘en masse’ on various defendants, some of whom were not responsible for the acts of others; and they further point to the failure to show which defendants had control of the instrumentalities that may have been involved.  Their main defense may be briefly stated in two propositions:  (1) that where there are several and the injury might have resulted form the separate act of either one or two or more persons , the rule of res ipsa loquitur cannot be invoked against any one of them and (2) that where there are several instrumentalities and no showing is made as to which caused the injury or as to the particular defendant in control of it, the doctrine does not apply.  We are satisfied, however, that these objections are not well taken in the circumstances in this case.  

The Issue

Does the number or relationship of the  defendants alone determine whether the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur applies?

The Holding

We merely hold that where a plaintiff receives unusual injuries while unconsciousness and in the course of medical treatment, all those defendants who had any control over his body or the he instrumentalities which might have caused the injures may properly be called upon to meet the inference of negligence by giving an explanation of their conduct.

The Reasoning for the Holding
Any defendant who negligently injured him, and any defendant charged with his care, who so neglected him as to allow the injury to occur, would be liable.  The defendant employers would be liable for the neglect of their employees; and the doctor in charge of the operation would be liable for the negligence of those who became his temporary servants for the purpose of assisting in the operation.  It is manifestly unreasonable for them to insist that he identify any one of them as the person who did the alleged negligent act.  The passenger sitting awake in a railroad car a the time of a collision, the pedestrian walking along the street and struck by a falling object or the debris of an explosion, are surely not more entitled to an explanation that the unconscious patient on the operating table. 

The Procedural Result

The judgement is reversed.

Baltimore and Ohio RR v. Goodman

275 U.S. 66 (1927)

“Caution at the Railroad Crossing Case”
The Facts
Goodman was driving an automobile truck in an easterly direction and was killed by a train running southwesterly across the road at a rate of not less than 60 mile per hour.  The line was straight but it is said by the respondent that Goodman had not practical view beyond a section house 243 north of the crossing until he was about 20 feet from the first rail, or, as the respondent argues , 12 feet from danger, and that then the engine was  still obscured by the section house.  He had been driving at the rate of 10 to 12 miles per hour but had slowed down his rate to 5 or 6 miles at about 40 feet from the crossing.  It is though there was an emergency in which, so far as appears, Goodman did all that he could.  It was daylight and he was familiar with the crossing, for it appears to us plain that nothing suggested by the evidence to relieve Goodman from the responsibility of his own death.    

The Procedural History
This is a suit brought by the widow and administratrix of Nathan Goodman against the petitioner (B&O Railroad0 for causing his death by running  him down at a grade crossing.  The defense is that Goodman’s own negligence caused the death.  At the trial the defendant asked the Court to direct a verdict for it, but the request and other looking for the same direction were refused, and the plaintiff got averdict and a judgement which was affirmed by the Circuit Court of Appeals. 10F.2d 58.

The Issue

The Holding

The question of due care very generally is left to the jury.  But we are dealing with a standard of conduct, and when the standard is clear it should be laid down once for all by the courts.

The Reasoning for the Holding
It seems to us that a driver cannot be sure other wide whether a train is dangeroulsy near he must stop and get out of his vehicle, although obviously he will not often be required to do more than to stop and look.  It seems to us that if he relies on  not hearing the train or any signal and takes not further precaution he does so at his own risk.

The Procedural Result
Judgement Reversed

Pokora v. Wabash Ry.

292 U.S, 98 (1934)

“The Revised Caution at the Railroad Crossing Case”

The Facts

Plaintiff Pokora was an ice dealer, and had come to the crossing to load his truck with ice.  The tracks of the Wabash Railway are laid along Tenth street, which runs north and south.  There is a crossing at Edwards street running east and west.  Two ice depots are on the corners of Tenth and Edward street; one at the northeast corner and one at the southwest.  Pokura, driving west along Edwards street, stopped at the first of these corners to get his load of ice, but found so many trucks ahead of him that he decided to try the depot on the other side of the way.  In crossing the railway, the accident occurred.  Defendant Wabash has four tracks on Tenth Street, a switch track on the east, then the main track, and then two switches.  Pokora, as he left the northeast corner where his truck had been stopped, looked to the north for approaching trains.  He did this at a point about 10 or 15 feest east of the the sitch ahead of him.  A string of box cars standing on the switch, about 5 to 10 feet from the north line on Edwards street, cut off his view of the tracks beyond the north.  At the same time he listened.  There was neither bell nor whistle.  Still listening, he crossed the switch, and reaching the main track was struck by a passenger train coming from the north at a speed of 25 to 30 miles per hour.  For reasons already stated, the testimony permits the inference the inference that the truck was in the zone of danger by the time the field of vision was enlarged. 

The Procedural History

Plaintiff John Pokura, driving his truck across a railway grade crossing in the city of Spring Field, Illinois, was struck by a train and injured.  Upon the trial of his suit for damages, the District Court held that he had been guilty of contributory negligence, and directed a verdict for the defendant.  The Circuit Court of Appeals (one judge dissenting) affirmed (66 F.(2d) 166), resting his judgement on the opinion of this court in B&O Railroad Compnay v.Goodman.  A writ of certiorari brings the case here.  The burden of proof was on the defendant to make out the defense of contributory negligence.  His case was for the jury, unless as a matter of law he was subject to a duty to get out of the vehicle before it crossed the switch, walk forward to the fron, and then, afoot, aurvey the scene.  We must say whether his failure to do this was negligence so obvious and certain that one conclusion and only one is permissible for rational and candid minds.

The Issue

Can a defendant be successful with  a contributory negligence defense when his parked trains obstructed the view of a person attempting to cross the tracks?  Is a plaintiff required to get out of his vehicle and check for oncoming trains per B&O v. Goodman? 

The Holding

The opinion in the Goodman case has been a source of confusion in the federal courts to the extent that it imposes a standard for application by the judge, and has had only wavering support in the courts of the states.  We limit is accordingly.

The Reasoning for the Holding
For all that appears he had no view of the main track northward, or none for a substantial distance, till the train was no near that escape had been cut off.  To some extent, at least, there was assurance in the though that the defendant would not run its train at such a time and place without sounding bell or whistle.  Indeed, the statutory signals did not exhaust the defendant’s duty when to is knowledge there was special danger to the traveler through obstruction on the roadbed narrowing the field of vision.  All this must be taken into account by us in comparing what he did with the conduct reasonable to be expected of reasonable men.  There is need at this stage to clear the ground of brushwood that may obscure the point at issue.  The subject has been less considered in this court, but is some of its opinion is there a suggestion that ay any and every crossing the duty to stopis absolute irrespective of danger.  To the contrary, the opinion makes it clear that the duty is conditioned upon the presence of impediments whereby sight and hearing become inadequate for the traveler’s protection.  Here the fact is not disputed that the plaintiff did stop before he started to cross the tracks.  Standards of prudent conduct are declared at times by courts, but they are take over from the facts of life.  To get out of a vehicle and reconnoitre is an uncommon precaution as everyday experience informs us.  Instead of helping himself by getting out, he might do better to press forward with all his faculties alert.  There was even stronger reason to believe that the space to be covered in going back and forth would make his observation worthless

The Procedural Result

The judgement should be reversed, and the cause remanded for further proceedings in accordance with this opinion.

Wilkerson v. McCarthy

336 U.S. 55 (1949)

“The Permanent Board Over the Pit Case”
The Facts

The plaintiff, railroad switchmen, was injured while performing duties as an employee of respondents in their railroad coach yard at Denver, Colorado.  The Utah Supreme Court stated that ‘ the permanent board’ was ‘almost certain to become greasy or oily from use by the pit men.  Neither before nor after the chains were put up had the railroad ever forbidden pit worker or any other worker to walk across th epit on the ‘permanent board.’  Neither written rules not spoken instruction had forbidden any employees to use the board.  And witnesses for both sides testified that pit workers were supposed to, and did, continue to use the board as a walkway after the chains and posts were installed.  The Utah Supreme Court nevertheless held that erection of the chain and post enclosure was itself the equivalent of company orders that no employees other than pit workers should walk across the permanent board when the chains were up.

The Procedural history

Plaintiff brought this action for damages under the Federal Employer Liability Act (FELA).  The complaint alleged that in the performance of his duties in the railroad yard it became necessary for him to walk over a wheel-pit on a narrow boardway, and that du to negligence of respondents, he fell into the pit and suffered grievous personal injuries.  The complaint further alleged that respondents had failed to furnish him a safe place to work in several detailed particulars, namely, that the pit boardway (1) was not firmly set, (2) was not securely attached, and (3) although only about 20 inches wide, the boardway had been permitted to become greasy, oily, and slippery, thereby causing petitioner to lose his balance and fall into the pit.  

The respondents in their answer to this complaint admitted the existence of the pit and petitioner’s injuries as a result of falling into it.  They denied, however, that the injury resulted from the railroad’s negligence, charging that plaintiff’s own negligence was the sole proximate cause of his injuries.  On motion of the railroad, the trial judge directed the jury to return a verdict in it favor.  The Supreme Court of Utah affirmed, one judge dissenting (Utah, 187 P.2d 188).  It is because of the importance of preserving for litigants in FELA cases their right to a jury trial that we granted certiori in this case.  The Utah Supreme Court also concluded that there was insufficient evidence to authorize a jury finding that employees generally, as well as pit workers, had continued their long standing and open practice of crossin ghe pit on the permanent board between the time the chains were put up and the time petitioner was injured. 

The Issue

The Holding

The continued general use of the boardway by employees other than the pit men is a narrow conflict of evidence and it was for the jury, not the court, to resolve the conflict.  A jury question would have been presented on the condition of the board and the adequacy of the encl;osure.  We agree with this last quoted assessment of the Utah court, and since there was evidence to support a jury finding that employees generally had habitually used the board as a walkway.  It was error for the trail judge to direct a verdict in favor of respondent. 

The Reasoning for the Holding
It is only as a result of its inappropriate resolution of this conflicting evidence that the State Supreme Court affirmed the action of the trial court in directing the verdict.  Following its determination of fact the Utah Supreme Court acted on the assumption that the respondents ‘had no knowledge, actual or constructive, that switchmen were using the plank to carry out their tasks.  The Act provides that ‘contributory negligence shall not bar recovery, but the damages shall be diminished by the jury in proportion to the amount of negligence attributable to such employee.’  A jury would hold a master ‘liable for injures attributable to conditions under his control when they are not such as a reasonable man ought to maintain in the circumstances.  Railroad contends that juries will invariably decide negligence questions against the railroads.  It must be assumed that the constitutional tribunal does its duty, and finds facts only because they are proved. 

The Procedural Result 

The trial court should have submitted the case to the jury, and it was error for the Utah Supreme Court to affirm its actions in taking the case from the jury.  The judgement of the Supreme Court of Utah is reversed and the cause for further action not inconsistent with this opinion.  It is so ordered.  Reversed and remanded. 

Concurrence 1(Frankfurter)
Only an incompetent or a willful judge would take a case from the jury when the issue should be left to the jury.  A timid judge, like a biased judge, is a lawless judge.  For this court to take a case which turns on such an appraisal of evidence, however, much hardship in the fallible application of an archaic system of compensation for injures to railroad employees may touch our private sympathy, is to deny due regard to the consideration which led the Court to as and Congress to give the power to control the court’s docket,  Writ of certiorari should be given in cases involving principles the settlement of which is of importance to the public as distinguished form that of the parties, and in cases where there is a real and embarrassing conflict of opinion and authority between the Circuit Courts of Appeals.  The present case certainly comes under neither head.  I would, therefore, dismiss the petition as having been improvidently granted.  Since, however, that was not to be done, I too have been obliged to re-canvass the record and likewise think that there was here enough evidence to go to the jury.

Concurrent 2 (Douglas)
FELA was designed to put on the railroad industry some of the cost for the legs, arms, and lives which is consumed in its operations.  The liability it imposed is the liability for negligence.  In 1939 Congress did indeed move to release employees from the burden of assumption of risk whichi the Court re-imposed on them.  Since the condition was created by the Court and beyond effective control by Congress, it was appropriated and fitting that the Court correct it.  Three observations made on p 148.     

Kumbo v. Carmichael tire

529 U.S. 137 (1999)

“The Tire Expert Case”
The Facts

On july 6, 1993, the right rear tire of a minivan driven by Patrick Carmichael blew out.  In the accident that followed, one of the passengers dies, and others were severely injured.  In October 1993, the Carmichael’s brought this diversity suit against the tire’s maker and its distributor, whom we refer to collectively as Kumbo Tire, claiming that the tire was defective.  The plaintiff’s rested their case in significant part upon the deposition testimony provided by an expert in tire failure analysis, Dennis J. Carlson, Jr., who intended to testify in support of their conclusion.  Carlson’s depositions relied upon certain features of tire technology that are not in dispute. 

The Procedural History
In Daubert v. Merrill Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., (509 U.S. 579(1993)) this court focused upon the admissibility of scientific expert testimony.  It pointed out that such testimony is admissible only if it is both relevant and reliable.  And it held that the Federal Rules of Evidence “assign to the trial judge tha taks of ensuring that an expert’s testimony both rests on a reliable foundation and is relevant to the task at hand.”  The Court also discussed certain more specific factors, such as testing, peer review, error rated, and “acceptability” in the relevant scientific community, some or all of which might prove helpful in determining the reliability of a particular scientific “theory or technique.”  This case requires us to decide how Daubert applies to the testimony of engineers and other experts who are not scientists.  Kumbo Tire moved the District Court to exclude Carlson’s testimony on the ground that his methodology failed Rule 702’s reliability requirement.  The court agreed on with Kumbo that it should act as a Daubert-type reliability “gatekeeper,” even though one might consider Carlson’s testimony as “technical” rather than “scientific.”  The court then examined Carlson’s methodology in light of the reliability-related factors that Daubert mentioned such as a theory’s testability, wherher it has been the subject of peer review or publication, the known or potential rate of error, and the degree of acceptance … within the relevant scientific community.  The District Court found that all those factors argued against the reliability of Carlson’s methods, and it granted the motion to exclude the testimony (as well as the defendants’ accompanying motion for summary judgement).  The plaintiffs argued that the court’s application of the Daubert factors was too ”inflexible,” and asked for reconsideration.  The Court granted that motion.  After reconsidering the matter, the court agreed with the plaintiffs, that Daubert should be applied flexibly, that is four factors were simply illustrative, and that other factors could argue in favor of admissibility.  It conceded that there may be widespread acceptance of a “visual inspection method” for some relevant purposes.  But the court found insufficient indications of the reliability of the “component of Carlson’s tire failure analysis which most concerned the court, namely, the methodology employed by the expert in analyzing the data obtained in the visual inspection, and the scientific basis, if any for such analysis.”

The Eleventh Circuit reversed.  It concluded that Carlson’s testimony, which it viewed as relying on experience, “falls outside the scope of Daubert,” the “the district court erred as a matter of law by applying Daubert in this case” and that the case must be remanded for further (non-Daubert-type) consideration under Rule 702.  Kumbo Tire petitioned for certiorari, asking us to determine whether a trial court “may” consider Daubert’s specific “factors” when determining the “admissibility of an engineering expert’s testimony.”  We granted certiorari in light of uncertainty among the lower courts about whether or how Daubert applies to expert testimony that might be characterized as based not upon “scientific” knowledge, but rather upon “technical” or “other specialized” knowledge.

The petitioners as more specifically whether a trial judge determining the “admissibility of any engineering expert’s testimony” may consider several more specific factors that Daubert said might “bear on” a judge’s gate-keeping determination  (see page 153).  Does the presence of  Daubert’s general acceptance factor help show that an expert’s testimony is reliable where the discipline itself lacks reliability, ie, astrology and necromancy.  The list of factors was meant to be helpful not definitive.

The Issue

Is the Daubert decision only to be applied to scientific testimony?  The particular issue in this case concerned the use of Carlson’s two-factor test and his related use of visual/tactile inspection to draw conclusions on the basis of what seemed small observational differences. 

The Holding

We conclude that Daubert’s general holding, setting forth the trial judge’s general “gatekeeping” obligation, applies to testimony base on “scientific” knowledge but also testimony based on “technical” and “other specialized” knowledge.  We also conclude that a trial court may consider one or more specific factors that Daubert mentioned when doing so will help determine that testimony’ reliability.  But, as the court stated in Daubert, the test of reliability is “flexible,” and Daubert’s list of specific factors neither necessarily nor exclusively applies to all experts in every case.  Rather, the law grants a district court the same broad latitude when it decides how to determine reliability as it enjoys in respect to its ultimate reliability determination.   We conclude that the trial judge must have considerable leeway in deciding in a particular case how to go about determining whether particular expert testimony is reliable.

The Reasoning for the Holding
Rule 702 makes no distinction between “scientific,” “technical,” and “other specialized” knowledge.  Rules 702 and 703 assume that the expert’s opinion will have a reliable basis in the knowledge and experience of his discipline.”  Finally, it would be difficult, if not impossible, for judges to administer evidentiary rules under which a gatekeeping obligation depended upon a distinction between “scientific” knowledege and “technical” or “other specialized knowledge.”  There is no clear line that divided one the othes. 

The Procedural Result
The District Court did not abuse its discretionary authority in this case.  Hence, the judgement of the Court of Appeals is reversed.

Concurrence (Scalia)
I think is worth adding that it is not discretion to perform the function inadequately.  Rather, it is discretion to choose among reasonable means of excluding expertise that is fausse and science that is junky.  The Daubert factors are not holy writ, in a particular case the failure to apply one or another of them may be unreasonable, and hence an abuse of discretion. 

.

The Dissent (Stevens)
Felt that Part III which questioned whether the trail judge abused his discretion of power when he excluded the testimony of Carlson that would have been more appropriately performed by the Court of Appeals.  I do not feel qualified to disagree with the well reasoned factual analysis in Part III of the Court’s opinion, I do not join in that Part, and I respectfully dissent form the Court’s disposition of the case.

Gentry v. Douglas Hereford Ranch, Inc.

962 P.2d 1205 (Montana, 1998)

“The Accidental Shooting From Hunter Slipping on the Step”

The Facts

Douglas Hereford Ranch, Inc. is the owner of ranch land located in Wibaux County, Montana.  The principal shareholder in the ranch company is Cleone Elizabeth Douglas, the grandmother of Chris Ann Douglas who, at the time relevant to the action was married to Brent Bacon.  Defendant Pard Cattle Company was the lessee of the ranch land.  Barbara Gentry offered to assisted Cleone and Chirs Douglas with the painting of the “new house.”  On November 5, 1994, Brent Bacon, carrying his rifle over his shoulder, was walking up the wood decking and steps adjoining the new house, and he stumbled and fell. Sometime after he stumbled, but before he landed on the deck, his rifle discharged, the bullet struck Barbara in the head; and, after surviving for a period of 69 days, she died from head injuries she sustained when she was shot.

The Procedural History
The plaintiff, John L. Gentry, brought this action in the District Courtofor the Seventh Judicial District in Wibaux County, to recover damages from the defendants, Douglas Hereford Ranch, Inc. and Pard Cattle Company, for the wrongful death of Barbara Gentry, and for damages sustained prior to her death.  The District Court awarded summary judgement to both defendants.  Gentry appeals form the District Court’s order and judgement.  Bacon was dismissed as a defendant when he sought protection I bankruptcy court.  The defendants contended that Barbara’s injuries were neither caused in fact nor proximately caused by any condition on the ranch property.  We conclude that no proof has been presented to establish that a condition on the ranch property contributed as an actual cause of Barbara’s injury.  Gentry alleged that the ranch company and the cattle company were negligent by failing to maintain the stairs to the deck adjoining the new house.

The Issue

Proving actual cause or proximate cause.

The Holding

We conclude that not proof has been presented to establish that a condition on the ranch property contributed as an actual cause of Barbara Gentry’s injury.

The Reasoning for the Holding

Brent Bacon did not testify that the steps had caused his fall.  He said it could have been his own clumsiness.  Gentry based his case on one isolated statement that Bacon made during the investigation where he mentioned the step. 

The Procedural Result 

We affirm the judgement of the District Court.

Lyons v. Midnight Sun Transportation Services

928 P.2d 1202 (Alaska ,1996)

The Facts
Esther Hunter-lyons was killed when her Volkswagon van was struck driven by David Jette and owned by Midnight Sun Transportation Services, Inc.  When the accident occurred, Jette was driving south in the right-hand lane of Arctic Boulevar in Anchorage.  Hunter-Lyons pulled out of a parking lot in front of him.  Jette braked and steered to the left, but Hunter-Lyons continued to pull out further into the traffic lane.  Janes’ truck collided with Hunter-Lyons vehicle.  David Lyons, the deceased’s husband, filed suit asserting that Jette had been speeding and driving negligently.  At trial conflicitng testimony was introduced regarding Jette’s speed before the collision.

The Procedural History

The jury found that Jette, in fact, had been negligent, but his negligence was not the legal cause of the accident.  They found that he was driving negligently and responded inappropriately when Mrs. Hunter-Lyons entered the traffic lane, and, thus, did not exercise the care and prudent a reasonable person would have exercised under the circumstances.   The jury found lack of causation, which is one of the required elements of negligence.

The Issue
Determining causation.

The Holding

We cannot say that the jury’s finding of lack of causation was unreasonable.

The Reasoning for the Holding

There was evidence presented at trial from which the jury could reasonably have drawn the conclusion that even though Jette was driving negligently, his negligence was not the proximate cause of the accident.  One witness stated that even if Jette had been driving within the speed limit, the accident could have happened.  Expert testimony also showed that Jette responded properly to the unexpected introduction of a vehicle in his traffic lane.  With the element of causation lacking, even the most egregious negligence cannot result in liability. 

The Procedural Result
Affirmed.

Anderson v. Minneapolis, St. Paul & Sault Ste. Marie Ry.Co.

146 Minn 430, 179 N.W. 45 (1920)

“The Who Started the Fire Case”
The Facts

Plaintiff’s case in chief was directed to proving that in August 1918, one the defendant’s engines started a fire in a bog near the west side of plaintiff’s land; that it smoldered there until October 12, 1918, when it flared up and burned his property, shortly before it was reached by one of the great fires which swept through Northwester Minnesota at the close of that day.  Defendant introduced evidence to sho that on and prio to October 12th fires were burning west and northwest of, and were swept by the wind towards plaintiff’s premises.  It did not show how such fires orginated, neither did it clearly and certainly trace the destruction of plaintiff’s property to them.  By cross-examination of defendant’s witnesses and by his rebuttal evidence plaintiff made a showing which would have justified the jury in finding that the fires proved bt defendant were started by its locomotive no or near the right of way in the vicinity of Kettle River.    

The Procedural History

This is a fire case brought against defendant railway company and the Director General of Railroads … Plaintiff had a verdict.  The appeal is from an order denying a motion in the alternative for judgement notwithstanding the verdict or for a new trial The jury instructions were:  if plaintiff’s property was damaged by one of defendant’s locomotives …, if plaintiff was burned out by fire set by one of defendant’s engines in combination with some other fire…, other fires mingled with one that was set by defendant’s engines, or if bog fire was set by defendant’s engine and another fire swept over it, you will need to determine whether the bog fire was a material or substantial factor in causing plaintiff’s damage.  The defendant made a different proposition and relied on it for a reversal (fire of such sufficient or superior force that they would have produced the damage to plaintiff’s property, regardless of the fire pleaded, then defendant was not liable, base upon the Cook Case).   

The Issue

Determining causation in multiple fire cases. 

The Holding

We therefore hold that the trail court did not err in refusing to instruct the jury in accordance with the rule laid down in the Cook Case.

The Reasoning for the Holding

If a fire set by the engine of one railroad company unites with a fire set by the engine of another company, there is joint an several liability, even though either fire would have destroyed the plaintiff’s property.  But if the doctrine of the Cook Case is applied, and one of the fires is of unknown origin, there is no liability.

The Procedural Result
We find no error requiring a reversal, and hence the order appealed from is affirmed.

Dillon v. Twin State Gas and Electric Co.

85 N.H. 449, 163 A. 111 (1932)
“The Electocution on the Bridge Case”

The Facts

The defendant maintained wires to carry electric current over a public bridge in Berlin.  The construction of the wire lines over and upon the bridge is termed aerial.  The wires were insulated for weather protection but not against contact.  The decedent and other boys had been accustomed for a number of years to play on the bridge in the daytime, habitually climbing the sloping girders to the horizontal ones, on which they walked and sat and from which they sometimes dived into the river.  No current passed through the wires in daytime except by chance.  The decedent, while sitting on a horizontal girder at a point where the wires from the post to the lamp were in front of him or at his side, and while facing outwards from the side of the bridge , leaned over, lost his balance, instinctively threw out his arm, and took hold of one of the wires with his right hand to save himself from falling.  The wires happened to be charged with a high voltage current at the time and he was electrocuted.

The Procedural History
Action for negligently causing the death of the plaintiff’s intestate, a boy of 14.  A jury trial resulted in a disagreement.  Transferred by Oakes, J., on the defendant’s exception to the denial of its motion for a directed verdict.

The Issue

Causation where if not for the accident the person would have been killed or severely injured.

The Holding

The defendant’s exception should be overruled.

The Reasoning for the Holding
His probable future but for the current thus bears on liability as well as damages.  Whether the shock from the current threw him back on the girder or whether he would have recovered his balance, with or without the aid of the wire hie took hold of; if it had not been charged are issues of fact, as to which the evidence as it stands may lead to different conclusions.

The Procedural Result

 Exception overruled.

In re Arbitration between Polenmis and Furness, withy and Co. Ltd.

(1921) 3 K.B. 560 (Court of Appeal, 1921)

“The Fire on the Ship Case”
The Facts

The ship arrived at Casablanca on July 17, 1917, and there discharged a portion of her cargo.  The cargo was discharged by Arab workmen and winchmen from the shore supplied and sent on board by the charterers’ agents.  The cargo in No. 1 hold included a considerable quantity of cases of benzine or petrol which had suffered some leakage form the tins in the cases in the hold.  On July 21, it had become necessary to shift from No. 1 lower hold a number of the cases of benzine or petrol which were to be taken by ship to Safi, and for this purpose the native stevdores had placed heavy planks across the forward end of the hatchway in the ‘tween decks, using it as a platform in the process of transferring the cases form the lower hold to the ‘tween decks.  There were four or five of the Arab shore laborers in the lower hold filling the slings which, when filled, were moved up by means of the winch situated on the upper deck to the ‘tween decks level of the platform on which some of the Arabls in the ‘tween decks were working.  In consequence of the breakage of the cases there was a considerable amount of petrol vapor in the hold.  In the course of heaving a sling of the cases from the hold the rope by which the sling was being raised or the sling itself came into contact with the boards placed across the forward end of the hatch, causing one of the boards to fall into the lower hold, and the fall was instantaneously followed by a rush of flames from the lower hold, and this resulted eventually in the total destruction of the ship.    

The Procedural History
Subject to the opinion of the court on any questions of law arising the arbitrators awarded that the owners were entitled to recover form the charterers  196,165 pounds.  If the Court should be of opinion that the above award was wrong, then the arbitrators awarded that the owners should recover nothing from the charterers.  The owners of the steamship contended (so far as material) that the charterers were liable for the loss of the ship; that fire caused by the negligence was not an excepted peril; and that the ship was in fact lost by the negligence of the stevedores, who were the charterers’ servants, in letting the sling strike the board, knocking it into the hold, and thereby causing a spark which set fire to the petrol vapor and destroyed the ship.  The charterers contended that the fire however caused was an excepted peril; that there was no negligence for which the charterers were responsible, inasmuch as to let a board fall into the hold o fhte ship could do not harm to the ship and therefore was not negligence towards the owners; and that the damages and/or damage were too remote, i.e., no reasonable man would have foreseen danger and/or damage of this kind resulting from the fall of the board. 

The Issue

Determining if proximate cause on the part of the charterers exists relative to the loss of the steamship.

The Holding
The fire appears to me to have been directly caused by the falling of the plank.  Under these cirecumstances I consider that it is immaterial that the causing of the spark by the falling of the plan could not have been reasonably anticipated.  Given the breach of duty which constituted the negligence and given the damage as a direct result of that negligence, the anticipations of the person shose negligent act has produced the damage appear to me to be irrelevant.  I consider that the damages claimed are not too remote.

The Reasoning for the Holding

If the act is thus determined to be negligent, then the question of whether they are the direct consequence of the act….  In the present case it is clear that the act causing the plank to fall was in law a negligent act, because some damage to the ship might reasonably be anticipated.  If this is so then the appellants are liable for the actual loss, that being on the fidnings of the arbitrators the direct result of the falling board.  To determine whether an act is negligent, it is relevant to determine whether any reasonable person would foresee that the act would probably cause damage, the fact that the damage it in fact causes is not the exact kind of damage one would expect is immaterial, so long as the damage is fact directly traceable to the negligent act, and not due to the operation of independent causes having no connection with the negligent act, except that they could not avoid its results.  Once the act is negligent, the fact that its exact operation was not foreseen is immaterial…  In the present case it was negligent is discharging cargo to know down the planks of the temporary staging, for they might easily cause some damage either to workmen, or cargo, or the ship.  The fact that they did directly produce an unexpected result, a spark in an atmosphere of petrol vapor, which caused a fire, does not relieve the person who was negligent from the damage which his negligent act directly caused.  Foreseeability is important is determining negligence, but when it has been determined that there is evidence of negligence, the person guilty of it is equally liable for its consequences, whether he could have foreseen them or not.

The Procedural Result

For these reasons I think that the appeal fails, and must be dismissed with costs.   

Palsgraf v. Long Island R. Co.

248 N.Y. 339, 162 N.E. 99 (1928)

“The Firecrackers at the Train Station Case”

The Facts

Plaintiff was standing on a platform of defendant’s railroad after buying a ticket to go to Rockway Beach.  A train stopped at the station, bound for another place.  Two men ran forward to catch it.  One of the men reached the platform of the car without mishap, though the train was already moving.  The other man, carrying a package jumped aboard the car, but seemed unsteady as if about to fall.  A guard on the car, who had held the door open, reached forward to help him in, and another guard on the platform pushed him from behind.  In this act, the package was dislodged, and fell upon the rails.  It was a package of small size, about 15 inches long, and was covered by newspaper.  In fact it contained fireworks, but there was nothing in its appearance to give notice of its contents,  The fireworks when they fell exploded.  The shock of the explosion threw down some scales at the other end of the platform many feet away.  The scales struck the plaintiff, causing injuries for which she sues.

The Procedural History

The argument for the plaintiff is built upon the shifting meanings of such words as ‘wrong” and ‘wrongful” and shares their instability.  What the plaintiff must show is ‘a wrong’ to herself, i.e., a violation of her own right, and not merely a wrong to some one else, nor conduct ‘wrongful’ because unsocial, but not ‘a wrong’ to any one.  This does not mean, of course, that one who launches a destructive force is always relieved of liability, if the force, though known to be destructive, pursues an unexpected path.   

The Issue

Is the railroad negligent when an innocent looking package is knocked from a passenger’s grasp while the passenger is being assisted aboard.  The package explodes causing injury to a passenger on the platform. 

The Holding

The consequence to be followed must first be rooted in a wrong.  The railroad is not negligent.  If there is no tort to be redressed, there is no occasion to consider what damage might be recovered if there were a finding of a tort. 

The Reasoning for the Holding
Proof of negligence in the air, so to speak, will not do.  If no hazard was apparent to the eye of the ordinary vigilance, an act innocent and harmless, at least to outward seeming, with reference to her, did not take to itself the quality of a tort because it happened to be a wrong, though apparently not one involving the risk of bodily insecurity, with reference to someone else…  The plaintiff sues in her own right for a wrong personal to her, and not as the vicarious beneficiary of a breach of duty to another.  The wrongdoer as to them is the man who carries the bomb, not the one who explodes it without suspicion of danger.  There was nothing in the situation to suggest to the most cautious mind that the parcel wrapped in newspaper would spread wreckage through the station.. Liability can be no greater where the act is inadvertent.  Negligence, like risk, is thus a term of relation.  Negligence is not a tort unless it results in the commission of a wrong, and the commission of a wrong imports the violation of a right, in this case, we are told, the right to be protected against interference with one’s bodily security. 

The Procedural Result

The judgement of the Appellate Division and that of the Trial Term should be reversed, and the complaint dismissed, with costs in all courts,

The Dissent (J. Andrews)

This is not a mer dispute at to words.  We deal in terms of proximate cause, not negligence.  There must be both the act or the  omission and the right.  Due care is a duty imposed on each one of us to protect society from unnecessary danger.  When injures result from an unlawful act we liable for the consequences.  It does not matter that they are unusual, unexpected, unforeseen, and unforeseeable.  But there is one limitation.  The damages must be so connected with the negligence that the latter may be the proximate cause of the former.  What we mean by the word “proximate” is that, because of convenience, of public safety, of a rough sense of justice, the law arbitrarily declines to trace a series of events beyond a certain point.  This is not logic it is practical politics (uses the analogy of a stream).  Remoteness in time and space,  We trace consequences no indefinitely, but toa certain point.  And to aid us in fixing that point we ask what might ordinarily be expected to follow the fir or the explosion.  In this case, there was no remoteness in time, little in space.  Under these circumstances, I cannot say as a matter of law that the plaintiff’s injuries were not the proximate result of the negligence.  That is all we have before us.  The court refused to so charge.  No request was made to submit the matter to the jury as a question of fact, even would that have been proper upon the record before us.

The judgement appealed from should be affirmed.

Dapp v. Larsen

659 N.Y.S.2d 130(App. Div. 1997)

“The Home Care Worker Slips on the Door Mat Case”
The Facts

On April 30, 1992, while visiting the defendant in her capacity as a home health aide, the plaintiff sustained injuries when she fell down the steps of the defendant’s residence.  It was raining at the time of the accident.  The steps and the porch were carpeted with green all-weather carpeting and a brown plastic door mat was near the doorway.  As plaintiff was leaving the residence, she claims that she took a few steps across the porch and started to descend the stairs when she fell.  Upon landing at the bottom of the stairs, she noticed the brown plastic doormat that had been on the porach was laying on the bottom step and sidewalk.

The Procedural History
Appeal from an order of the Supreme Court entered July 24, 1996, in Chemung County, which granted the defendant’s motion for summary judgement dismissing the complaint.

The Issue
The Holding

Since plaintiff failed to raise a triable issue as to causation, we conclude that defendant’s summary judgement was properly granted.

The Reasoning for the Holding

Plaintiff alleges that the plastic mat in front of the defendant’s house constituted a dangerous condition that defendant created or had notice thereof.  Regardless of the merit of this assertion, however, plaintiff failed to submit proof establishing that her accident was caused by the condition.  She couldn’t remember the location of the mat when she arrived and she did not notice the location of the mat preceding her fall.  Only after here fall did the plaintiff see the mat at the bottom of the stairs on the sidewalk.  Although plaintiff presumes that the door mat caused her to fall, “conclusions based upon surmise, conjecture, speculation, or assertion are without probatove value.”

The Procedural Result

Affirmed.

Williams v. Emro Marketing Company

494 S.E.2d 218 (Ga. App. 1997)
“Slipping on the Ice at the Gas Station Case”
The Facts

The evidence is that Williams was on his way to work on 2/9/93, when he stopped for gas at a store owned by EMRO.  He first paid in the store and then returned along the same route to pump gas.  In his return he slipped and fell, injuring his knee and other parts of his body.  He never saw what he slipped on and never saw any ice and his clothes were not wet from ice or water.  He stated in an affidavit, “I didn’t personally witness on 2/9/93, exactly what substance caused me to fall.”  No other person directly witnessed Williams’ fall.  It had rained the day before, the temperature was below freezing, and water from a canopy flowed through a downspout where Williams parked his car. 

The Procedural History

Nathaniel Williams and his wife sued EMRO Marketing Co. for injures suffered when Williams allegedly slipped and fell on ice on the pavement at the premises of a store owned by EMRO.  EMRO moved for and was granted summary judgement on its argument that Williams failed to present any evidence that ice was the cause in fact of his fall.  The trial court did not explain its ruling.  Although EMRO contends that no evidence showed Williams slipped on ice, another customer, Perkins, swore by affidavit the he “assisted him from the iced area and he picked up a large piece of ice that he believe Williams slipped on, water had collected on the ground below the downspout and frozen, and ice cubes were hanging directly over where Williams had fallen.”  Williams recalls the sensation of a slick surface as he fell. 

The Issue

Can circumstantial be used to prove causation in a negligence action?

The Holding

Circumstantial evidence, which raises a reasonable inference of the cause of the fall, unrebutted by positive evidence, is sufficient to survive summary judgement. 

The Reasoning for the Holding

Williams; own testimony is not positive evidence of no ice, which therefore rebuts the circumstantial evidence of ice as a cause.  He testified only hta the never saw ice, not that he inspected and found no ice as in Kenny.  Indeed, he was somewhat disoriented by the fall.  Giving the non-movant the benefit of all inferences, this evidence would tend to support a finding of fact the Williams slipped on the ice upon which he lay.  Williams own lack of knowledge of the substance on which he slipped in not dispositive.  A person who is injured my become unconscious or disoriented by the fall and be unable to investigate what he slipped on.  

The Procedural Result

Judgement reversed.

Concurrence (Judge Ruffin)
The dissent does not view the evidence and reasonable inferences in Williams’ favor as required on a motion for summary judgement.

Dissent (Banke)

As in Kenny, Williams did not see, feel, or experience any substance on his clothing and didn’t inspect the ground after his fall which leads us to the conclusion that only a fall of unknown origin was involved.  Thus, the circumstantial evidence, in view of Williams unrefuted testimony, does not demand a a conclusion that ice caused the slip and fall.

Weaks v. Rupp

966 S.W.2d 387 (Mo. App. 1998)

“The Carbon Monoxide Poisoning Case”

The Facts

The Weaks were tenants in an apartment owned by the Rupps.  The Weaks complained to the Rupps in early January 1994 that the furnace in their apartment smelled of burnt wires and gas.  The Rupps call Baskerville, a repairman with 40 years experience.  He serviced the furnace, but did not determine what caused the wires to burn and did not work on the flue or the heat exchanger.  Approximately one week later, Fannie awoke in the night and shouted that she smelled gas from the furnace.  Fannie was suffering from loss of motor skills, severe headache, nausea, dizziness, and could barely sit on the edge of the bed.  Before leaving the apartment, the Weaks turned off the furnace.  No one had touched the furnace since Baskerville serviced it.  Shelley contacted Missouri Gas Energy Co.  and Winn investigated the gas leak.  He determined that the furnace’s heat exchanger was probably cracked and until repaired the furnace should not be operated.  The Missouri Gas Energy Co. recommends that furnaces be cleaned and maintained once per year.  The Rupps had not serviced the furnace in the 8 years they had owned the complex.  Shelley and Fannie were diagnosed with carbon monoxide poisoning. 

The Procedural History

The Weaks filed suot seeking compensatory and punitive damages.  The trial court found for the Rupps.Shelly and Fannie Weaks appeal from the judgement of the trial court entered against them in their action for negligence against their landlords, Ronald and Marie Rupp.  The case was tried before the court without a jury.  The Weaks alleged that the Rupps‘ negligent maintenance of their furnace caused them to suffer carbon monoxide poisoning.  The Weaks raise two issues on appeal.  They contend that the trial court erred by (1) finding against them where the Rupps breached their duty to use ordinary care to prevent the furnace in the Weaks’ apartment from emitting carbon monoxide and (2) fianding against them where the Rupps were liable under the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur.

The Issue

The Holding

The part of the  judgement finding that the Rupps are not liable under a theory of specific negligence is affirmed.  That portion of the judgement finding for the Rupps on Plaintiff’s theory of res ipsa loquitur is reversed, and the case is remanded for a new trial to determine the Rupps’ liability under the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur. 

The Reasoning for the Holding

Even assuming the Rupps were negligent in their maintenance and repair of the furnace, substantial evidence supports a finding that the Weaks failed to establish requisite causation.  While the evidence

established that carbon monoxide fumes emitted from the furnace, there was no evidence presented to show that the Rupps’ allegedly negligent maintenance was causally connected to the emission of the carbon monoxide fumes.  The Weaks have failed to adduce any evidence establishing that either lack of inspection or the rusting of the furnace pipes could cause carbon monoxide fumes to emit into the apartment.  Because substantial evidence supports a finding that the Weaks failed to establish a causal connection between the Rupp’s allegedly negligent maintenance of the furnace, the trial court could have reasonably found that the Weaks failed to prove an actionable case of negligence.  The trial court, therefore, did not err in entering judgement in favor of the Rupps.  Point one is denied.

The Weaks adduced sufficient evidence to establish that the carbon monoxide emission does not ordinarily occur without someone’s negligence.  The furnace emitting the carbon monoxide was under the control of the Rupps; and the Rupps had superior knowledge or means of information as to the cause of the carbon monoxide emission.  Accordingly, the Weaks made a submissible case under the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur.  A party seeking the application and the benefit of the doctrine need not submit facts surroundign the occurrence that exclude all reasonable hypotheses except the defendant’s negligence.  The application of the doctrine simply requires that facts and circumstances be shown to have existed from which one can conclude that more often than not an occurrence or accident of the type involved results from a failure to exercise reasonable care by the party in charge of the instrumentality.  The Rupps conceded that the Weaks injury is of the kind that does not ordinarily occur with out someone’s negligence.  The evidence conclusively established that the Rupps maintained control of the heating system. 

The Procedural Result

The case is remanded to the trial court for a new trial to determine whether the Rupps are liable under the doctrine of res ipsa loquitur.  Point 2 in granted 

Weymers v. Khera

454 Mich. 639, 569 N.W.2d 647 (1997)

“The Opportunity to Avoid Physical Harm Less than Death Case”
The Facts

In early October 1990, plaintiff Kimberly Weymers, was twenty years old, became ill with coughing, fever, nausea, aching, and chest congestion.  After her condition did not improve for more than a week, she went to defendant Walled Lake Medical Center where she was initially examined by a physician’s assistant.  The physician’s assistant concluded form plaintiff’s symptoms that she suffered form a respiratory infection and 

gave her antibiotics.  After another week, plaintiff returned to the medical center because her symptoms intensified.  The physician’s assistant diagnosed plaintiff with pneumonia and sent her home with a stronger prescription of antibiotics.  On October 23, 1990, plaintiff visited the medical center a third time because her condition had not improved. A blood sample indicated that plaintiff suffered from sever anemia.  Defendant Dr. Frank Fenton, the owner of the medical center, arranged for plaintiff to be admitted to defendant St. Joseph’s Hospital in Pontiac.  There she was put in ICU and given blood transfusions.  On October 24, 1990, she was examined by defendant Dr. Rheka Khera who suspected the possibility of a kidney problem and asked defendant Dr. Gregorio Ferrer, a nephrologist, to examine her.  Dr. Ferrer a rare disease, Goodpasture’s syndrome.  The hospital took medical measures (immunosuppressive therapy) but her condition deteriorated.  She was transferred to the William Beaumont Hospital in Royal Oak and place under the care of Dr. Isam Salah.  At the time the plaintiff only had 10-15 percent of her kidney function.  The hospital performed a plasma exchange, but it failed to save the kidney function.  Plaintiff was place on dialysis and her kidneys totally failed and eventually underwent a kidney transplant.       

The Procedural History
Plaintiff filed suit on August 16, 1991, and presented an affidavit by expert witness Dr. Eric Neilson, Chief of the Renal Division of the University of Pennsylvania Hospital who testified that if defendant had given plaintiff proper care she would have has 30-40% chance of retaining her kidney function and noted that 

plaintiff’s life expectancy had been significantly shortened as a consequence of the loss of her kidneys and she would ultimately suffer a premature death.  After discovery closed, defendants moved for a summary disposition arguing that plaintiff had failed to demonstrate that the alleged negligence caused the loss of her kidneys.  In response, plaintiff asserted that she could recover for her kidney damage even though there was less than 50% chance  that defendant’s negligence caused the damage on the basis of lost opportunity doctrine recognized in Falcon v. Memorial Hospital.  The trial court agreed with the defendants and granted their motion for summary disposition.  The trial court noted that plaintiff had failed to show that it was more probable than not that her kidney failure was caused by defendants’ alleged negligence and refused to extend the lost opportunity doctrine recognized in Falcon, a wrongful death case to situations in which the injury did not result in death.  Plaintiff appeals in the Court of Appeals, which reversed the decision of the trial court, holding that the lost opportunity doctrine applied to physical injury less than death.  Defendant Drs. Khera and Ferrer appealed.

The Issue

In this appeal, we address whether Michigan recognizes a cause of action fo rhte loss of an opportunity to avoid physical harm lees than death.

The Holding
We hold that Michigan does not recognize a cause of action for the loss of an opportunity to avoid physical harm less than death.  We acknowledge that the deterrent and loss-allocation functions of tort law are important.  However, we reject scrapping causation (the bedrock of our tort law) in negligence cases wher e the injury alleged by the plaintiff is something less than death, for the lost opportunity doctrine’s deterrent effect.  If deterrence were the sole value to be served by tort law, we could dispense with the notion of causation altogether and award damages on the basis of negligence alone.

The Reasoning for the Holding

When the matter remains one of pure speculation or conjecture, or the probabilities are at best evenly balance, it becomes the duty of the court to direct a verdict for the defendant.  The pure lost chance approach allows a plaintiff to recover for his injury even though it was more likely than not that he would have suffered the injury if the defendant had not been negligent.  The plaintiff only has to show that the defendant’s negligence decreased the plaintiff’s chance, no matter how slight, of avoiding the injury.  If the plaintiff makes such a showing, he received full damages.

The proportional approach is identical to the pure lost chance approach; however, the plaintiff’s recovery is limited to the percent of chance lost multiplied by the total amount of the damages that would ordinarily have been recovered in that action.  For example, if a patient has 40% chance of recovering from breat cancer and a negligent physician’s misdiagnosis resulted in her chances dropping to 10% then the plaintiff can recover 30% of her total death realted injuries   

The Procedural Result

Accordingly, because we refuse to discard causation in negligence actions of this kind, we do not recognize a cause of action for the loss of an opportunity to avoid physical harm less than death.  Therefore, the Court of Appeals recognition of such cause of action was in error and is reversed.

We reverse the Court of Appeals decision.

The Dissent (Justice Kelly)

I would recognize a cause of action for the loss of an opportunity to avoid physical harm less that death because medicine is an inexact science and questions regarding causation are not easily answered, especially where a physician’s failure to act is alleged to be responsible for harm.  Fundamental fairnedd dictates that the uncertainty be imposed on the tortfeasor, not on the patient.  Second the doctor-pateient relationship should be taken into account.  Patients retain physicians not only to cure disease or heal injury, but also to maximize their chance of recovery and to assuage their pain and suffering.  The lost opportunity doctrine helps ensure that physicians are liable for negligence that deprived their patients of less thatn an even chance of obtaining a better result.  Finally, as the Court of Appeals stated, where the chance of recovery is fifty percent or less, the traditional rule undermines the loss allocations and deterrent functions of tort law.  Plaintiff must still prove that more probably than not, the defendant reduced the opportunity of avoiding harm.  The policy reasons behind the lost opportunity doctrine apply equally to fatal and nonfatal cases.     

Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

43 F.3d 1311 (9th Cir. 1995)

“The Expert Witness Requirements Case”

The Facts

Two minors brought suit against Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, claiming they suffered limb reduction birth defects because their mothers had taken Bendectin, a drug prescribed for morning sickness to about 17.5 million pregnant women in the US between 1957 and 1982.  For the most part we don’t know how the birth tdefects come about.  We do know tht occur in 2-3% of births, whether or not the expectant mother has taken Bendectin.  Limb defects are even rarer, occurring is fewer that one birth out of every 1000.  Scientists simply do not know how teratogens (chemicals known to cause limb reduction defects) do their damage.  They cannot reconstruct the biological chain of events that leads from an expectant mother’s ingenstion of a teratogenic substance to the stunted development of a baby’s limbs.  In fact, apart from the small be determined group of scientists on behalf of the Bendectin plaintiffs in this and many other cases, there doesn’t appear to be a single scientist who has concluded that Bendectin causes limb reduction defects.  That is why this court granted the summary judgement the last time the case appeared before it.  

The Procedural History

On remand from the U.S. Supreme Court, we undertake “the task of ensuring that an expert’s testimony both rests on reliable foundation and is relevant to the task at hand.”   The Supreme Court reversed, holding that Frye was superceded by Federal Rule of Evidence 702 … and remanded for us to consider the admissibility of plaintiffs’ expert testimony under this new standard.  Under the Frye test scientific evidence was admissible if was based on a scientific technique generally accepted as reliable within the scientific community.  The first prong of Daubert (determining whether the experts’ testimony reflects “scientific knowledge,” whether their finding are “derived by the scientific method,” and whehter their work products amounts to “good science) puts federal judges in an uncomfortable position.  The second prong of Daubert is known as the “fit requirement.”

The Issue

This appeal deals with an evidentiary question:  whether certain expert scientific testimony is admissible to proved that Bendectin caused the plaintiffs’ birth defects.

The Holding

“Personal opinion, not science, is testifying here.”  For this reason, Dr. Palmer’s testimony is inadmissible as a mater of law under Rule 702.  Dr. Palmer was the only expert willing to testify that Bendectinc did cause the limb defects in each of the children, however, he had no scientific basis for his statements.

The second prong of Daubert deals with causation.  It is assessing whether the proffered expert testimony will assist the trier of fact in resolving the issue .

The Reasoning for the Holding

Plaintiffs do not attempt to shoe causation directly; instead, they rely on experts who presented circumstantial proof of causation.  Plaintiffs must nevertheless carry their traditional burden, they must prove their injuries were the result of the accused cause and not some independent factor.  In the case of birth defects, carrying this burden is made more difficult because we know that some defects including limb reduction defects occur even when the expectant mothers do not take Bendectin and that most birth defects occur for no known reason.  California tort law requires plaintiffs to show not merely the Bendectin increase the likelihood of injury but that it more likely that not caused the injuries.  In terms of statisticla proof, this means that plaintiffs must establish no just that their mothers’ ingestion of Bendectin increased somewhat the likelihood of birth defects bu that it more than doubled it.  Only then can it be said that Bendectin is more likely than not the source of their injury.  None of the plaintiffs’ epidemiological experts claims that ingestion of Bendectin during pregnancy more than doubles the risk of birth defects.  Plantiffs must prove not that Bendectin causes some birth defects but that it caused their birth defects.  To augment the substantive testimony as to causation would require the experts to change their conclusion altogether so it cannot be corrected on remand.    

The Procedural Result

The district court’s grant of summary judgement is affirmed.

Overseas Tankship (U.K.), Ltd. v. Morts Dock & Engineering Co.Ltd. (The Wagon Mound)

(1961) AC 388, 1 All ER 404, 2 WLR 126

“Oil on the Water Case”

The Facts

The respondents at the relevant time carried on the business of ship-building, ship-repairing, and general engineering at Morts Bay, Balmain, in the Port of Sydney.  At the same time the appellants were charterers of the s.s Wagon Mound, an oil burning vessel which was moored at the Caltex Wharf on the northern shore of the harbor at a distance of about 600 feet from the Sheelregs Wharf.   During the early hours of October 3, 1951, a large quantity of bunkering oil was, through the carelessness of the appellants’ servants, allowed to spill into the bay, and, by 10:30 on the morning of that day, it had spread over a considerabel part of the bay, being thickly concentrated in some places and particularly along the foreshore near the respondent’s property.  The appellants made no attempt to disperse the oil.   The Wagon Nound unberthed and set sail very shortly after.  Morts Dock inquired of the manager of Caltex Oil Co. at whose wharf the Wagon Mound was then still berthed, whether they could safely continue their operations on the wharf and the Corrimal.  The results of this inquiry, coupled with his own belief as to the inflammability of the furnace oil in the open, led him to thing that Morts Dock could safely carry on operations.  He gave instructions accordingly, but directed that all safety precautions should be taken to prevent inflammable material falling off the wharf into the oil  For the remainder of October 30th and unitl 2:00 p.m. on November 1st, work was carried on as usual.  But at that time oil under or near the wharf was ignited and considerable damage was done to the wharf and the equipment on it.  The outbreak of fire was due to the fact that there was in the oil underneath the wharf a piece of debris on which lay some smoldering cotton waste or rag which had been set on fire by molten metal falling from the wharf.  The cotton or rag burst into flames and these flames set the floating oil afire either directly or by first setting fire to a wooden pile coated with oil.  After the floating oil became ignited, the flames spread rapidly over the surface of the oil and quickly into a conflagration which damaged the wharf.    

The Procedural History

From an order of the full court of the Supreme Court of New South Wales dismissing an appeal by the appellants, Overseas Tankship (U.K.) Ltd.  In the action the respondents sought to recover from the appellants compensation for the damage which its property, known as the Sheerlegs Wharf in Sydney Harbor and the equipment thereon, had suffered by reason of fire which broke out on November 1, 1951.  For this damage they claimed that the appellants were, in law, responsible.  The trial judge found that the reason of furnace oil is that it shall burn, but found that the appellant did not know and could not reasonably be expected to have known that it was capable of being set afire when spread on water.   The Court of Appeals followed the Polemis case (where the concept that a negligent actor is not responsible for consequences which are not “direct”) and was constrained to decide the present case in favor of the respondents.  The Court of Appeals held that the charterers were responsible for all the consequences of their negligent act, even though those consequences could not reasonably have been anticipated.

The Issue

The court is trying to determine whether a party is liable for spilling oil into a harbor that later catches fire and damages a wharf.  

The Holding

Polemis should no longer be regarded as good law.

The Reasoning for the Holding

For it does not seem consonant with current ideas of justice of morality that, for an act of negligence, however slight or venial, which results in some trivial foreseeable damage, the actor should be liable for all consequences, however unforeseeable and however grave, so long as they can be said to be direct.  It is a principle of civil liability that a man must be considered responsible for the probable consequences of his act.  To demand more of him it too harsh a rule, to demand less is to ignore that civilized order requires the observance of a minimum standard of behavior.  Liability for consequence has been imposed on the ground that it was reasonably foreseeable, or alternatively on the ground that it was natural or necessary or probable.  The reasonable foreseeability test replaced the direct consequence test.  I cannot escape from the conclusion that if the ordinary man in the street had been asked, as a matter of common sense, without any detailed analysis of the circumstances , to state the cause of the fire at Morts Dock, he would unhesitatingly have assigned such cause to the spillage of the oil by appellants’ employees.  There is no such thing as the negligence in the air, so there is no such thing as liability.  A system of law which would hold B liable to A but not to C for similar damage suffered by each of them could not easily be defended.  

The Procedural Result

The appeal is affirmed and the respondents’ action so far as it related to damage caused by the negligence of the appellants be dismissed with costs but that the action so far as it related to damage coused by nuisance should be remitted to the full court to be dealt with as that court may think fit. The respondents must pay the costs of the appellants of this appeal and in the courts below.

Stoleson v. United States

708 F.2d 1217 (7th Cir. 1983)

“The Dynamite Heart Case”

The Facts

Mrs. Stoleson, now 64 years old, began working in a federal munitions plant in Wisconsin in 1967 as an employee of the contractor operating the plant.  Within a few months, she began experiencing the characteristic chest pains of coronary artery disease, but oddly, only on weekends.  One weekend in February 1968 the chest pains were so severe that she was hospitalized.  She was diagnosed as having suffered either an actual heart attack (myocardial infarction) or an episode of coronary insufficiency (meaning that the coronary arteries were not supplying the heart with an adequate supply of blood).  She returned to work shortly after this incident but continued having weekend chest pains with increasing frequency till she left the plant in 1971.  Here work at the plant required her to handle nitroglycerin and she became convinced that this was causing her heart problem.  But the doctors she consulted rejected her theory until she came under the care of Dr. Lange in 1971.  He was convinced by her experience and that of several of her coworkers, who had similar symptoms, that excessive exposure to nitroglycerin had caused their coronary arteries to expand – much as nitroglycerin tablets given for the treatment of coronary artery disease do – and that the sudden withdrawal of nitroglycerin on the weekends canuse the arteries to contract violently.

The Procedural History

Mrs. Stoleson brought suit under the Federal Tort Claims Act alleging that the government had been negligent in failing to protest the workers at the plant from excessive exposure to nitroglycerin.  The district judge found that the government had been negligent and that its negligence had caused Mrs. Stoleson’s heart disease, and he awarded her $53,000 in damages.  But he declined to award any damages for her psychosomatic illness after she left the plant, and she appeals.  The district judge’s finding on causation presents an interpretative problem.  It can be read to mean that he thought the important thing was whether Mrs. Stoleson’s possible heart attack in February 1968, which was due to the government’s negligence in failing to protect her from excessive exposure to nitroglycerin , had caused her hypochondria, and that if it had not she could not recover damages for her hypochondriacal illness.  So read, the finding would be inconsistent with the “thin skull” or eggshett skull’ or “you take your victime as you find him.” Rule of common law.

The Issue

Does a party have a cause of action for hypochondria that results from a medical condition determined to be caused by defendant’s negligence? 

The Rule

A tortfeasor is liable for aggravation of the injury he inflicted, even aggravation brought about by the treatment, even the negligent treatment, of the injury by a third person.

The Holding

I do not believe that plaintiff met the burden of proof in the latter claim.  Evaluated in the light of these general considerations, the finding by the able and experienced district judge that Mrs. Stoleson failed to prove a causal linkage between the government’s negligence and her present ill health must be affirmed.

The Reasoning for the Holding

There is not much difficulty in finding a medical expert witness to testify to virtually any theory of medical causation short of the fantastic. If we assume, as both the judge and medical witnesses did, that Mrs. Stoleson has long been prone to exaggerate her health problems, it is likely the sooner or later some symptom unrelated to the defendant’s misconduct would have triggered the neurosis and let to psychosomatic symptoms similar to those she is suffering from.  The chances are that some lesser trauma, highly likely for a woman her age, would have caused some lesser disability.  The expected cost of this non-tortious injury would have to be subtracted frorn the damages she now claims.   She made no attempt to make this calculation.  We do not question the district court’s finding that the damages from her neurotic condition amount to $238,000, but not all of this amount can be attributed to the defendant’s misconduct, and it was her burden to show what part could be. 

The Procedural Result

Affirmed

Herman v. Markham Air Rifle Co.

258 F. 475 (E.D. Mich 1918)

“The Loaded Air Rifle Blinds Salesperson Case”

The Facts
The declaration which contains three counts, alleges in substance that the defendant, a resident of Michigan, is a manufacturer, dealer, and vendor of a certain air rifle known as the “King Air Rifle,” and advertised by the defendant as a harmless instrument for the amusement of young persons and others.  The defendant so advertised, manufacture, and sold such air rifles in large quantities to the public, and thereby induced a belief in the minds of the public generally, and in the mind of the plaintiff, a resident of Illinois, that same was harmless to handle and withoug danger of life or limb; that defendant sold a quantity of such rifles to a wholesale dealer in St. Louis, Mo., for the purpose of ultimately being handled in retail stocks and to be sold to individual customers; that it then and there became and was the duty of the defendant to use reasonable care to ship such air rifles not loaded and without any shot therein, but the defendant disregarded such duty, and negligently shipped to such wholesale dealer for such resale a certain air rifle loaded with shot; that such dealer, being unaware of of the presence of such shot, resold the rifle to a certain retail dealer, who, being likewise ignorant of the fact that the rifle contained shot, place the same in his stock and in charge of the plaintiff, who was employed as a stockkeeper and a saleswoman in his store; that while this air rifle was so in charge of the plaintiff in such store it was handled by a certain prospective customer or visitor, who, believing that it as not loaded and was harmless, and being ignorant of the fact that it contained shot, proceeded to handle it and pulled the trigger, discharging said shot, which violently struck plaintiff, while she was exercising due care, and destroyed the sight of her right eye and endangered the sight of the other eye, so that it will probably be also lost, whereby plaintiff has suffered certain damages specifically claimed

The Procedural History

This matter comes before the court on a demurrer to the declaration in an action of trespass on the case.  The demurrer sets forth several objections to the sufficiency, in law, of the declaration, which may be conveniently grouped as follows:  that such declaration does not allege any actionable negligence on the part of the defendants, that the facts therein stated fail to show that any negligence of the defendant was the proximate cause of the injury complained of.  It is urged by the defendant that, conceding that it was guilty of negligence as alleged, such negligence was not the proximate cause of the injury sustained by plaintiff.  It is insisted that the act of the person who handled the air rifle, in causing it to be discharged at the plaintiff, was such an independent and intervening cause as to be the proximate cause of the injury, so that the original negligence, if any, of the defendant became the remote cause of such injury.  I cannot agree with this contention.

The Issue

The Holding

It seems to me plain that the averments in the declaration just referred to sufficiently allege actionable negligence on the part of the  defendant.  

The Reasoning for the Holding
I am satisfied that the inflicting of this injury upon the plaintiff by the person mentioned, under the circumstances shown, was the natural and probable result of the negligence of the defendant, assuming that its acts in the premises constituted negligence.  The mere fact that the act of the defendant did not directly and immediately cause the injury does not, of course, render such act any the less the proximate cause of such injury.  If, therefore, the defendant was guilty of negligence in shipping this loaded air rifle under the circumstances alleged, the act of this person in discharging the rifle at the plaintiff was only incidental to, and the natural and probable result of such negligence, which was the proximate cause of the injury resulting.

The Procedural Result

For the reasons stated, an order will be entered overruling the demurrer and requiring the defendant to plead to the declaration within the usual time.

Derdiarian v. Felix Contracting Corp.

51 N.Y. 2d 308, 414 N.E. 2d 666, 434 N.Y. S.2d 166 (1980)

“The Boiling Pot of Enamel at the Construction Site”

The Facts

During the fall of 1973 defendant Felix Contracting Corporation was performing a contract to install an underground gas main in the City of Mount Vernon for defendant Con Edison.  Bayside Pipe Coater, plaintiff Harold Deridiarian’s employer, was engaged as a subcontractor to seal the gas main.  On the afternoon of November 21, 1973, defendant James Dickens suffered an epileptic seizure and lost consciousness, allowing his vehicle to careen into the work site and strike plaintiff with such force as to throw him into the air.  When plaintiff landed, he was splattered over his face, head, and body eith 400 degree boiling hot liquid enamel from a kettle stuck by the automobile.  The enamel was used in connection with sealing the gas main.  Although plaintiff’s body ignited into a fire ball, he miraculously survived the incident.  Deridiarian testified that he made a request to park his truck on the east side of the hole, so he could set up the kettle away from the oncoming eastbound traffic.  The Felix foreman instructed him to leave his truck where it was, and plaintiff then put the kettle near the curb, on the west side of the excavation.  To support his claim of an unsafe work site, plaintiff called as witness Lawrence Lawton, an expert in traffic safety.

The Procedural History

The jury found for the plaintiff, apportioning liability at 55% for Felix, 35% for Dickens, and 10% for Con Ed.  Defendant Felix now argues that plaintiff was injured in a freakish accident, brought about solely by defendant Dickens’ negligence, and therefore there was not causal link as a matter of law, between Felix’s breach of duty and plaintiff’s injuries.  The intermediate court of appeals affirmed 

The Issue

Determining proximate cause with intervening acts.

The Holding

In the present case, we cannot say as a matter of law that defendant Dickens’ negligence was a superceding cause which interrupted the link between Felix’s negligence and plaintiff’s injures.  From the evidence in the record, the jury could have found that that Felix negligently failed to safeguard the excavation site.

The Reasoning for the Holding
That the driver was negligent, or even reckless, does not insulate Felix from liability.  Nor is it decisive that the driver lost control of the vehicle through a negligent failure to take medication, rather than a driving mistake.  The precise manner of the event need not be anticipated.  The finder of fact could have concluded that the foreseeable, normal and natural result of the risk created by Felix was the injury of a worker by a car entering the improperly protected work area.  An intervening act may not serve as superseding cause, and relieve an actor of responsibility, where the risk of the intervening act occurring is the very same risk which renders the actor negligent.
The Procedural Result

Affirmed

Marshall v. Nugent

222 F.2d 604 (1st Cir 1955)

“The Injury after the Wreck Accident”

The Facts
Marshall was a passenger in a car driven by his son in law, Harriman.  The car was proceeding southbound along an icy highway in New Hampshire when it approached a blind curve at the top of a hill.  A northbound truck owned by defendant Socony Oil Co. and driven by Prince cut the corner of the curve as the Harriman car approached from the other direction.  To avoid a collision with the truck, Harriman tried to maneuver his car off the road, but it skidded on the icy high way and cam to a stop in the snow on the side of the road.  Prince stopped his truck in the northbound travel lane and offered to help Harriman get his car back onto the road.  At this point the two stopped vehicles were in a dangerous situation, since a northbound vehicle might suddenly come around the same curve and be unable to maneuver safely between them.  Prince suggested that Marshall go to the top of the hill to warn oncoming drivers of the danger.  As Marshall was walking in that direction, a car driven by defendant Nugent came over the top of the hill.  Seeing the obstruction created by the oil truck, Nugent tried to maneuver around it by pulling his car to the left.  He lost control on the icy road and rain into Marshall, who was unable to get out of the way.  Marshall suffered severe injures for the collision.  

The Procedural History

Marshall sued Nugent and Socony.  The jury returned a defense verdict in favor of Nugent, but held Socony liable to Marshall for $25,000.  Socony appeals, claiming that the conduct of its employee, Prince, was not a proximate cause of the injury Marshall suffered. 

The Issue

The Holding

We have to conclude that the district court committed no error in refusing to direct a verdict for the defendant Socony on the issue of proximate cause

The Reasoning for the Holding

The unfolding of events between the culpable act and the plaintiff’s eventual injury may be bizarre indeed, yet the defendant may be liable for the result.  In such a situation, it would be impossible for a person I the defendant’s position to predict in advance just how his negligent act would work out to another’s injury.  Yet this is itself no bar to recovery.  Proximate cause ends when the situation has stablilized and become normal.  Many cases have held a defendant, whose negligence caused a traffic tie up, legally liable for subsequent property damage or personal injuries more immediately caused by an oncoming motorist.  Marshall was not an “officious intermeddler,” he had a business appointment to keep in North Stratford.  Contributory negligence is a question for the jury.  The injury Marshall received by being struck by the Nugent car was not remote, either in time or place, while the traffic mix-up occasioned by defendant’s negligence was still persisting, not after the traffic flow had become normal again. 

The Procedural Result
In the circumstances presented we conclude that the district court committed no error in leaving the issue of proximate cause to the jury for determination.

McLaughlin v. Mine Safety Appliances Company

11 N. Y. 2d 62, 181 N.E. ed 430, 226 N.Y. S.2d 407 (1962)

“The Misuse of the Heating Blocks Case”
The Facts

Plaintiff Frances Ann McLaughlin at the age of six, was visiting here aunt and uncle in West Deering, New Hampshire during the summer of 1952.  While swimming in Whittemore Lake, she almost drowned and was carried from the lake in an unconscious condition.  The local lifeguards administered first aid and the Bennington Volunteer Fire Department was summoned.  A fire department truck arrived shortly thereafter, and two men removed a resuscitator and some blankets form the truck.  The resuscitator was placed over the child’s mouth, and she was wrapped in blankets by a woman who identified herself as a nurse.  More h eat was needed to revive the child, so the fireman returned to the truck and obtained some boxes containing “heat blocks.”  The blocks were removed from their containers by the firemen who activated them and turned over to the nurse.  The nurse proceeded to apply sever of them directly to the child’s body under the blankets.  Subsequently, the child began to heave about and moan.  At this point the child was taken, still wrapped in blankets, to a doctor’s  car and placed in the back seat.  The heat blocks head fallen out from under the blankets.  After a short stay at the doctor’s office, the child was taken home, and that evening blisters were observed about her body.  It was soon ascertained that she was suffering from third degree burns, and she was taken to Petersborough Hospital where she underwent extensive treatment.  The “MSA Redi-Heat Blocks,” which were applied to the child’s body and cause the burns where manufactured by Catalyst Research Corporation for defendant and packaged in defendant’s cardboard container at defendant’s plant and were sold and distributed by defendant’s to industrial houses, governments agencies, and departments for use in an emergency.  The block was covered in its entirety by a red woolen insulating material called “flocking” which appeared and felt like a “blanket” or “flannel” covering or just ordinary “wool.”  Tests made upon the device indicated that the block attainted a high surface temperature of 204 degrees F within 2 minutes after triggering the device and a high of 195 degrees F within three minutes after triggering in another case.  In both cases, after 39 minutes, the blocks retained a temperature of 138 degrees.  Affixed to each block on the top of the “flocking’ was an oval-like label containing the trade name of the block, and the name and design of the defendant.  The blocks and two cartridges were sold in cardboard containers which contained these words in bold capital letter on the fact thereof:  “always ready for use,” “entirely self-contained.”   On both ends of the container, instructions were given as to how to order further charges or cartridges, thus revealing that the blocks could be reused over and over again.  One the opposite face of the container, three small diagrams were printed, demonstrating how to activate the blocks, and alongside the diagrams in small print were the “Instructions for Use,” which read as follows:  “When fast emergency heat is need for victims of accident, exposure, or sudden illness, the M.S.A. redi-Heat Block is always ready for services… “Wrap in insulating medium such as pouch, towel, blankets, or folder cloth.”  The particulate heat blocks were sold by defendant for use by the Bennington Fire Department in 1947 or 1948.  At the time of the sale, defendant’s representative demonstrated the proper mode of use in Town Hall. Several firemen were present.  The representative warned everyone that the heat block was to be covered with a towel or some other material to keep the block from coming into contact with the skin.  Among the firemen who were present at the accident was Paul Traxler.  He testified that he had been present when defendant’s representative demonstrated the blocks, that he recalled being told not to use the blocks without insulating them; that, furthermore, instructional classes had been held as to proper use of the blocks prior to the accident; that he was fully aware that the blocks were to be wrapped in a towel or blanket before they were used and that he had told the nurse at the seen to wrap the blocks before using.  Nevertheless, the blocks were applied directly to the child’s person under the blankets, while the fireman, Traxler, who had activated the blocks, stood next to the nurse and watched.  The culd’s aunt could recall not warning given by the firemen to the  nurse as the the danger in applying the unwrapped blocks to the child’s body.

The Procedural History

This action was commenced by the child and her father for loss of services against the defendatn, the exclusive distributor of the heat blocks, upon the theory that it had failed adequately to warn he public of the danger involved in the use of the blocks and to properly “instruct” ultimate users as tot he “proper application of the said blocks.”  After a jury trial in Supreme Court, Nassau County, a verdict was returned in favor of the plaintiff in the sum of $17,500, and in favor of here father in the sum of  $2,500, and judgement was entered thereupon.  The Appellate Division unanimously reversed and ordered a new trail, unless the plaintiff stipulated to reduce the verdict in her favor to $10,000, and her father stipulated to reduce the verdict in his favor to $1,000, in which even the judgement was to be affirmed as modified.  Plaintiff so stipulated, and final judgement was entered.  Defendant appeals, as of right, contending… that the trial court committed reversible error in it charges (see page 48)

The Issue

The Holding

We think that the instruction, as applied to the facts of this case, was erroneous.

The Reasoning for the Holding

While the distributor might have been liable if the blocks had found their way into the hands of the nurse in a more innocent fashion, the distributor could not be expected to foresee that is demonstrations to the firemen would callously be disregarded by a member of the department.  We have indicated that knowledge of the danger possessed by the original purchaser, knowledge actually brought home to him, might protect the manufacturer or distributor from liability to third persons harmed by the failure of the purchaser to warn, where the purchaser had the means and opportunity to do so.  The jury might have found that the fireman not only had the means to warn the nurse, but further that, by his actions, he prevented any warning from reaching here, and, indeed, that he actually had some part in the improper application of the blocks.  Such conduct could not have been foreseen by the defendant.

The Procedural Result

The judgement should be reversed and a new trail granted, with costs to abide the event

The Dissent

In our minds the circumstance that the fireman who knew of the danger failed to warn the nurse, even if negligent, did not affect the fact, as the jury found it, that this was a risk which the manufacturer of the heat block ought to have anticipated in the exercise of reasonable care, nor intercept the chain of causation.  The rule is that if the realizable likelihood that a third person may act in a particular manner is the hazard or one of the hazards which makes the actor negligent, such an act whether innocent, negligent, intentionally tortious, or criminal does not prevent the actor from being liable for harm caused thereby.  The fact that an intervening act of a third person is negligent in itself or is done in a negligent manner does not make it a superceding cause of harm to another which the actor’s negligent conduct is substantial factor in bringing about if (a) the actor at the time of his negligent conduct should have realized that a third person might so act.

Watson v. Kentucky & Indiana Bridge and R. Co., et al.

137 Ky. 619, 126 S.W. 146, (1910)

“Who Caused the Gas to Explode Case”

The Facts

Plaintiff John Watson brought this action against Defendant Bridge and Railroad Company to recover for injuries suffered in a gasoline explosion.  A railroad tanker care filled with gasoline derailed due to the negligence of the defendant, damaging the valve on the bottom of the car.  The gasoline leaked out and filled the area nearby with flammable liquid and explosive vapor.  A bystander named Charles Duerr ignited the gasoline when he threw away a lighted match.  Plaintiff suffered severe injuries in the subsequent explosion.  Duerr stated that he threw the match away after lighting a cigar, not knowing of the dangerous condition created by the gasoline.  On the other hand, the defendant Bridge and Railroad Company showed that it had that day discharged Duerr from employment.  Further, witnesses testified that the overheard Duerr say to a companion, some 20 minutes before the explosion, “Let us go and set the damn thing on fire.”  Another witness testified that he saw Duerr light the match and throw it nit he fire, and that Duerr had no cigar at the time.

The Procedural History

As the close of all the evidence, the trial court gave a peremptory instruction to the jury requiring it to find for the defendant.  Plaintiff appeals, asserting that the trial court erred in giving this peremptory instruciotn.

The Issue

Should the trial court have allowed the question of proximate cause to be one answered by the jury.

The Holding

The question of proximate cause is a question for the jury.  In holding that Duerr in lighting or throwing the match acted maliciously or with intent to cause the explosion, the trial court invaded the province of the jury.  Therefore, if the act of Duerr was malicious, we quite agree with the trial court that it was one which the appellees could not reasonable have anticipated or guarded against, and in such case the act of Duerr, and not the primary negligence of the appellee Bridge and Railroad Company, in any of the particulars charged was the efficient or proximate cause of appellant’s injuries.

The Reasoning for the Holding
Indeed, it was most probable that some one would strike a match to light a cigar or for other purposes in the midst of the gas.  In our opinion, therefore, the act of one lighting and throwing a match under such circumstance cannot be said to be the efficient cause of the explosion.  It did not of itself produce the explosion, nor could it have done so without the assistance and contribution resulting from the primary negligence, if there was such negligence on the part of the appellee, Bridge and Railroad Company in furnishing the presence of the gas in the street.  This conclusion, however, rests upon the theory that Duerr inadvertently or negligently lighted and threw the match in the gas.  If, however, the act of Duerr in lighting the match and throwing it into the vapor or gas arising from the gasoline was malicious, and done for the purpose of causing the explosion, we do not think appellees would be responsible, for while the appellee Brodge and Railroad company’s negligence may have been the efficient cause of the presence of the gas in the street, and it should have understood enough of the consequences thereof to have foreseen that an explosion was likely to result from the inadvertent or negligent lighting of a match by some person who was ignorant of the presence of gas or of the effect of lighting or throwing a match in it.  It could not have foreseen or deemed it probable that one would maliciously or wantonly do such an act of the evil purpose of producing the explosion. 

The mere fact that the concurrent cause of the intervening act was unforeseen will not relieve the defendatn guilty of the primary negligence from liability, but if the intervening agency is something so unexpected or extraordinary as that he could not or ought not to have anticipated it he will not be liable, and certainly he is not bound to anticipate the criminal acts of others by which damage is inflicted and hence is not liable thereof.

Brauer v. New York Central & H.R.R. Co.

103 A. 166 (1918)

“The Stolen Goods at the Scene Case”
The Facts
This is a case of a grade crossing collision.  We are clear that the questions of the negligence and contributory negligence were for the jury.  If there were nothing else, the testimony of the plaintiff as to signals of the flagman would carry the case to the jury.  The only question that has caused us difficulty is tha the extent of the defendant’s liability.  The complaint avers that the horse was killed, and the wagon and harness and the cider and barrels with the wagon was loaded were destroyed.  What happened as a result of the collision, aside from the death of the horse and the destruction of the wagon, the contents of the wagon consisting of empty barrels and a keg of cider were scattered, and probably stolen by people at the scene of the accident.  The driver, who was alone id charge for the plaintiff, was so stunned that one of the railroad detectives found his immediately after the collision in a fit.  There were two railroad detectives on the freight train to protect the property it was carrying against thieves, but they did nothing to protect the plaintiff’s property.

The Procedural History

The defendant’s objection was based solely on the ground that the complaint alleged that they were destroyed; counsel said “there is no use proving value unless they were destroyed.  We think, that, if they were taken by thieves, they were destroyed as far as was important to the case.  It is now argued that he defendant’s negligence was not in any event the proximate cause of the loss of the property, since the act of thieves intervened.

The Issue
The controversy on the question of damages is as to the right of the plaintiff to recover the value of the barrels, cider, and blanket.

The Rule
The act of a third person, said the Supreme Court of Massachusetts, intervening and contributing a condtion necessary to the injurious effect of the original negligence, will not excuse the first wrongdoer, if such act ought to have been foreseen.

The Holding

Could the defendant escape liability for their value.  We can hardly imagine a court answering in the affirmative.

The Reasoning for the Holding
The negligence which cause the collision resulted immediately in such a condition of the driver of the wagon that he was no longer able to protect his employer’s property; the natural and probable result of his enforced abandonment of it in the street of a large city was its disappearance; and the wrongdoer cannot escape making reparation for the loss caused by depriving the plaintiff of the protection which the presence of the driver in his right senses would have afforded.  A railroad company which found it necessary or desirable to have its freight train guarded by two detectives against thieves is surely chargeable with knowledge that portable property left without a guard was likely to be made off with.  Again strictly speaking, the act of the thieves did not intervene between defendant’s negligence and the plaintiff’s loss; the two causes were to all practical intent simultaneous and concurrent , it is rather a case of a joint tort than an intervening cause.  

The Procedural Result

The judgement is affirmed, with costs.

Moragne v. States of Marine Lines, Inc.

398 U.S. 375 (1970)

The Facts
The Procedural History
The complaint sets forth that Edward Moragne, a longshoreman, was killed whole working aboard the vessel Palmetto State in navigable waters within the State of Florida.  Petitioner, as his widow and representative of his estate, brought this suit in a state court against respondent Statees  Marine Lines, Inc., the owner of the vessel, to recover damages for wrongful death and for the pain and suffering experienced by the decedent prior to his death.  The claims were predicated upon the both negligence and the unseaworthiness of the vessel.  Prior ruling based on the felony-merger doctrine.  According to the doctrin, the common law did not allow civil recovery for an act that constituted both a tort and a felony.  The doctrine found practical justification in the fact that the punishment for the felony was the death of the felon and the forfeiture of his property to the Crown; thus, after the crime had been punished, nothing remained of the felon or his property on which to base a civil actions.  Since all intentional or negligent homicide was felonious, there could be no civil suit for wrongful death.  The historical justification marshaled for the rule in England never existed in this country.  In limited instances American law did adopt a vestige of the felony-merger doctrine, to the effect that a civil action was delayed until after the criminal trial.  Nevertheless,  despite some early cases in which the rule was rejecte as “incapable of vindication,” American courts generally adopted the English rule as the common law of this country as well.  Throughout the period of this adoption, the courts failed to produce any satisfactory justification for applying the rule in this country.  Some cpirts explained that their holding were promptedby an asserted difficulty in computation of damages for wrongful death or by a “repugnance to setting a price upon human life.”  The legislatures, both here and in England, began to evidence u nanimous disapproval of the rule against recovery for wrongful death.  In the Unisted States, every state today had enacted a wrongful death statute.  These statutes make it clear that there is no present public policy against allowing recovery for wrongful death.

The Holding
Because the refusal of maritime law to provide such a remedy appears to be jurisprudentially unsound and to have produced serious confusion and hardship, that refusal should cease unless there are substantial countervailing factors that dictate adherence of the “The Harrisburg” simply as a matter of stare decisis.  We accordingly overrule “The Harrisburg,” and hold that an action does lie under general maritime law for death caused by violation of maritime duties.

The Procedural Result
Reversed and remanded. 

O’Grady v. Brown

654 S.W. 2d 904 (Mo., En Banc, 1983)

“Is a Viable Fetus a Person Case”
The Facts

In January 1979, appellant Terri O’Grady was nine months pregnant with an expected delivery date of January 25, 1979.  During her pregnancy she had been under the care of respondent doctors Robert Brown and Robert Slickman; here prenatal course was uneventful.  On Janaury 15, 1979, appellant began experiencing severe back pains.  She spoke with one of her physicians by telephone and them proceeded to St. Joseph Hospital where she was admitted shortly after midnight.  During the course of the 24 hours following Terri O’ Grady’s admisssion, her uterus ruptured and the fetus was delivered stillborn.

The Procedural History
Appellants contend that Terri O’Grday was not properly monitored, observed, or treated by respondents and that her injuries and the death of the fetus were the direct result of respondents’ negligence.  The trial court sustained respondents’ motions to dismiss Count III of the petition on the authority of State ex rel. Hardin v. Sanders, 538 S.W. 2d 336 (Mo. Banc 1976) which denied recovery for the death of a viable but unborn child.  In support of this conclusion, we noted in Hardin that the United States Supreme Court in Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113 (1973), has stated that a fetus is not a “person” within the protection of the Fourteenth Amendment.  We interpreted Statute 537.080 as requiring the deceased “person” to “be entitled to maintain an action at the time the injury was sustained and not at some later time,” and then concluded that it was “obvious” that a fetus could meet this standard.  To deny recovery base on the arbitrary requirement of live birth would work an injustice, in appellents’ view.  Respondents maintian that a fetus cannot be viewed as a “person” within the meaning of Statute 537.080.

The Issue

Will a viable fetus considered a person for wrongful death purposes?

The Holding

We conclude that the term “person” as used in Statute 537.080 includes the human fetus en ventr sa mere.  We hold, therefore, that Statute 537.080 does provide a cause of action for the wrongful death of a viable fetus  Hardin is hereby overruled.  We limit our holding in this case to the facts presented and do not decide whether the same action would lie for the death of a nonviable fetus.

The Reasoning for the Holding
There are three basic objectives behind wrongful death statute:  to provide compensation to bereaved plaintiffs for their loss, to ensure that tortfeasors pay for the consequences of their actions, and generally to deter harmful conduct which might lead to death.  It should be clear that these reasons apply with equal force whether the deceased in born or unborn.  Parents clearly have an interest in being protected against or compensated for the loss of a child they wish to have.  The fetus itself has an interest in being protected from injury before birth.  It follows logically that it should be protected against fatal injuries as well.  Roe v. Wade, while holding that the fetus is not a “person” for purposes of the 14th amendment, does not mandate the conclusion that the fetus is a legal nonentity.  Examples in Missouri include rulings that a fetus is a “child” for child neglect purposes, a guardian ad litem may be appointed to protect the interests of an unborn child, and unborn child has property rights, and the willful killing of an unborn quick child, by any injury to the mother of such child, which would be murder if it resulted in the death of such mother, shall be deemed manslaughter. 

The Procedural Result
Reversed and remanded

Murphy v. Martin Oil Co.

56 Ill. 2d 423, 308 N.E. 2d 583 (Ill. 1974)

“Expanding Survival Statutes Case”
The Facts

The plaintiff, Cheryl Murphy, as administratrix of her late husband, Jack Raymond Murphy, and individually, and as next friend of Debbie Ann Murphy, Jack Kenneth Murphy, and Carrie Lynn Murphy, their children, filed a complaint in the circuit court of Cook County against the defendants, Martin Oil Company and James Hocker.  Count II sought damages for conscious pain and suffering, loss of wages, and property damages.  The circuit court allowed the defendants’ motion to strike the second count of the complaint on the ground that it failed to state a cause of action.

The Procedural History

The second count of the complaint asked for damages for the decedent’s physical and mental suffering, for loss of wages for the nine-day period following his injury, and for the loss of his clothing worn at the time of the injury.  In Holton v. Daly, the court declared that the effect of the Wrongful Death Act was that a cause of action for personal injuries, which would have abated under the common law upon the death of the spouse or the next of kin and would be “enlarged to embrace the injury resulting for the death.”  In other words, it was held that the Wrongful Death Act provided the exclusive remedy available when the death came as a result of given tortious conduct.  In considering the Survival Act the court stated that it was intended to allow for the survival of a cause of action only when the injured party died from a cause other than that which caused the injuries which created the cause of action.  Thus, the court said, an action for personal injury would not survive death if death resulted from the tortious conduct which cause the injury.

The Issue

On this appeal we shall consider:  (1) whether the plaintiff can recover for the loss of wages which her decedent would have earned during the interval between the injury and death, (2) whether the plaintiff can recover for the destruction of the decedent’s personal property (clothing) at the time of the injury, and (3) whether the plaintiff can recover damages for the conscious pain and suffering for the decedent from the time of his injuries to the time of death.

The Holding
The Reasoning for the Holding
Accordingly Survival Statutes are being extended; and it may be expected that ultimately all tort actions will survive to the same extent as those founded on contract. The remedy available under Holton will often be grievously incomplete.  There may be a substantial loss of earnings, medical expenses, prolonged pain and suffering, as well as property damage sustained, before an injured person may succumb to his injuries.  To say that there can be recovery only for his wrongful death is to provide an obviously inadequate justice.

The Procedural Result

The judgement of the appellate court is affirmed insofar as it held that an action may be maintained by the plaintiff for loss of property and loss of wages during the interval between injury and death, and that judgement is reversed insofar as it held that plaintiff cannot maintain an action for her decedent’s pain and suffering.  Arrimed in part and reversed in part 

Bullard v. Barnes

102 Ill.2d 505, 468 N.E. 2d 1228, 82 Ill. Dec. 448 1984)

The Facts
The cause of action arose out of a motor vehicle accident that occurred shortly before 8:00 a.m. on October 1, 1979 in which 17 year old Scott Bullard was fatally injured.  Sometime between 7;30 and 8:00 a.m., Scott was driving south on a pave, tow lane road, known in Livingston County as the Katyydid Road, in order to get to his part time cooperative education in Cornell.  Northbound defendant Bruce Barnes, who was driving a semi-trailer truck for his employer and co-defendant, Livingston County Ready-Mix, Inc., despite fog and poor visibility, moved into the southbound lance and proceeded to pass two vehicles.  He passed ht vehicle directly in front of him, a station wagon driven by Robert Graves, and the continued traveling in the southbound lane past a truck loaded with road building materials driven by Harold Bohm.  Bohm and Graves both testified that the approaching Bullard car swerved onto the west shoulder of the road to avoid a collision with the Ready-Mix truck.  Graves further noted that Scott appeared to lose control of his car when he suddenly swung back on the road to avoid hitting a truck Bohm was driving, and the front of the Bohm truck struck the passenger side of the Bullard car. 

The Procedural History
Robert G. Bullard, as administrator of the estate of his deceased son, Scott Bullard, and Robert and Sharon Bullard, in their individual capacities as Scott’s parents, filed an action in Livingston County Circuit court seeking recovery against Bruce Barnes and Livingston County Ready-Mix, Inc., under the Wrongful Death Act, the Survival Act, and for funeral expenses for which parents are liable under section 15 if “An Act to revise the law in relation to husband and wife;” hereinafter referred to as the Family Expense Act.  The complaint also sought punitive as well as compensatory damages for injury to property, a recovery for the emotional distress the parents suffered due to the death of their son, and damages for negligent entrustment.  Those portions of the complaint seeking recovery for emotional distress were dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted, and th e propriety of that action is not in issue here.  The verdicts were $285,000 in the wrongful actions and $40,000 in the survival action.  In the second part of the trial, the parties stipulated to compensatory property damages of $750 and the jury returned a verdict of $500 in punitive property damages against defendant Barnes only.  Judgements were entered accordingly.  The Wrongful Death Act has been applied to expanded the scope of pecuniary injury to encompass non-monetary losses.

The Issue
Determining damages for the loss of society of a child. 

The Holding

In view of our earlier decisions indicating similar recoveries would have been allowed in cases involving loss of a parent and spouse, that it would be anomalous to now deny parents this form or recovery.  We therefore hold that in this case, and in all similar cases not finally adjudicated, there can be presumption of loss of earnings upon the death of a child since such a presumption represents an aberration from, rather that a reflection of, the typical family experience.  However, we have concluded that parents are entitled to a presumption of pecuniary injury in the loss of a child’s society, based on the holding expressed earlier in this opinion that the pecuniary injury for which the parents may recover under the wrongful death statute included this form of loss.  Defendants may rebut the presumption by presenting evidence that a paretn and child were estranged.  Although the presumption of a loss of earnings no longer applies, in the rare case where the child earned income that was used to support the family these facts may, of course, be proved and a recovery had.  This case does not present, and we therefore need not decide, the question of whether the loss of society presumption applies to children who have reached the age of majority.  Juries must be instructed not only to assign a dollar value to the loss of the child’s society, but also to arrive at a figure, based on the evidence presented to them, which represents expenditures the parents would have been likely to incur has the child lived.

The Reasoning for the Holding
Early cases interpreting the British Lord Campbell’s Act established the narrow rule that parents could recover only for actual loss of the child’s income, and it was this common law rule that drafters of the Illinois act incorporated.  Such a rule accurately reflected the social conditions of the nineteenth century, when children were valued largely for their capacity to contribute to the family income.

The Procedural Result

The judgement of the appellate court is affirmed, and the cause is remanded for a new trial as to damages only on the wrongful death and survival counts.  Affirmed and remanded, with cirections

Concurrence

I do not agree with the majority’s application of a setoff for child rearing expenses.

Butterfield v. Forrester

103 Eng. Rep 926 (K.B. 1809)

“The Obstacle in the Roadway Case”
The Facts

This was an action on the case for obstructing a highway, by means which obstruction the plaintiff whose was riding along the road, was thrown down with his horse and injured.  At the trial, it appeared that the defendant, in the course of making repairs to his house, had put a pole across part of the road, a free passage being left by another branch or street in the same direction.  The plaintiff had left a nearby public house around 8:00 p.m. in August while there was enough light to discern the obstacle from 100 yards.  The witness testified that if the plaintiff had not been riding very hear he might have observed and avoided the obstacle.  There was no evidence that the plaintiff was intoxicated.

The Procedural History

The trial judge instructed the jury that if a person riding with reasonable and ordinary care could have seen and avoided the obstruction; and if the jury was satisfied that the plaintiff was riding along the street extremely hard, and without ordinary care, they should find a verdict for the defendant, which the jury did.  The defendant argued that the rule was “if a man lay logs of wood across a highway; though a person my with care ride safely by, yet if by means thereof my hour stumble and fling me, I may bring an action.”

The Issue 

Determining contributory negligence.

The Reasoning for the Holding

If defendant had used ordinary care he must have seen the obstruction; so that the accident appeared to happen entirely from his own fault.  A party is not to cast himself upon an obstruction which has been made by the fault of another, and avail himself of it, if he doe not himself use common and ordinary caution to be in the right.  In cases of persons riding upon what is considered to be the wrong side of t he road, that would not authorize another purposely to ride up against them.  One person being in fault will not dispense another’s using ordinary care for himself.  Two things must concur to support this action, an obstruction in the road by the fault of the defendant, and no wan tof ordinary care to avoid it on the part of the plaintiff.

The Procedural Result
Per curiam.  Rule Refused

Bradley v.  Appalachian Power Company

163 W.Va. 332, 256 S.E.2d 879 (1979)

“The Modified Comparative Negligence Case”

The Issue

In these two cases, which have been consolidated on appeal, we are asked to re-examine and ameliorate the common law doctrine of contributory negligence.

It is difficult, on theoretical grounds alone, to rationalize a system which permits a party who is 95% at fault to have his day in court as a plaintiff because hie is 5% fault-free.  The practical result of such a system is that if favors the party who has incurred the most damages regardless of his amount of fault or negligence.

The Plaintiff’s Argument

In each case the plaintiff sought by way of an instruction to utilize the doctrine of comparative negligence to avoid the defense of contributory negligence.  The tendered instruction was rejected and the usual contributory negligence instruction was given, with the jury returning a verdict for the defendant in each case. 

The Holding

Our present judicial rule of contributory negligence is therefore modified to provide that a party is not barred from recovering damages in a tort action so long a his negligence or fault does not equal or exceed the combined negligence or fault of the other parties involved in the accident.  To extent that our prior contributory negligence cases are inconsistent with this rule, they are overturned.

The Reasoning for the Holding

There is almost universal dissatisfaction among leading scholars of tort law with the harshness of the doctrine of contributory negligence.  A plaintiff can, if the jury is faithful to the contributory negligence instruction it receives, be barred form recovery if his negligence “contributed in the slightest degree to the accident.”  Legislatures in a number of states have enacted comparative negligence statutes of one variety or another.  The basic framework of these statutes is to permit a negligent plaintiff to recover as long as his negligence does not exceed some established percentage, usually 50%.  Such statutes require that his recovery be reduced by the percentage of contributory negligence found to exist.  The 50% system simply shifts the lottery aspect of the contributory negligence rule to a different ground.  There is justified criticism of a rule under which a plaintiff who is charged with 49% of a total negligence recovers 51% of his damages, while one who is charged with 50% recovers nothing at all.  Four states (Alaska, California, Florida, and Michigan) have by judicial decision abolished the doctrine of contributory negligence and substituted in its place a “pure” comparative negligence concept.  The fundamental justification of the pure comparative negligence rule is its fairness in permitting everyone to recover to the extent he is not at fault.  

The Procedural Result

Reversed and remanded.

Law v. Superior Court

157 Ariz. 147, 755 P.2d 1135 (1988)

“The Seat Belt Defense Case”

The Facts

On the evening of November 8, 1985, Cindy Law was driving her parents’ car in Tempe, Arizona.  She apparently pulled in front of an automobile operated by James Harder, who swerved violently to avoid a collision.  Unfortunately, his evasive maneuver overturned the Harder vehicle.  Harder and his wife were not wearing their seat belts and were thrown from their car, James through a closed sunroof.  The Harders suffered severe orthopedic injuries as a result of the accident

The Procedural History

This petition for review asks that we reinstate the trial judges’ ruling forbidding discovery concerning seat belt use in a personal injury action.  Plaintiff Harders brought a negligence suit against Cindy Law and her parents.  During the course of discovery, defendants sought information concerning plaintiff’s use and experience with seat belts and shoulder restraints.  Plaintiffs objected to these discovery questions on the grounds that the subject was irrelevant under the holding of Nash. V. Kamrath, 21 Aris. App. 530, 521 P.2d 161 (1974).  In that case, division two of our court of appeals held that evidence of a passenger’s failure to wear seatbelts was inadmissible either to show breach of duty to minimize damages or to prove contributory damages.  Defendants moved to compel discovery.  In June 1986, the trial judge denied the motion and issued a protective order, concluding that under Nash motorists have no duty to wear seat belts.  The court of appeals vacated the trial judge’s protective order and held that evidence of seat belt nonuse was admissible so long as defendants could demonstrate a causal relationship between the nonuse and the injuries.  The court ruled that under interrelated doctrines of avoidable consequences and mitigation of damages, motorists were responsible to take reasonable pre-accident measures to prevent or reduce damages from foreseeable injury.  Failure to avoid or mitigate foreseeable damages would result in corresponding reduction is damages awardable.  The court found that the absence of a mandatory seat belt law did not negate the duty to mitigate damages.  Nor did the comparative negligence statute limit the jury’s power to reduce damages solely to cases of contributory negligence or assumption of risk.  In hteir petition for review, plaintiffs ask us to resolve th econflict between this case and Nash. 

The Issue

The basic question presented is whether Arizona should recognize the so-called “seat belt defense.”  We granted review to determine this issue of statewide importance and to settle a conflict of authority between the divisions of our courts of appeals.

The Holding

Given modern day conditions, we conclude as a mater of public policy that the law must recognize the responsibility of every person to anticipate and take reasonable measures to guard against the danger of motor vehicle accidents that are not only foreseeable but virtually certain to occur sooner or later.  Rejection of the seat belt defense can no longer be based on the doctrine that one need not anticipated the negligence of others.  There is nothing to anticipate, the negligence of motorists is omnipresent.  As a general rule, a motorist is simply better off wearing a seat belt.  We conclude form the technological data that continued non-recognition of the seat belt defense cannot be based on the general concept that seat belts cause harm.  The opposite is generally true.  We believe the common law conceptualization of the doctrine of avoidable consequences has been modified by our comparative negligence statute, which applies that doctrine to pre-accident conduct (a duty to wear seat belts).  We also disapprove the Nash analysis.  At least under the comparative fault statute, each person is under an obligation to act reasonable to minimize foreseeable injuries and damages.  Thus if a person chooses not to use an available, simple safety device, that person may be at “fault.”  We believe that this court has an obligation to participate in the evolution of tort law so that it may reflect societal and technological changes.  We only acknowledge reality, that the use or nonuse of a seat belt is an everyday matter of conduct, which plays a significant role in determining the extent of injuries.  This will not create a windfall for tortfeasors.  Some tortfeasors may pay less than they otherwise would, they will not pay less than they should.  This rule is an unavoidable consequence of our comparative negligence system.  There is no doubt that the seat belt defense with complicate and lengthen litigation in some cases.  Neither law nor society can ignore technological change simply because it makes decisions more complex.  The burden of establishing these matters, as with other matters of comparative negligence is upon the defendant.  Further, the jury must be clearly instructed that nonuse of a seat belt is an issue bearing upon the extent of damages that may be recovered and not on any other issue.       

The Reasoning for the Holding

In our view, the technological and legal changes that have occurred in the 12 years that passed between Nash and the decision in the present case must determine which view of the law represents better policy.  One of the most dramatic changes that has occurred in this period is the general acceptance of comparative negligence principles (Nash was decided under contributory negligence principles).  Because seat belt nonuse seldom contributed to the occurrence of the accident, it does not easily fit into the theory of contributory negligence.  In the typical accident, nonuse simply increases the number or severity of injuries beyond those, which would have occurred had the plaintiff used the seat belt.  Comparative negligence theories eliminate most the problems associated with a seat belt defense because an adverse finding on nonuse does not bar recovery but merely reduces the damages in proportion to the contributing factor ofr seat belt nonuse.  

The Procedural Result

We approve the portions of the opinion of the court of appeals that conform to this opinion.  This case is remanded to the trial court for further proceeding consistent with our holding.

The Dissent
In my judgement the court’s opinion in adopting the so-called “seat belt defense” confuses principles of liability and damages, represents poor judicial policy, and is unfair to the appellee plaintiffs; therefore, I dissent.  Arizona has not adopted the definition of fault used in the Uniform Comparative Fault Act, which the majority uses.  If the seat belt defense is to be adopted, the doctrine of avoidable consequences is more appropriate.  The seat belt defense deals with a diminution of damages and not with the existence of a cause of action.  The important consideration is who should make the decision to impose the duty (or non duty)?  What branch of government under our constitutional system should make such a public policy decision.  Courts make poor law makers.  They make law on a case by case method usually with limited information and without a legislator’s concern for public support and does not lend itself to provide a comprehensive program of policy, enforcement, and education.  This type of judicial action represents the worst form of “law making.” 

Wolf v. Ford

644 A.2d 522 (Md. 1994)

The Issue

In this case we focus on the enforceability of an exculpatory clause in an agreement between an investor and a securities investment firm.  The clause at issue provides that the investment firm will not be liable for losses to the investor resulting from the firm’s negligence, but only for losses resulting from its gross negligence or willful misconduct.

The Holding 

Under the circumstances of the instant case, we shall enforce the exculpatory clause.  We hold, therefore, that the exculpatory clause in the Discretionary Account Agreement between Wold and Ford is valid and enforceable.

The Procedural History

Wolf filed suit in the Circuit Court for Baltimore County against Ford, Seifert, and Legg Mason in May 1992.  Seifert was voluntarily dismissed from the case by Wolf prior to trial, and after the close of Wolf’s case a jury trial, the court granted the defendant’s motion for summary judgement.  The trial judge ruled that the exculpatory clause contained in the Discretionary Account Agreement limited the defendants’ potential liability to those losses resulting from gross negligence or intentional misconduct.  He further ruled that there was no evidence of either gross negligence or will ful misconduct on the part of Ford or Legg Mason and entered judgement in their favor.  Wolf timely noted an appeal to the Court of Special Appeals.  We issues a writ of certiorari on our own motion before consideration of the case by the intermediate appellate court to consider the effect of the exculpatory clause in the Discretionary Account Agreement.  Before this court Wolf argues that the exculpatory clause contained in the Discretionary Account Agreement is void as against public policy and that the case should, therefore, be remanded for a determination of the existence of simple negligence on the part of Ford or Legg Mason.

The Reasoning for the Holding

In the absence of legislation to the contrary, exculpatory clauses are generally valid, and the public policy of freedom to contract is best served by enforcing provisions of the clause.  There is nothing to keep the parties from contracting as they see fit.  There are 3 exceptions under which the public interest will not permit an exculpatory clause in a contract: a party is not permitted to excuse its liability for intentional harms or for the more extreme forms of negligence such as reckless, wanton, or gross; the contract cannot be the product of grossly unequal bargaining power; and public policy will not permit exculpatory agreements in transactions of a public service obligations such as public utilities, common carriers, innkeepers, and public warehousemen.  There is a six factor test to determine which exculpatory tests affect the public interest and which do not (the Tunkl Test).  We expressly decline to adopt the six factor test set forth in Tunkl.  The ultimate determination of what constitutes the public interest must be made considering the totality of the circumstances of any given case against the backdrop of current societal expectations.

Turning to the present case, we perceive no reason why the exculpatory clause not be enforced.  None of the three exceptions to the general rule permitting exculpatory clauses in applicable here.  We will not invalidate a private contract on grounds of public policy unless the clause is patently offensive.  The clause does not meet that test.  Individuals who choose freely to invest their money in the stock market understand that there is some risk involved; such is the nature of the securities industry.  If the parties to a contract determine that one party will bear the burden of the other party’s simple negligence, they are entitled to do just that.  Thus, the allocation of risk of negligence between parties to a private contract is not patently offensive; rather it is part and parcel of the freedom to contract in private matters.

The Procedural Result
Judgement affirmed with costs.

Murphy v. Steeplechase Amusement Co., Inc.

250 N.Y. 479, N.Y. 173 (1929)

“The Classic Assumption of Risk Case”
The Facts

The defendant, Steeplechase Amusement Co., maintians an amusement park at Coney Island, N.Y.  One of the supposed attractions is known a “the Flopper.”  It is a moving belt, running upward on an inclined plane, on which passengers sit or stand.  Many of them are unable to keep their feet because of the movement of the belt, and are thrown backward or aside.  The belt runs in a groove, with padded walls on either side to a height of 4 feet, and with padded flooring beyond the walls at the same angle as the belt.  An electric motor, driven by current furnished by the Brooklyn Edison Company, supplies the needed power.  Plaintiff, a vigorous young man, visited the park with his friends, observed the ride, and decided to try it.  When he stepped onto the ride he says he felt a sudden jerk and he was thrown to the floor, as were his friends.  He suffered a fractured knee cap.

The Procedural History

Plaintiff states in his complaint that the belt was dangerous to life and limb, in that it stopped and started violently and suddenly and was not properly equipped to prevent injuries to persons who who were using it without knowledge of its dangers, and in a bill of particulars he adds that it was operated at a fast and dangerous rate of speed and was not supplied with a proper railing, guard, or other device to present a fall therefrom.  No other negligence is charged

The Holding 

We see no adequate basis for finding tha the belt was out of order.

The Reasoning for the Holding
There would have no point to the whole thing, no adventure about it, if the risk had not been there.  The very name, above the gate, ‘the Flopper,’ was warning to the timid.  Plaintiff cannot help himself to a verdict in such circumstances by the addition of the facile comment that it threw him with a jerk.  The jerk, if it were established, would add little to the case.  Whether the movement of the belt was  uniform or irregular, the risk at greatest was a fall.  This was the very hazard that was invited and foreseen.  One who takes part in a sport accepts the dangers that inhere in it so far as they are obvious and necessary, similar to a fencer.  “The timorous may stay at home.”  A different case there would also be if the accidents had been so many as to show that the game in its inherent nature was too dangerous to be continued without a change.  None of the injured, who had visited the nurse over itme, had been badly injured or had suffered broken bones.  One might as well say that a skating rink should be abandoned because skaters sometimes fall.

The Procedural Result

The case went to the jury upon the theory that negligence was dependent upon a sharp and sudden jerk (not on defect of the equipment or padding).  The judgement of the Appellate Division and that of the Trial Term should be reversed, and a new trial gratned, with costs to abide the event.

Knight v. Jewett

3 Cal.4th 296, 834 P.2d 696, 11 Cal. Rptr.2d 2 (1992)

“Blending Assumption of Risk and Comparative Negligence Doctrines”
The Facts

On January 25, 1987, the day of the 1987 Super Bowl football game, plaintiff Kendra Knight and defendant Michael Jewett, together with a number of other social acquaintances, attended a Super Bowl party at the home of a mutual friend.  During half time of the Super Bowl, several guests decided to play an informal game of touch football on an adjoining dirt lot, using a “peewee” football.  Each team had four or five players and included both men and women; plaintiff and defendant were on opposing teams.  No rules were explicitly discussed before the game.  Five to ten minutes into the game defendant ran into plaintiff and she warned him not to play rough or she would have to quit.  She thought the defendant seemed to acknowledge her comment.  Defendant testified that plaintiff told him to be careful. On the very next play plaintiff sustained the injuries that gave rise to the present lawsuit.  Defendant stepped on plaintiff’s right hand, injuring her hand and little finger.  After three operations failed to restore the movement of her little finger or to relive the ongoing pain of the injury, plaintiff’s finger was amputated. 

Procedural History

Plaintiff then instituted the present proceeding, seeking damages from the defendant on theories of negligence and assault and battery.  Defendant moved for summary judgement maintaining that “reasonable implied assumption of risk” continues to operate as a complete defense.  Plaintiff argued that the doctrine of “reasonable implied assumption of risk” had been eliminated by the adoption of comparative fault principles, and thus the basis premise of defendant’s summary judgement was untenable and plaintiff was entitled to have the lawsuit proceed under comparative fault principles.  Plaintiff vigorously disputed defendant’s claim that, by participating in the game in question, she impliedly had agreed to reduce the duty of care, owed to her by defendant, to only a duty to avoid reckless or intentionally harmful conduct.  The factual dispute on her warning to defendant was offered to support her claim.  Plaintiff maintained that her statement during the game established that a disputed factual issue existed as to whether she voluntarily had chosen to assume the risks of the type of conduct allegedly engaged in by the defendant.  After considering the parties’ submissions, the trial court granted defendant’s motion for summary judgement.

The Issue

Determining when carelsee conduct of another properly should be considered an “inherent risk” of the sport that (as a matter of law) is assumed by the injured plaintiff.

The Holding

Accordingly, we conclude that a participant in an active sport breaches a legal duty of care to other participants (engages in conduct that properly may subject him to financial liability) only if the participant intentionally injures another player or engages in conduct that is so reckless as to be totally outside the range of the ordinary activity in the sport.  As applied  to the present case, the foregoing legal principle clearly supports the trial court’s entry of summary judgement in favor of the defendant.  The conduct alleged in the declarations is not even closely comparable to the kind of conduct – conduct so reckless as to be totally outside the range of the ordinary activity involved in the sport – that is prerequisite to the imposition of legal liability upon a participant in such a sport.  Therefore, we conclude that defendant’s conduct in the course of the touch football game did not breach any legal duty owed to the plaintiff.  Accordingly,  this case falls within the primary assumption of risk doctrine, and thus the trial court properly granted summary judgement in favor of the defendant, comparative fault principles do not come into play. 

The Reasoning for the Holding

Our resolution of this issue turns on whether, in light of the nature of the sporting activity in which defendant and plaintiff were engaged, defendant’s conduct breached a legal duty of care to plaintiff.  The nature of the sport is highly relevant in defining the duty of care owed by the particular defendant.  A baseball player cannot recover if hi or she is hit and injured by a carelessly thrown ball and a basketball player cannot recover from injuries resulting from a carelessly extended elbow.

In cases involving “primary assumption of risk” where by virtue of the nature of the activity and the parties’ relationship to the activity, the defendant owes no legal duty to protect the plaintiff from the particular risk of harm that caused the injury, the doctrine continues to operate as a complete bar to the plaintiff’s recovery.  In cases involving “secondary assumption of risk” where the defendant does owe a duty of acre to the plaintiff but the plaintiff proceed to encounter a known risk imposed by the defendant’s breach of duty, the doctrine is merged into the comparative fault scheme, and the trier of fact, in apportioning the loss resulting from the injury, may consider the relative responsibilty of the parties.

The Procedural Result

The judgement of the Court of Appeal, upholding the summary judgement entered by the trial court is affirmed.

The Dissent

I disagree with the plurality opinion bith in tis decision to affirm summary judgment for defendant and in its analytic approach to the defense of assumption of risk.  By transforming an affirmative defense into an element of the plaintiff’s negligence action, the plurality would abolish the defense without acknowledging it is doing so.  The defense of implied assumption of risk is never based on the “reasonableness” of the plaintiff’s conduct, as such, but rather on a recognition that a person generally should be required to accept responsibility for the normal consequences of a freely chosen course of action.  The plurality works a sleight of ahd switch on the assumption of risk defense.  Evidence presented did not conclusively establish that the plaintiff had consented to the kind of rough play engaged in by defendant and that the trial court should have denied the defendant’s motion.

